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summary under the Criteria, Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe, Final Determination 

INTRODUCTION 

Administrative History 

The Golden Hill Paugusset Tribe (GHP) submitted a letter of intent 
to petition for Federal acknowledgment on April 13, 1982. On 
April 12, 1993, the group submitted a documented petition. The 
Bureau of I~dian Affairs (BrA) made a formal technical assistance 
(TA) review of this documented petition, and on August 26, 1993, 
the Agency sent the first obvious deficiency (aD) letter to the 
petitioner. The petitioner responded to this first OD letter on 
April I, 1994. The BIA then provided the petitioner a second TA 
review, undE~r the revised regulations at 25 CFR Part 83, which 
became effective March 28, 1994. Both TA letters addressed the 
problem of the claimed descent of the petitioning group from one 
person, William Sherman, instead of descent from a historical 
tribe. 

On November la, 1994, the GHP responded to the second TA letter by 
providing additional documentation and instructed the BIA to place 
the petition on active consideration. On November 21, 1994, the 
BIA placed the GHP on the "Ready, Waiting for Active Consideration" 
List and in.::ormed the petitioner that preparatory genealogical 
'processing w'Juld begin. During this stage of the procedure, the 
BIA decided to process the GHP petition under §83; 10 (e), the 
section in the 1994 revised regulations which describes the 
expedited process for issuing negative proposed findings under 
criteria 83.7 (e) I (f), or (g) (see below for a more detailed 
explanation). The decision to follow this procedure was based on 
the fact tha~ little or no evidence was available to demonstrate 
that the group met criterion 83.7(e). 

A notice of the Proposed Finding to decline to acknowledge the GHP 
was publishej in the FEDERAL REGISTER on June 8, 1995 (60 FR 
30430), pursuant to 25 CFR 83.10(e) of the revised Federal 
acknowledgment regulations, which became effective March 28, 1994. 
The 180-day comment period closed December 5, 1995. The GHP 
submitted its response to the Proposed Finding in a timely fashion. 
The BIA recE~ived a number of letters during the l80-day comment 
period, which either supported or rebutted the Proposed Finding. 
After the close of the l80-day comment period, the GHP was accorded 
a period of 60 days under the regulations to respond to the third­
party comments, and did so in a timely fashion. 

This Final Determination is made after a review of all of the 
documents submitted with the GHP's original documented petition, 
the GHP's responses to the two OD/TA letters, submissions and 
comments by inU~rested parties submitted both before publication of 
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the Proposed Finding and in response to the Proposed Finding, the 
GHP's response to the Proposed Finding, and the GHP's response to 
third-party comments. Third-party comments that included 
substantive d·:)cumentation were given more consideration in the 
Final Determi~ation than the undocumented comments. BIA staff also 
performed additional research in preparing the Fiq.al Determination. 

Bases for the Final Determination 

. Purpose of thE! Federal'-acknowledgment regulations. The purpose of 
the Federal acknowledgment regulations is "to establish a 
departmental procedure and policy for acknowledging that certain 
American Indian groups exist as tribes" (25 CFR 83.2). 

On February 2S, 1994, the present Federal acknowledgment 
regulations WE!J::"E~ published in the FEDERAL REGISTER (59 FEDERAL 
REGISTER 9280-3300 (1994)), The 1994 regulations revised the prior 
regulations w:r..ich became effective in 1978 (43 FEDERAL REGISTER 
39319-39560 (1978)), but did not alter either the basic purpose of 
the acknowledsrmE:nt procedure or the standard of continuity of 
tribal existenc~. The revised regulations in some circumstances 
reduced the burden of proof on petitioners, 

Procedures fox' h.mdling expedited negative proposed findings under 
25 CFR 83.10(el. One of the purposes of the revised regulations, 
which became t~ffective on March 28, 1994, was to clarify the 
application of the seven mandatory criteria (83.7(a)-(g)). In the 
16 years that the ac~nowledgment process had operated, certain 
types of evidenCE:! had been found tc;> be more effective than others. 
The changes in the regulations were not intended to alter the 
outcome of cases. Those groups which would have been acknowledged 
under the previous regulations would be acknowledgable under the 
revised regulations. Those which would not have been acknowledged 
under the previous regulations would be denied under the revised 
regulations. 

A maj or COnCE!:rn of Congress, the Department of the Interior 
(Department), smd petitioners had been the length of time it took 
petitioners to complete the acknowledgment process under the 1978 
regulations. The revised regulations include section 83.10 (e) , 
which describE~S: an expedited process under criteria 83.7 (e) ; 
83.7(f), or 83,7(g). The GHP Proposed Finding was issued under 
83.10(e), utilizing the expedited process under criterion 83.7(e). 

Criterion 83.7(e) concerns descent from a historical Indian tribe, 
or from tribes which have amalgamated and functioned as a single 
unit. Descent from an Indian tribe is determined through a 
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standard mf~thodology based on a well-defined set of genealogical 
facts. The BIA undertakes the genealogical evaluation early in the 
Government's review process. Therefore, the Department revised the 
regulations to provide an "expedited" review of certain petitions 
on the basis of criterion 83.7(e). By pr6viding for an "expedited" 
Proposed Finding under criterion 83.7(e}, the BIA would avoid time­
consuming research under the other six mandatory criteria on 
petitioners: unable to document North American Indian tribal 
ancestry within the meaning of the 25 CFR Part 83 regulations. 

The proces~: for issuing an lIexpedited II Proposed Finding received 
broad publ.ic input before it became part of the current 
regulations In 1993, the draft revised regulations were 
circulated:o more than I, 000 individuals and organizations for 
review. ThE~ BIA's response to public comments on the proposed 
revised regulations included discussion of this provision: 

Comment:oJ:"s generally approved the addition of this 
section" which provides for a limited, speedy review of 
petitions which cannot, upon examination, meet the 
requirements of certain acknowledgment criteria. The 
primary' concern was whether sufficient review and due 
process would be accorded (59 FEDERAL REGISTER 38:9290 
(1994) . 

In the response to comments on the revised regulations publ ished in 
the FEDERAl. REGISTER on February 25, 1994, the BIA made the 
following statement concerning expedited negative Proposed 
Findings: 

This limited evaluation will only occur after the 
petitioner has had the opportunity to respond to the 
technical assistance review (59 FEDERAL REGISTER 38:9290 
(1994». 

The BIA also explained the level of proof required: 

The section requires clear evidence, apparent on a 
prelimi~ary review, that one of the three named criteria 
are not: met (59 FEDERAL REGISTER 38:9290 (1994». 

Expedited decisions may only be done after the petition is complete 
and before the petition has been placed on active consideration. 
In the regula1:ions themselves, the time frame and the requirements 
for issuing an expedited Proposed Finding is clearly delineated: 

(e) Prior 
Secretary 
documentl:=d 

to active consideration, the Assistant 
shall investigate any petitioner whose 
petition and response to the technical 
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assistance review letter indicate that there is little or 
no evidence that establishes that the group can meet the 
mandato::-y criteria in paragraphs (e), (f) or (g) of §83. 7 
(83.10(e). 

An expedited finding is undertaken in cases where there is little 
or no evide~ce that the group can meet one of the three criteria 
listed. The standard under which the proposed finding is made is 
stated as follows: 

83.l0(e) (1) If this review finds that the evidence 
clearly establishes that the group does not meet the 
mandatory criteria in paragraphs (e), (f) or (g) of 
§83.7, a full consideration of the documented petition 
under all seven of the mandatory criteria will not be 
undertaken pursuant to paragraph (a) of this section. 
Rather, the Assistant Secretary shall instead decline to 
acknowledge that the petitioner is an Indian tribe and 
publish a Proposed Finding to that effect in the FEDERAL 
REGISTER. The periods for receipt of coMments on the 
Proposed Finding from petitioners, interested parties and 
informed parties, for consideration of comments received, 
and for publication of a final determination regarding 
the petitioner's status shall follow the timetables 
established in paragraphs (h) through (1) of this section 
(83.l0(e) (1». 

In the present case, the Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs (AS­
IA) concluded after review of the GHP petition materials, including 
the original GHP documented petition and the GHP responses to the 
two TA letter!3, that there was little or no evidence that the GHP 
met criterion 83.7 (e) . The AS-IA therefore made the Proposed 
Finding in accord with the requirements of 83.10 (e), which requires 
a conclusion that the petitioner clearly does not meet the 
requirements of one of the listed criteria, 83.7(e), 83.7(f), or 
83.7 (g) . To make an expedited negative Proposed Finding under 
83.10 (e), the burden of proof is on the Government to clearly 
establish that the petitioner does not meet the mandatory criterion 
used as a basis, in this instance, criterion 83.7(e). 

In the Proposed Finding, the AS-IA concluded that the GHP clearly 
did not meet criterion 83.7 (e) . This met the burden of proof 
required of t~e Government for issuing a Proposed Finding under 
83.10(e) . 

After the AS -. IA issues a Proposed Finding, the burden of proof 
shift's to the petitioner to rebut the conclusions prior to issuance 
of the Final Determination. The standard of proof for rebuttal is 
a lesser one, the "reasonable likelihood of the validity of the 
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facts II -standard described in section 83.6, the standard which 
petitioners must meet in all acknowledgment determinations. If, in 
the respom::e to the Proposed Finding, the petitioner provides 
sufficient E~vidence that it meets criterion 83.7 (e) under the 
"reasonable likelihood of the validity of the ~acts" standard, the 
B;IA will u.ndertake a review of the petition under all seven 
mandatory criteria. If, in the response to the Proposed Finding, 
the petitioner does not provide sufficient evidence that it meets 
criterion 83.7(e) under the "reasonable likelihood of the validity 
of the factsUstandard the AS-IA will i~sue the final determination 
based upon criterion 83.7(e) only. This Final Determination is 
issued base,:. on the finding that the GHP response did not show that 
the group met criterion 83.7(e) under the "reasonable likelihood of 
the validity of the facts" standard. 

Overview of the Proposed Finding 

The Proposed Finding proposed to deny Federal acknowledgment to the 
petitioner on the grounds that the GHP membership did not descend 
from a historic tribe, but from a single individual whose Indian 
ancestry had not been demonstrated. The Proposed Finding stated: 

In order to meet criterion 83.7(e), the petitioner must 
demonst rate Indian ancestry through descent from a 
histori :::al tribe, or from tribes which combined and 
functio::1ect as a single entity. When documenting descent 
from me:mbers of the historical tribe or tribes, the 
petitioner must show that: (1) the persons claimed as 
Indian ancestors were of Indian descent from a particular 
tribe; and (2) Indian descent [of the petitioning group 
as a whole] must be derived from more than one Indian 
person (60 FEDERAL REGISTER ;L10:30430 (1995». 

The Feck~ral acknowledgment ~rocess is not intended to 
recogni~:e single indivio.uals or single extended families 
of Indian descent, even if of Indian ancestry. Nor is it 
intended to recognize the descendants of single 
individuals or families, no matter how large a body of 
such descendants exi[s]t[s]. Criterion e is one of the 
criteria. w'hich is intended to insure continuous existence 
as a triba.l body. Descent from a single Indian ancestor 
does ncr: meet this requirement ·(60 FEDERAL REGISTER 
110:30430 (1995». 

The petitioner does not meet criterion e for the 
following reasons: (1) the petitioner's single common 
ancestor, William Sherman, has- not been documented 
conclusively to have Indian ancestry from the historic 
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Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe or from any other historic 
Indian 'tribe; and (2) even if William Sherman was shown 
to have Indian ancestry, from the historic Golden Hill 
Paugussett or from any other historic Indian tribe, the 
present. group would be descended from a single Indian 
individual. It, therefore, would not meet the 
requirements of criterion e, ~hich requires ancestry as 
a tribe, not simply Indian ancestry (60 FEDERAL REGISTER 
110:30430 (1995)). 

The Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe's petition for Federal 
acknowledgment claims that, "The Golden Hill Paugussett 
tribe has existed in the State of Connecticut since time 
immemorial, and has maintained its autonomy and unity as 
an Amel:-ican Indian tribe while interacting with non­
Indian;>opulations since the Colonial period" (60 FEDERAL 
REGISTER 110: 30430 (1995)). 

The Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe's petition for Federal 
acknowledgment also maintains that as long as a single 
Golden Hill Paugussett descendant. remains alive, the 
tribal entity continues to exist. This does not accord 
with the definition of tribal existence in 25 CFR Part 
83, and the underlying precedents in Federal law and 
judicial decisions (60 FEDERAL REGISTER 110:30430 
(1995) ;, . 

A subst:~ntial body of documentation was available on the 
petitioning group and their individual ancestors. This 
extensive evidence does not .demonstrate either ·the 
Paugussett Indian tribal ancestry claimed in the petition 
or other Indian tribal ancestry. Furthermore, had Indian 
ancestry had been documented, Indian descent would remain 
from on:_y one individual. One individual Indian ancestor 
does not qualify the group, for Federal recognition as an 
Indian Tribe. Based on this factual determination, we 
conclude that the Golden Hill Paugusse~t Tribe should not 
be granted Federal acknowledgment under 25 CFR part 83 
(60 FED:~RAL REGISTER 110: 30430 (1995)). 

Eetitioner's R~sponse and Third Party Comments 
on the Proposed Finding 

The negative Proposed Finding was published in the FEDERAL REGISTER 
on June 8, 1995. It stated in part: 

As provided by 25 CFR 83.10(e) (1) and 83.10(h) through 
83.10 (1:, any individual or organization wishing to 

6 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement GHP-V001-D006 Page 8 of 158 



summary under the Criteria, Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe, Final Determination 

challengE! the Proposed Finding may submit factual or 
legal ar~rLlments to rebut or support the evidence relied 
upon. This material must be submitted on or before 
December S, 1995 (60 FEDERAL REGISTER, 30430 (1995)). 

The petitione::: responded in a timely fashion. Interested and 
informed thir6 parties submitted both documented and undocumented 
comments. Th€~ most extensive comments which were intended to rebut 
the Proposed Finding were received from Mr. Wes Taukchiray and Mr. 
Roger Joslyn, The most extensive comments which supported the 
Proposed Finding were received from Connecticut Homeowners Held 
Hostage {CHHHl and the Attorney General, State of Connecticut. The 
GHP was accorded a period of 60 days under the regulations to 
respond to third-party comments, and did so in a timely fashion. 

Litigation 

The Golden Eill Paugusett Tribe of Indians sued the State of 
Connecticut in Federal district court in 1992 for land claims 
arising under the Indian Nonintercourse Act, 25 U.S.C. § 177. In 
the suit, thl: GHP requested the return to them of Paugussett tribal 
lands in Bridgeport, Connecticut, which they alleged had been sold 
by Connecticut without the consent or approval of the United States 
as required :":Jy the Act. 

The district court ruled in 1993 that the GHP did not have standing 
to bring a claim under the Indian Nonintercourse Act without a 
showing that it existed as a tribe. The court held that although 
Federal r€:cognition was not a prerequisite to bring a 
Nonintercour'sE~ claim, tribal existence was a prerequisite, and that 
the proper forum to determine tribal existence was the 
administrative process for acknowledgment under 25 CFR 83. The 
court declined to make a determination of tribal existence itself, 
stating that the interest in requiring exhaustion of the 
administrat.ive remedy afforded by the acknowledgment process was 
particularly strong, given the expe~tise of the Department and 
because the "multifaceted question of tribal recognition is best 
consider~d in terms of flexible fact-finding procedures of agencies 

. not limited by Article 111" {Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe of 
Indians v._t'eicker, 839 F. Supp. 130, 134 (D. Conn. 1993). 

On appeal, the Second Circuit remanded to the district court and 
directed it to stay GHP's action. The Second Circuit allowed the 
BIA 18 months (or until A~ril 28, 1996) in which to reach a 
decision on the tribal status of the GHP. After that date, the GHP 
can reapply to the district court for a ruling on the merits 
{Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe of Indians v. Weicker, 39 F.3d 51, 
60~61 (2ndCir. 1994). 
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AG 
AS-IA 
BAR 
BIA 
CHHH 
GHP 
OD 

TA 

, l List of Abbreviations and Acronyms 

Attorney General - State of connecticut 
Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs 
Bra:H:h of Acknowledgment and Research­
Bureau of Indian Affairs 
Corulecticut Homeowners. Held Hostage 
Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe 
Obvious Deficiency letter (under 1978 25 CFR Part 83 
requlations) 
Te~hnical Assistance letter (under 1994 25 CFR Part 83 
resrulations) 
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SUMMARY CONCLUSIONS UNDER CRITERION 83.7(e) 

83.7(0) The petitioner's membership consists 
of individuals who descend from a 
historical Indian tribe or from 
historical Indian tribes which 
combined and functioned as a single 
autonomous political entity. 

Introductic1ll. This final determination is based upon a new 
analysis of all the information in the record. This includes the 
information available for the Proposed Finding, the information 
submitted by the GHP in its response to the Proposed Finding, new 
evidence and documentation submitted by interested and informed 
parties d\.:.:::-ing the comment period, and new evidence and 
documentation collected by the BIA staff for evaluation purposes. 

The GHP claimed ~ncestry from the historic Paugusett tribe through 
a single ind.ividual, William Sherman, a common ancestor of the 
entire pres,:mt membership. The evidence submitted for their 
petition cor..c€~rning tribal ancestry focused on William Sherman's 
ancestry. For purposes of this determination, however, evidence 
has also bE~en examined to determine if the group's membership 
otherwise meets the requirements of criterion 83.7(e), of descent 
from a historic tribe. 

No new evidence submitted by the GHP or third parties or located by 
BIA researchers effectively rebutted the conclusions of the 
Proposed Finding. Specifically, no document was submitted or 
located for thl~ final determinatio'n that identified the parents of 
William She:rman, the person from whom all the present-day GHP 
membership d,=scends. No document was submitted or found for the 
Final Determjnation that provided sufficient evidence acceptable to 
the Secretary as specified in 25 CFR Part 83 that William Sherman 
was descendE~d from a historical Indian tribe. On the contrary, 
considerable documentation was submitted by third parties and 
located by BI.~. researchers which provided additional circumstantial 
evidence thec William Sherman did not live in tribal relations 
during his lifetime and was closely associated with demonstrably a 
non- Indian S}lf:!l::-man family. In brief I in, the Final Determination 
the AS-IA <;:oncludes that the GHP has not demonstrated that William 
Sherman was descended from a historical Indian tribe. 

In the Fina.l Determination, the AS-IA also reemphasizes the 
conclusion stated in the Proposed Finding that descent of a 
petitioning group from one individual who did not live in tribal 
relations does not meet the standard of tribal descent established 
under criterion 83.7(e) 
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Background history of the Paugusetts. The historical record 
clearly shows that from as early as 1658, the Connecticut courts 
were concerrtE~d that Stratford and Fairfield Plantations, . which 
included thE~ land that would become the towns of Trumbull and 
Bridgeport Clnd the Golden Hill Reservation, allow the Indians 
living in th·=ir cities sufficient land for their own subsistence. 
The Connecticut General Assembly in 1762 directed that 80 acres be 
set aside for the use and benefit of the Indians at Stratford. 
During the li3th century, some Indians continued to live on the 80 
acres, though many members of the tribe either moved to New York or 
to other Indian groups in Connecticut. 

In 1763, non-Indian settlers were occupying all but eight acres of 
the 80 acre ~ract. At that time, Sarah Shoran and Eunice Shoran 
Sherman "the surviving heirs of the aforesaid [Pequanock/ 
Paugussett] Indians to whom said lands were laid out" and Eunice 
Shoran Sherman's husband, Tom Sherman, and their children, were the 
only Indians remaining on the eight acres of land. As a result of 
Tom and Eunice Sherman's and Sarah Shoran's 1763 petition to regain 
the Indian land, in 1765 the family was given a place to live 
called Golden Hill. The colony of Connecticut appointed overseers 
to act as guardians of the Golden Hill Indians' affairs. 

Sarah Shoran na.:rried Elijah Wampey, a Brothertown Indian, and moved 
to Oneida, Ne\~ York. She did not appear in the Golden Hill records 
after about 1765. Eunice Shoran died before 1797. Her husband, 
Tom Sherman, whose tribal affiliation (if any) is unknown, died at 
Golden Hill in 1800 or 1801. In 1802, -- "the remainder of the 
tribe," four members of the Sherman family and a man named John 
Chops, petitioned the General Assembly, requesting that the land at 
Golden Hill be sold and the money be put in a fund for their 
benefit. The reservation lands were sold. Later state records no 
longer referred to a tribe at Golden Hill. Throughout the i800's, 
the funds from the sale of the land provided for the "heirs" of 
Sarah Shoran (who had moved to Oneida) and Eunice (Shoran) Sherman. 
The overseers' reports dealt with administering the money in the 
Indian fund, and not with issues concerning a tribe of Indians. 

There is no d()cWDentation of William Sherman's parentage or more 
remote ancest::I:'Y.· Using standard genealogical methodology and 
standards of evidence, the BIA found no evidence that documented a 
line of descen~ from the above Golden Hill Paugusset Sherman family 
to William Sherman, the claimed ancestor of the petitioner (GHP). 
The petitioner's claim to Golden Hill ancestry rests on three 
generations from Tom and Eunice (Shoran) Sherman to William 
Sherman. Within those three claimed generations, the two earliest 
connections WE~re documented, namely: (1) that Tom and Eunice 
(Shoran) Sherman had a son, Tom Sherman, Jr.; and (2) that Tom 
Sherman, Jr _ .t.ad a daughter, Ruby Sherman. The following three 
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connections were not documented: (1) that Ruby Sherman, daughter 
of Tom Sherman, Jr., was later known as both Ruby Mack and Ruby 

. Mansfield; (2) that Ruby Sherman [as Ruby Mack or' Ruby Mansfield] 
was the mother of Nancy Sharpe alias Pease; and (3) that Nancy 
Sharpe alias Pease was the mother of William Sherman, the only 
ancestor trt:::-ough whom the present-day GHP membership claims 
Paugussett descent. 

Documents produced in the 1840's clearly identified Ruby Mansfield 
and Nancy Sharpe alias Pease as Golden Hill Indians, so the 
question of, the precise genealogical tie of these two women to the 
earlier Shennan family was of secondary importance. It was of 
primary importance that none of the evidence submi t ted by the 
petitioner, submitted by interested and informed parties, 'or 
located by the BIA during the acknowledgment process, demonstrated 
that William Sherman (1825-1886) was a descendant of either Ruby 
Mansfield or of Nancy Sharpe, alias Pease. 

The AS-lA's conclusion in the Proposed Finding that William Sherman 
had not been shown to be of Pauguset t Indian' ancestry has been 
confirmed by the extensive evidence reviewed for the Final 
Determination. There was insufficient documentation to demonstrate 
who William Sherman's mother was. Thus, his maternal lineage 
remains undocumented. 

No original ·:.oGument identifies William Sherman as a son of Nancy 
Sharpe, alias Pease, whom the GHP petition claims as his mother. 
Nancy Sharpe., alias Pease was identified in records from the 1840' s 
as a Golden Hill woman. One local historian, Samuel Orcutt, 
attempted to trace Sherman's ancestry to the Golden Hill through 
her, but did not document his assertions. 

At the time the Proposed Finding was issued, the on'ly evidence 
which appearE!d to link William Sherman to Nancy Sharpe, alias 
Pease, appea:red in Sherman's diary/account book. In it, Sherman 
recorded that: in 1857 he was paid by the Golden Hill fund overseer 
to care for Henry Pease. Orcutt's history stated that Henry Pease 
was a nephew of William Sherman. The GHP Response claimed that 
this Henry Pease was a son of Nancy Sharpe, alias Pease, which 
would have maje him a half-brother rather than a nephew. 

No documentation was submitted for the Final Determination that 
verified the claimed relationship of Henry Pease to Nancy Sharpe, 
alias Pease. The Golden Hill fund overseer who made the payments 
to William Sherman on behalf of Henry Pease was simultaneously 
overseer of th,= poor for the township. There was no documentation 
that 'the 1857 payments were taken from the Golden Hill fund. The 
GHP Response referred to a Civil War pensioner named Henry Pease 
who served from Fairfield County, Connecticut. The pension record 

11 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement GHP-V001-D006 Page 13 of 158 



Summary under the Criteria, Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe, Final Determination 

pertained to a different Henry Pease. The GHP Response submitted 
nci verification that William' Sherman and Henry Pease were related. 

William She:"man's paternal lineage is unknown. There was no 
evidence concerning who his father, nor his earlier paternal 
ancestors, were. The petitioner does not claim that William 
Sherman was Indian, or Paugussett, through his father's family. 

Contemporary c1riginal documents do not consistently identify 
William SherIna.I1. as Indian. No document was found from 1825 through 
1869 which identified William Sherman as either Indian or. 
Paugussett. The documents examined in which William Sherman 
appeared befo:rE~ 1870 included the 1850 and 1860 Federal census 
records, his seaman's certificate, his marriage record, and the 
record of the births of his children. The 1850 and 1860 Federal 
censuses did :~ot identify him as Indian, nor did the other records 
examined. His seaman's certificate provided a physical description 
of him but di~ not identify his ethnicity. 

By all accounts William Sherman was born in New York in 1825. He 
apparently spent his youth as a sailor on whaling ships, and first 
appeared in n~cords relating to Trumbull, Connecticut, in 1857. 

William Sherrr~n never appeared as a beneficiary in the records of 
the administrator of the Golden Hill funds. He does not appear at 
all during thl:! period prior to 1876, when he borrowed money from 
the Golden Hill funds by mortgaging land he had purchased in 1875. 
His appearance in those records afterwards is as a borrower of 
funds, something which non- Indians commonly did to obtain money for 
investments. His later appear.ance in the records of the 
administrator of the Golden Hill fund after 1876 does not identify 
him as PaugusE!t:t nor provide any evidence that he was Paugusett. 

William's She:rDlan's identification as Paugusset was based on late, 
unreliable sec!()udary documents created near the end of his life. 
Although some later historical records identified William Sherman 
as a claimant to Golden Hill funds, these identifications appeared 
late in his life and were based on unreliable evidence. On the 
1870 census, Virilliam Sherman may have been identified as Indian but 
the entry is smudged. The other members of his household were 
identified as Indian in the 1870 census, ·including his wife, who 
has been doculT.E!nted to be non-Indian. Those of his children who 
reached adulthood and left his household during his lifetime were 
identified as non-Indian in census records. The 1880 census 
identified William Sherman as Indian. These census records are not 
sufficient in 'themselves to establish that William Sherman was 
Indian, in light of earlier evidence which did not indicate that he 
was Indian. In addition, they provide no evidence that he was a 
Paugusett. 
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Summary under the Criteria, Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe, Final Determination 

Two books published within William Sherman's lifetime identified 
William Sherman as a Golden Hill. One, by D. Hamilton Hurd, was 
published in 18B1. rhe other, by Samuel Orcutt, published in 1886, 
attempted to link Sherman's genealogy.to known Golden Hill 
descendants of the first half of the 19th century. A review of 
Orcutt's genealogical statements demonstrated that they contained 
internal contradictions and thus were not reliable. Orcutt did not 
cite references. Despite extensive effort by BrA researchers, the 
BIA was not able to locate any documentary sources upon which these 
two writers ~ight have based their assertions. There was little 
evidence that these writers had significant direct personal 
experience and acquaintanceship with William Sherman. 

The church record of William Sherman's death identified him as 
Golden Hill, It specifically referenced Orcutt's county history, 
published in the same year, as the source of its information. 
Additionally, Sherman's 1886 newspaper obituary identified him as 
a Paugussett. It also appears to have been based on secondary 
sources rather than on the personal knowledge of the recorder. 

It has not bE!en shown that William Sherman associated with known 
Paugussett d,!!scendants during his lifetime. The GHP, in its 
Response to the Proposed Finding, third party commenters, and BrA 
researchers attempted to identify known descendants of the 
Paugussett Indians in the 19th century. Although several were 
identified, none were documented to have been associates of Will{am 
Sherman. 

For the Final Determination, the BrA searched in records in the 
States of New York and Connecticut and found additional evidence 
concerning Hilliam Sherman's known associates. None were 
identified as Paugussett Indians. Conversely, there is no record 
that William Sherman associated with the known Paugusett 
descendants 1Ilho were his contemporaries, or with other identified 
Connecticut Indians, even though considerable information 
concerning \Vi lliam Sherman's social interactions is available. 
Thus his soc~al contacts provided no circumstantial evidence that 
he was of Paugusett or other tribal descent. 

One of the c31z'guments ,used by the GHP in the Response to the 
Proposed -Findi.ng was that in evaluating the historical tribal 
entity from which descent was to be traced, the BIA had incorrectly 
limited its examination to just the Connecticut records of the two 
Paugussett fa.milies that migrated to Golden Hill during the 18th 
century. The I~esearch for the Proposed Finding, and for this Final 
Determination, was not limited to the people who were called 
"remnants" of the Golden Hill. 

13 
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Summary under the Criteria, Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe, Final Determination 

The BIA did-extensive rel?earch for the Proposed Finding attempting 
to identifyttl(~, Paugussett Tribe, and whether it existed in the 
time period of W:Llliain Sherman's adult life '" Paugusett descendants 
were identifiE~d, but it was not established that a Paugusett tribe 
existed durin'3 William, Sherman's lifetime. No determination 
concerning tribal existence ,was required, however, because evidence 
indicated thal:, William Sherman did not, in 'any case, live in tribal 
relations. There was no record that William Sherman associated 
with the kno~1 Paugussett descendants who were his contemporaries. 

" . 
The GHP membel:lsl'lip does not descend from other Indians. The GHP 
descend from tt.110 of William Sherman's nine children. Neither 
William Sherman nor his children married Paugussett Indians or 
other Indians; therefore, the membership cannot establish tribal or 
Indian aricestl~{ through any other possible Indian, ancestors. 

Records revietolreCl. The regulations explicitly describe the types of 
evidence which are acceptable to the Secretary under 83.7(e). The 
types of record are listed in the regulations 'in order of their 
importance ' in' the weighing of the evidence for Federal 
acknowledgment. ' The acceptable evidence is not limited to the 
categories listE~d. The specified types of acceptable evidence that 
can be used for criterion 83.7(e) include: 

(i) RollEI prepared by the Secretary on a descendancy 
basis for purposes of distributing claims money, pro­
viding allotments, or other purposes-.-

(ii) State, Federal, or other official records or 
evidencE~' identifying present members or ancestors of 
present mE~mbers as being descendants of a historical 
tribe or tribes that combined and functioned as a. single 
autonoli!ous political entity. 

(iii) Ch.urch, school, and other similar enrollment 
records id.entifying present members as being descendants 
of a historical tribe or tribes that combined and 
functio:rJ.E~d as a single autonomous political entity. 

(ivtAffi.d.avits of recognition by tribal elders, leaders, 
or the tri.bal governing body identifying present members 
or ancestors of present members as being descendants of 
a histo:r ic:al tribe or tribes that combined and functioned 
as a si~~le autonomous political entity. 

(v) Other records or evidence identifying present members 
or ancentors of present members as being descendants of 
a historical tribe or tribes that combined and functioned, 
as a sin·gle autonomous political entity. 

14 
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'Summary under t.he Criteria, Golden Hill 'Paugussett Tribe, Final Determination 

For the P~oposed Finding and the Final Determinaion, BIA 
researchers searched the extensive records kept by Connecticut on 
the. State's Indians, and other Federal, State, and local records 
which might provide documentation per~aining to Indians in 
Connecticut. In the case of the GHP, the level of evidence under 
each of the .specified types of documentation listed in criterion 
8~.7(e) is as follows: 

(i) RoJ. 1 151 prepared by the Secretary on a descendancy 
basis fm:" pU;-PQV-es of distributing claims money, PrO­
viding alllotments,. or other purposes . 

. ": • or.:.; . .'. . 
The' Secretary never' prepared tribal rolls for the Golden Hill 
Paugussett. 

(ii) State, Federal, or other official records or 
evidenc:e identifying present members or ancestors of 
present: Dlembers as being descendants of a historical 
tribe CI:r tribes that combined and functioned as a single 
autonoD11::>US poli tical enti ty. 

The Federal and State governments had census and overseer reports. 
William She:::-rna.n was never listed on them as descended from an 
historic tribe. 

Pertinent Federal records existed primarily in the form of four 
decennial censuses, from 1850, 1860, 1870, and 1880. In 1850 and 
1860, he was identified as non-Indian. In 1870, his own 
identification was smudged on both the state and Federal copies of 
the census, but the other members of his household were identified 
as Indian. He was identified as Indian in 1880, the latest of the 
four Federal census reports. The Federal census records did not 
show tribal descent. 

There were many Indians of many kinds in Connecticut during the 
19th century. Connecticut records contain extensive documentation 
concerning many of the State's Indian tribes. William Sherman was 
never listed on an overseer's report as being descended from any 
tribe, only as having borrowed money, for which he provided 
collateral, from the fund established to benefit the Golden Hill 
remnants. 

Evidence pertaining to his obtaining a loan to purchase land by 
borrowing from Golden Hill funds was ambiguous in that similar 
mortgages frclrn the fund were also obtained by known non- Indian 
indi viduals. The original financial documents indicated that 
Sherman provided collateral for the loan, as did the known non­
Indian borrowers. 

15 
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Summary undeI- l~he Criteria, Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe, Final Determination 

No other Indian documents from the State of Connecticut ever 
mentioned w~lliam Sherman as an Indian of any kind. Other official 
State records, such as vital statistics, never identified William 
Sherman as a Golden Hill Paugussett, or as a Paugussett. On some 
records, such as those of his marriage and the births of some of 
his children, he was specifically identified as non-Indian. The 
data obtained from taxation and voting records indicated that he 
was not living in tribal relations. Records for William Sherman 
showed extensive participation in non-Indian society and status as 
a citizen, wtich Connecticut Indians usually did not have under the 
Statel'a-ws of the day. -William Sherman's own journa)-, although 
admittedly :_ncomplete, made no reference to his being' Indian or 
associating with Indians. 

(iii) Church, school, and other similar enrollment 
record,s identifying present members as being descendants 
of a hLstorical tribe or tribes that combined and 
functic:lr.lE!d as a single autonomous political entity. 

There were no contemporary church, school, or other enrollments 
that listed William Sherman as a member of or descendant of a 
tribe. The only church record submitted for William Sherman was 
that of his ~~ath in 1886. It identified him as a Golden Hill, but 
specifically referenced a secondary historical work, Orcutt's 1886 
county history, in making this identification. No school or other 
enrollment :records contemporary with William Sherman's lifetime 
were submitted for him or for his children. 

(iv) Af1:idavits of recognition by tribal elders, leaders, 
or the tribal governing body identifying present members 
or ance!l~tlors of present members as being descendants of 
a histoz'ic:al tribe or tribes that combined and functioned 
as a siIl~;r:le autonomous political entity. 

The GHP documentation concerning William Sherman contained no 
affidavits of other tribal leaders made during William Sherman's 
lifetime. No such document from any known Paugussett descendant 
dating to thE~ period of William Sherman's lifetime was submitted by 
the petitioner or third parties, or located by BIA researchers. 

(v) Oth~!r' records 0;- evidence identifying present members 
or ance.s t:c)rs of present members as being descendants of 
a histol:,ical tribe or tribes that combined and functioned 
as a sila~rl.e autonomous political entity. 

The least acceptable form of documentation, two county histories, 
described William Sherman as a remnant of the Golden Hill tribe, 
but provided internally inconsistent genealogical information. 
Neither of the county histories provided information concerning a 
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Summary under t.he Criteria, Golden Hill Pa·ugussett Tribe, Final Determination 

continuously existing Golden Hill Paugussett tribal entity of which 
he could hav,= been a member. 

Summary. ~lith no other contemporary documentation, the AS-IA 
concluded in the Proposed Finding that the two county histories, 
the least acceptable forms of genealogical documentation, coupled 
with two census returns that did not list any tribal origin, and a 
church death record that referred to one of the county histories, 
were not sLfficient evidence acceptable to the Secretary to 
establish t:::-ibal ancestry for William Sherman. When these 
documents were weighed in" combinat~on w·i th- all the other recot:!is: 
vital records, other census returns, and an absence of oversaer 
documentatio::l of Indian interaction or listing Of William Sherman,. 
the AS-IA cC>::lcluded in the Proposed Finding that there was little 
or no evidence to indicate tribal descent for the GHP. 

In the Proposed Finding, the AS-IA also concluded that the evidence 
clearly established that the GHP did not meet criterion 83.7(e) 
because the petitioner's present-day membership claimed Indian 
descent throug·h only one individual_ Under the 25 CFR Part 83 
regulations, descent through one Indian individual who did not live 
in tribal relations does not establish tribal ancestry for the 
petitioning group" 

This Final Determination has re-analyzed all available evidence 
from Connecticut colonial and state Indian records pertaining to 
Connecticut [ndians. The evidence confirmed the existence of the 
Golden Hill Paugussett tribe in the 18th Century. However, in the 
Response to th~= Proposed Finding, the GHP failed to document under 
the "reasonable likelihood of the validity of the facts" standard, 
using acceptable genealogical methods, that William Sherman, the 
soie ancestCl~ through whom the present-day GHP membership claims 
Golden Hill Paugussett descent, descended from a historic tribe, or 
from tribes that combined and functioned as a single autonomous 
political entity, within the meaning of criterion 83.7(e). Rather, 
additional rraterial received for the Final Determination provided 
circumstantial evidence that William Sherman was closely associated 
with a non--Indian Sherman family and did not live in tribal 
relations. ~~h~=r:efore, it was not necessary that the BIA undertake 
a review of the GHP petition under all seven mandatory criteria 
contained.in 25 CFR Part 83. 

Additionally, it remains the case that the present-day GHP 
membership claim Indian and Paugussett ancestry through a single 
individual, Virilliam Sherman. Even if William Sherman had been 
shown to be a Golden Hill Pa~gusett, descent of the present-day 
membership of the petitioning group as a whole through a single 
Indian indiv.idual who did not live in tribal relations during his 
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Summary under thE! Criteria, Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe. Final -Determination 

or her lifetime does not meet the requirements of criterion 83.7 (e) 
for trib~l descent. 

The- Golden Hill - Paugusett Tribe has not demonstrated that its 
membership is descended from a historic tribe, or tribes that 
combined and functioned as a single autonomous political" entity. 
Therefore, the Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe does not meet criterion 
83.7(e) . 
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summary under t.he Criteria, Golden: Hill Paugus~ett Tribe, Final Determination 
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K00360-96/35420 

DEPARTMENT OF' THE INTERIOR 

Bureau of Ind,ian Affairs 

Final Dete~lination Against Federal Acknowledgment of the Golden 
Hill PaugusEllett Tribe 

AGENCY: Bu~eau of Indian Affairs, Interior 

ACTION: Notice of Final Determination 

SUMMARY: This notice is published in accordance with authority 

delegated by the Secretary of the Interior to the Assistant 

Secretary-Indian Affairs (Assistant Secretary) .by 209 DM 8. 

Pursuant to 25 CFR 83.10(m), notice is hereby given that the 

Assistant Secretary declines to acknowledge that the Golden Hill 

Paugussett Tribe, P.O. Box 1645, Bridgeport, Connecticut 06601-

1645, exists as an Indian tribe within th~ meaning of Fede~al 

law. This notice is based on the determination that the group 

does not satisfy one of the criteria set forth in 25 CFR 83.7, 

namely: 83.7(e). 

DATES: This <h:!termination is final and is effective 90 days 

after publication in the FEDERAL REGISTER, pursuant to 25 

CFR 83.10(1) ({), unless a request for reconsideration is filed 

pursuant to 25 CFR 83.11. 

FOR FURTHER I~~ORMATION CONTACT: Holly Reckord, Chief, Branch of 

Acknowledgment and Research, (202) 208-3592. 

A notice of the Proposed Finding to decline to acknowledge 

the Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe (GHP) was published in the 
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FEDERAL REGISTER on June 8, 1995 (60 FR 30430, June 8, 1995), 

pursuant to 2S CFR 83.l0(e) of the revised Federal acknowledgment 

regulations, ~.hich became' effective March 28, 1994. Under 25 

CFR 83.l0(e), prior to active consideration the Assistant 

S~cretary shall investigate ,any petitioner whose documented 

petition arid response to the technical assistance review letter 

indicate that there is little or no evidence that establishes 

that the group can meet anyone of the mandatory criteria in 

paragraphs (e), (f), or (g) of §83. 7. 

The GHP received one obvious deficiepcy (OD) letter dated 

August 26, 1993, and a second technical assistance (TA) letter 

dated Octobe:::- 19, 1994. Both OD/TA letters addressed the issue 

of the undocumented parentage of William Sherman, the only 

ancestor thrrn~gh whom the petitioner claimed Golden Hill 

Paugussett ancestry. They also addressed'the problem posed under 

criterion 83.7(e) of the claimed Indian descent of the present­

day GHP membership through one person, William Sherman, rather 

than descent from a historical tribe. The GHP responded to both 

TA letters and on November 15, 1994, requested the petition be 

placed on active consideration. The GHP petition was not placed 

on active consideration, but on November 21, 1994, was added to 

the "ready" list of petitioners waiting to be placed on active 

consideration. 

The Assistant Secretary concluded after the responses to the 

TA letters that there was little or nO'evidence that the GHP met 
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criterion H3.?(e). Preliminary genealogical analysis by the BIA 

indicated t~at there was little or no evidence that the 

petitioner could establish descent from a historical tribe. 

Under 25 CF'R B3.l0(e), the Federal acknowledgment regulations 

call for issu<::mce of an expedited Proposed Finding by the 

Assistant Secretary when there is. little or no evidence that the 

petitioner can meet crite~ion 83.?(e). Expedited findings may 

only be done ~ifter the petition is complete and before the 

petition has been placed on active consideration. In the 

regulations themselves, the time frame and the requirements for 

issuing an expedited Proposed Finding are clearly delineated: 

(e) Prior to active consideration, the Assistant 

Secretary shall investigate any petitioner whose 

documented petition and response to the technical 

assistance review letter indicate that there is little 

or no eviden~e that establishes that the group can meet 

the mandatory criteria in paragraphs (el, (f) or (g) of 

S83.? (B3.lD(e». 

The standard under which the Proposed Finding is made is stated 

as follows: 

o· 

83.10 (e) (1) If this review finds that the evidence 

clearly establishes that the group does not meet the 

mandatory criteria in paragraphs (e), (f) or (g) of 

§83.7, a full~consideration of the documented petition 
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under all seven 6£ the mandatory criteria will not be 

undertaken pursuant to paragraph (a) of this section. 

Rather, the Assis~ant Secretary shall instead decline 

to aCkm)lilledge that the petitioner ~s an Indian tribe 

and publish a Proposed Finding to that effect in the 

FEDERAL REGISTER. The periods for receipt of comments 

on the. Proposed Finding from petitioners, interested 

parties and informed parties, for consideration of 

comments received, and for publication of a final 

determination regarding the petitioner's status shall 

follow the timetables established in paragraphs (h) 

through (l )of this section (83.10 (e) (1) ) . 

The Proposed Finding was issued in accord with 83.10(e), 

which requirE!:; a conclusion that the petitioner clearly does not 

meet the requ.ir.l:!ments of criterion 83.7 (e). To make a Proposed 

Finding under B3.10(e), the burden of proof is on the government 

to show that the petitioner clearly does not meet the .criterion. 

The Proposed Finding demonstrated that· the GHP clearly did not 

meet criterio~ 83.7(e), descent from a historical tribe, meeting 

the burden of proof required of the government for making a 

proposed finding under 83.10(e). 

Once a ProIJlosed Finding has been issued, however, the burden 

of proof shifts to the petitioner for rebuttal. The standard of 

proof which must be met in the petitioner's response to the 

Proposed Findi::1g is' a lesser one, the II reasonable likelihood of 
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'the validity of the facts" standard described in section 83.6, 

the same standard used for all acknowledgment determinations. 

If, in its response to the Proposed Finding, the petitioner can 

show that it meets the criterion unde~ which the expedited 

negative Proposed Finding was issued under the "reasonable 

likelihood of the validity of the facts" standard, then the BIA 

will undert3ke a review of the petition under all seven mandatory 

criteria before the Assistant Se~retary issues the Final 

Determination. The petitioner's response to the Proposed Finding 

did not establish under the "reasonable likelihood of the 

validity of the facts" standard that the GHP met criterion 

83.7(e). No new evidence was submitted or found which rebutted 

the conclusi~ns of the Proposed Finding. Therefore, the GHP 

response did not trigger a BIA e~aluation of the GHP petition 

under all s~~en mandatory criteria. 

The Associate Solicitor has responded to the petitioners 

concerning legal issues raised by their attorney about the 

acknowledgment process as it operated in this matter and to 

inquir.ies from the state of Connecticut pertaining to post-

comment period meetings between the petitioners and their 

attorney with him and with the A~sistant Secretary - Indian 

Affairs. 

This Final Determination i~ based upon a new analysis of all 

the information in the record. This. includes the information 

available for the Proposed Finding, the information submitted by 
v. 
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the petitioner in its response to the Proposed Finding, evidence 

and document~at:ion submitted by interested and informed parties 

during the comment period, the petitioner's response to the third 

party comme~ts, and new evidence and documentation collected by 

the BIA staff for evaluation purposes. None of the evidence 

submitted by the petitioner, submitted by interested parties~ or 

located by the BIA during the acknowledgment process demonstrated 

that William Sherman was of Paugussett or other Indian ancestry. 

The petitioner continued to claim ancestry from the historic 

Paugussett t:cibe through a single individual, William Sherman, a 

common ances1:or of the entire present membership. Extensive 

research by the petitioner, third parties, and the BIA has failed 

to document, using acceptable genealogical methods, that William 

Sherman was Paugussett or Indian. The evidence submitted in the 

GHP Response focussed on William Sherman's ancestry. No document 

was submitted or located for the Final Determination that 

identified the parents of William Sherman. No document was 

submitted or found for the Final Determination that provided 

sufficient evidence acceptable to the Secretary that William 

Sherman was descended from a historical Indian tribe. 

Considerable ~ircumstantial evidence was submitted and located to 

indicate that William Sherman did not live in tribal relations 

during his lifetime (ca.1825-1886). 

There was insufficient documentation to demonstrate who 
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William Sherman's mother was, and thus his maternal lineage 

remains undocumented. William Sherman's paternal lineage is 

unknown. There was no evidence concerning who his father was, 

nor his earlier ancestors on his father's side. The petitioner 

did not claim that William Sherman was Indian, or Paugussett, 

through his father's family. Ie was not documented that he was 

the descendant of either Ruby Mansfield or of Nancy Sharpe, alias 

Pease, who ',.;'ere identified in historical records as Golden Hill 

Paugussett Indians and whom the petitioner claims were the 

ancestors of William Sherman. 

By most accounts, William Sherman, the GHP ancestor, was 

born in New York in 1825. On Federal census records, his age 

varied somewhat. He apparently spent his youth as a sailor on 

whaling ships, and first appeared in records relating to 

Trumbull, Co::mecticut, in 1857. While documentation pertaining 

to William Sherman's ethnicity in Federal census records and 

state vital ~ecords was inconsistent, he was not identified as 

Indian until 1870 or later, nor were his children identified as 

Indian in records predating the 1870 Federal census. The 

documents do not indicate that he interacted with known 

Paugussett descetidants who lived elsewhere in Connecticut during 

the 19th century. Most accounts of his supposed Paugussett 

ancestry have depended upon internally inconsistent descriptions 

provided in books published by.two local historians, D. Hamilton 

Hurd in 1881 and Samuel Orcutt in 1886. 

'.~. 
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For purposes of ihis determination, evidence has also been 

examined to d,=l:ermine if the group's membership otherwise meets 

the requirements of criterion 83.7(e) of descent from a historic 

tribe. The· present-day membership of the GHP descends from two 

of William Sherman's nine children. Neither William Sherman nor 

his children married Paugussett Indians or othe! Indians; 

therefore, tr..e membership does not have Indian ancestry through 

any other possible Indian ancestors. 

A substantial body of documentation was available about the 

petitioning entity and its ancestors. None of the documentation 

demonstrated descent from the historic Paugussett tribe or from 

any other tribe for the GHP. The available documentation did not 

demonstrate any American Indian descent, regardless of tribal 

affiliation. Even if Paugussett or other Indian ancestry could 

be determined for William Sherman, descent through one person 

with Indian cmcestry does not meet the requirements of criterion 

83.7(e) for t=ibal descent. 

The Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe has not demonstrated that 

its membership is descended from a historic tribe, or tribes that 

combined and functioned as a single autonomous political entity. 

Therefore,-the Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe does not meet 

criterion 83.7(e). 

This determination is final and· will become effective 90 

days from the date of publication, unless a request for 
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"or. 

reconsideration is filed pursuant. to ~83.11. The petitioner or 

any .interested party may file a request for reconsideration of 

this determination with·the Interior Board of Appeals 

(§83 .11 (a) (1». The petitioner' s or inte~ested party's request 

must be reC'E~ived no later than 90 days after publication of the 

. Assistant SE~cretary' s determination in the FEDERAL REGISTER' 

( § 8 3 . 11 (a) (:n . 

Ada E. Deer . 
Assistant Secretary - Indian Affair~ 

Dated: ~~~/--.:...~_.-.....:..q-.:.~ ____ _ 
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TECHNICAL REPORT 

FINAL DETERMINATION 

GOLDEN BILL PAUGUSSETT TRIBE 

Purpolse of the Federal acknowledgment regulations. The 
pUrpOSE! of the Federal acknowledgment regulations is "to 
establish a departmental procedure and policy for acknowl­
edginq that certain American Indian groups exist as tribes" 
(25 CFR 83.2). The "Standards of Evidence" section of the 
regula.t.ions explains further that: 

The- purpose of the acknowledgment process is to 
acknowledge that a government-to-'government rela­
tionship exists between the United States and 
tribes which have existed since first contact with 
no.n-Indians (25 CFR Part 83, "Standards of Evi­
dence and Stringency of Requirements," 59 FEDERAL 
R8GISTER 9281 (1994)). 

In 1994, the revised Federal acknowledgment regulations, 
which jecame effective March 28, 1995, were published in the 
FEDERllL REGISTER (59 FEDERAL REGISTER 9280-9300 (1994». 
The renTised regulations did not alter either the basic 
pUrpOSlt~ of the acknowledgment procedure as stated in the 
1978 r(~gulations or the standard of continuity of tribal 
existemce. The revised regulations in some circumstances 
reducE!<i the burden of evidence on petitioners. In the 16 
years that the acknowledgment process had operated, certain 
types of evidence had been found to be more effective than 
others. . 

One of the purposes of the revised regulations was to 
clarify the application of the seven mandatory criteria 
(§83.7(a)-(g». The changes in the regulations were not 
intended to alter the outcome of cases. Those groups which 
would have been acknowledged under the 1978 regulations 
would hl= acknowledgeable under the revised regulations. 
Those Hhich would not have been acknowledged under the 1978 
regulations would be denied under the revised regulations. 

A major concern of Congress, the Department of the Interior 
(DepartrnEmt) I and petitioners had been the length of time it 
took pE!titioners to complete the acknowledgment process 
under t.hE~ 1978 regulations. The revised regulations include 
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sectio:r.. 83.10 (e), which describes an expedited process under 
criteria 83.7(e), that the group descends from a historic 
tribe; 83.7(f), that the membership does not consist princi-

_pally ct: members of an acknowledged tribe; or 83.7(g), that 
the petitioner has not been terminated or forbidden a 
Federal relationship, would receive an expedited negative 
determination (59 FEDERAL REGISTER 9297 (1994». 

Criterion. 83.7(e) concerns descent from a historical Indian 
tribe, en::' from tribes which have amalgamated and functioned 
as a sing,le unit. Descent from an Indian tribe is deter­
mined through a standard methodology based on a well-defined 
set of 3enealogical facts .. The BIA undertakes the genealog­
ical evaluation early in the Government's review process. 
Therefc>re, the Department revised the regulations to provide 
an "exp':dited" review of certain petitions on the basis of 
criterion 83.7(e). By providing·for.an "expedited" Proposed 
Finding under criterion 83.7(e), the BIA would avoid time­
consuming research under the other six mandatory criteria on 
petitioners unable to document North American Indian tribal 
ancestr~1 'within the meaning of ):he 25 CFR Part 83 regula­
tions. 

Evaluat~~on Procedure under 25 CFR Part 83. 

The Goldl:l:l Hill petitioner's (hereafter referred to as GHP) 
Proposed Finding was made under §83.10(e), the section in 
the revi.sed regulations which describes the expedited 

. process for criteria 83.7 (e), . (f), or (g), as follows: 

(e) Prior to active consideration, the Assistant 
SecrE~tary shall investigate any petitioner whose 
documented petition and response to the technical 
assistance review letter indicate that there is 
little or no evidence that establishes that the 
grcup can meet the mandatory criteria in para­
gr.3phs (e), (f) or (g) of §83.7 (83.10(e». 

83.10(e) (1) If this review finds that the 
evidence clearly establishes that the group 
does not meet the mandatory criteria in para­
graphs (e), (f) or (g) of §83.7, a full con­
sideration of the documented petition under 
all seve~ of the mandatory criteria will not 
be undertaken pursuant to paragraph (al of 
this section. Rather, the Assistant Secre­
tary shall instead decline.to acknowledge 
that the petitioner is an Indian tribe and 
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publish a Proposed Finding to that effect in 
the FEDERAL REGISTER. The periods for re­
ceipt of comments on the Proposed Finding 
from petitioners, interested parties and 
informed parties, for consideration of com­
ments received, and for publication of a 
final determination regarding the petition­
er's-~tatus shall follow-the ~imetables es­
tablished . in paragraphs· -(h) through (l) of 
this section (83.10 (e) (I}) . 

The BllV 13 response to public comments on the proposed 
revised regulation included discussions of this provision: 

COlmnenters generally approved the addition of this 
section, which provides for a limited, speedy 
re!v:Lew of petitions whichci=lnnot, upon examina­
tic)I1, meet the requirements of certain acknowledg­
mE!I1t criteria. The primary concern was whether 
sL.:.fficient review and due process would be accord­
el:. (59 FEDERAL REGISTER 9290 (1994». 

The response explained further of the level of proof re­
quired: 

The section requires clear evidence, apparent on a 
preliminary review, that one of the three'named 
c:riteria are not met (59 FEDERAL REGISTER 
92901 (1994». 

These expedited reviews would take place after the petition 
is co~)leted by the pe~itioner and before active consider-

, ation ,be:sins. The response to the public conunent on the 
proposE~d regulation states: 

This limited evaluation will' only occur after the 
pe!citioner has had the opportunity to respond to 
th: technical assistance review (59 FEDERAL REGIS­
TR~ 9290 (1994». 

Under §33.10 (e) (I), Ada E. Deer, the Assistant Secretary -
Indian Affairs (AS-IA) issued the Proposed Finding to 
declinE~ to acknowledge the Golqen Hill Paugussett Tribe as 
an Indian tribe on May 24, 1995. This Proposed Finding was 
made after two technical assistance (TA) letters had been 
sent to the GHP (BIA 8/23/93; BIA 10/19/94) and the GHP had 
requestE~d that the petition be placed on active consider­
ation (GHP 11/21/94). The Proposed Finding found that the 

.,,:. 3 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement GHP-V001-D006 Page 37 of 158 



" 

Technical Report -- Final Determina_tion -- Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe 

GHP mE!mbership did not descend from a historic tribe, but 
from a single individual whose Indian ancestry was not 
demonstrated. 

The proposed negative finding was published in the FEDERAL 
REGIS~~R on June 8, 1995. It stated in part: 

As provided by 25 CFR 83.10(e) (1) and 83.10(h) 
through 83.10(1), any individual or organization 
wishing to challenge the Proposed Finding may 
submit factual or legal arguments to rebut or 
support the evidence relied upon. This material 
must: be submitted on or before December 5, 1995 
(E:O FEDERAL REGISTER 30430, June 8, 1995). 

Introd'!,g~t:ion and Administrative History. 

The GHF first submitted a letter of intent to petition for 
Federal acknowledgment in 1982. An extensive and ongoing 
exchanqE! of information and advice took place between the 
GHP and Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) evaluators from the 
beginning' of the administrative process in 1982. 

The GHP submitted a documented petition on April 12, 1993. 
Since that time, BIA researchers have frequently been in 
contact with GHP members, leaders, and their researchers. 
The problems with their petition have been clearly stated to 
them on many occasions in person and in writing. The BIA 
made a formal technical assistance review of the documented 
petitio:1, and on August 26, 1993, sent the first obvious 
deficiE!l1cy ("OD") letter to the petitioner (BrA 1993). This 
letter l>1aS required by the acknowledgment regulations and 
allowed the petitioner to revise and augment the petition 
before it was evaluated on its merits. The purpose of the 
technical review and obvious deficiency letter in the 1978 
regulations was to prevent the possibility that a petitioner 
might receive a n~gative decision because of technicalities 
or failure to develop fully the available evidence. 

The 1993 GHP 00 (BIA 1993) letter clearly discussed the 
deficiencies of the petition as submitted in demonstrating 
that thE! 9rouP met criteria 83.7 (a), (b), and (c). Concern­
ing criterion 83.7(e), it referred specifically to the issue 
of deSCE!Ilt: from a historical tribe: 

Cri t:E~rion (e) requires that the membership of a 
petitioning group consist of individuals who can 
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show descent "from a tribe which existed histori­
cally" or from historical tribes which combined as 
a single entity. You need to provid~ evidence to 
E~stabliSh the lineal descent of William Sherman 
a.nd George Sherman from the historical Paugussett 
tribe. Ruby Mansfield Sharpe's descent from a 
sDecific tribe rather than from the grouping of 
rri}olden Hill Indians" needs clarification as well. 
(3IA 1993) . 

The pE!':itioner responded to this first "00" letter on 
April 1, 1994. The BIA then sent the GHP a second technical 

. assista.nce review (BrA 1994a) under the revised regulations 
which became effective March 28, 1994. This letter, like 
the fi::::-st OD letter (BTA 1993), listed many obvious problems 
the pE~tition had in documenting evidence for criteria 
83.7 (a.>, (b), and (c). In regard to criterion 83.7 (e), the 
TA lett,er spe'cifically pointed out that documentary evidence 
of Wil:~iam Sherman's parentage should be submitted if it was 
available: 

Criterion (e) requires that the membership of a 
petitioning group consist of individuals who can 
show descent "from a historical Indian tribe .. 

II The new data you submitted have answered many 
at: the BAR's questions about your genealogy. 
HmVE~ver, if you have documentary evidence identi­
fying the parents of William Sherman, the ancestor 
who provided the descendance for the entire group, 
WE! Emcourage you to submit it now (BrA 1994a) . 

By specifically requesting information on the parentage of 
William Sherman, the second TA letter (BIA 1994a) focussed 
the attention of the GHP petitioner and their researchers on 
Indian ancestry as a threshold requirement for meeting 
83.7(e). Descent from a historic tribe under 83.7(e) cannot 
be det'ermined without documentation of Indian ancestry. 

The second TA letter (BIA 1994a) included a statement which 
informlecl the GHP that a determination by the BIA that a 
petiticnE!r has submitted enough information for the BIA to 
make an E!valuation of the petition does not imply that 
either the evaluat~on or the decision would be positive: 

ThE! acknowledgment regulations provide a technical 
assistance review to ensure that a petitioner will 
be a.ble to present its best possible case and that 
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a pE~tition will be considered on its merits. This 
rt:vi.ew does not mean that the BAR has reached or 
will reach a positiv~ or negative conclusion on 
the~ Golden Hill Paugussett petition, or on the 
portions of the petition not discussed in this 
letter (BrA 1994a) . 

On Novenlber 10, 1994, the GHP instructed the BrA to place 
the petition on active consideration. On November 21, 1994, 
the BI1~ assigned the petitioner place number six on the 
"Ready, Waiting for Active Consideration" [emphasis added] 
list and informed the petitioner that genealogical work 
would begin (BIA 1994b) . 

As is normal practice in processing a petition, after the 
petition has been placed on the "ready" list, but before the 
petition has been placed on active consideration, the BIA 
genealogist begins to enter the genealogical data into a 
data baBf=. During this process of data entry, the g.enealo­
gist is often the first BrA researcher to discover that a 
particular case may have significant problems under criteri­
on 83.7 {e) • 

Expedited decisions may only be done at this stage, after 
the petition has been placed on the "ready" list and before 
active cOIlsideratioIl. The possibility of doing an expedited 
finding OIl single criterion was provided for in the revised 
regulatioIls, 25 CFR 83.l0(e). In 1993, the draft revised 
regulations were circulated to more than 1,000 individuals 
and organizations for review. To assure due process to 
petitionE!I"s, in the response to ~orrunents on the revised 
regulations published in the FEDERAL REGISTER on February 
25, 1994, the BIA wrote concerning expedited negatives: 

This limited evaluation will only occur after the 
petitioner has had the opportunity to respond to 
thE~ technical assistance review (59 FEDERAL REGIS­
TER 1994, 9290) 

In the l~=gulations themselves, the time for the expedited 
review is clearly delineated: 

(e) Prior to active consideration, the Assistant 
Secretary shall investigate any petitioner whose 
documented petition and response to the teChnical 
assistance review letter indicate that there is 
littli or no evidence that establishes that the 
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group can meet the mandatory criteria in para­
graphs (e), (f) or (g) of §83. 7 (25 CFR 83.10 (e)) 

The BlA had issued one expedited negative decision based on 
§83.10(e) before the GHP Proposed Finding. The.MOWA peti­
tioner received an expedited negative Proposed Finding 
January 5, 1995, ~ome six months before the GHP expedited 
decisi~n was published. 

Throusfh continuing technical assistance and availability of 
. the gO'iTernment' s researchers, the BlA provides due process 
to· petitioners in the period between issuance of a Proposed 
Findinq and issuance of a Final Determination. Since the 
~HP PDJposed Finding was issued on June 8, 1995, the peti­
tioner has had many opportunities to consult with BIA staff 
members and researchers. The BlA researcher and branch 
chief have held many discussions with the petitioner's 
members, researchers, and attorneys. The BIA's detailed 
technical report was provided to the petitioner and was also 
made available to the public. The petitioner has had full 
access to all of the BIA's genealogical and historical 
documentation and interview materials, and to all materials 
that have been submitted by third parties. This type of 
open communication and continual interchange is how the BlA 
normaliy works with petitioners. 

For the Proposed Finding, the BIA reviewed a substantial 
body of documentation. This included documentation submit­
ted as evidence by the petitionez:, documentation submitted 
by interested parties, and documentation located by the BIA 
researchers. The BlA clearly showed that the evidence did 
not support the petitioner's claims to Golden Hill Paugus­
sett Indian tribal ancestry, nor did nor was the evidence 
adequatE~ to document Indian ancestry for the petitioner 
within the meaning of the regulations. In demonstrating 
that tte petitioner clearly did not meet criterion 83.7(e) 
due to lack of evidence, the BIA met the burden of proof 
standard the regulation, required of the government when 
making expedited Proposed Findings under §83.10(e). 

Once a Proposed Finding has been issued under B3.10(e), the 
burden of proof shifts to the petitioner in responding. to 
the'Propbsed Finding. A lesser standard of proof is applied 
to the petitioner's response. The petitioner is only 
required to show it met the criterion under which the 
expedited Proposed Finding was issued, in this case criteri­
on 83.7(e); under the "reasonable likelihood of the validity 

. of the facts" standard. If the petitioner's response 
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demonstrates that the petitioner met the criterion under 
which the Proposed Finding was issued, in this instance 
criteiion 83.7(e), under the "reasonable likelihood of the 
validi:y of the facts" standard, the BIA woul~ then review 
the entire case under all seven mandatbry criteria before 
issuing a final determination. This procedure was statec 
clearly in the Yuchi expedited negative finding, which was 
based on the petitioner's not meeting criterion 83.7(f) 

In the event that the comments submitted de~on­
strate that the petitioner meets the requirements 
of criterion 83.7(f), the Assistant Secretary h~s 
the authority under sections 83.10 (1) (1) to 
conduct such additional research and request from 
the petitioner and interested parties ~uch infor­
mation as is necessary to supplement the record 
co~cerning the other criteria and evaluate the 
pecitioner under those criteria (BIA 1995b, 5; 
Yuchi Proposed Finding, Summary under the Crite­
ria) . 

The GHP Proposed Finding was based both on a lack of posi­
tive evidence that William Sherman was of Golden Hill 
Paugussett descent and on negative evidence that William 
Sh.erman had not been shown to descend from an American 
Indian tribe. 

This Final Determination represents_a new analysis of all 
the information in the record. This includes the informa­
tion available for the Proposed Finding plus the extensive 
information submitted by the petitioner in the GHP Response, 
the new evidence and docu~entation submitted as third party 
comments, the GHP Response to the third-party comments, and 
new evidence and documentation collected by the BIA staff 
for evaluation purposes. 

No new documents submitted or found rebutted the GHP Pro­
posed Finding. No document was submitted or found for the 
Final Determination that ideritified the parents of William 
Sheiman, the person from whom all the present-day GHP 
membersl:.ip descends. No material was submi t ted or found for 
the Final Determination that documents with evidence accept­
able to the Secretary that William Sherman descended from a 
historical American Indian tribe. New evidence substantiat­
ed the conclusion reached in the Proposed Finding that 
William Sherman did not live in tribal relations during his 
lifetime. 
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Evalucttion of Genealogical Evidence by the BIA. 

The BIA bases its findings under criterion 83.7 (·e) on 
evidence obtained through standard research methods in the 
discipline of genealogy: 

The standards used by the BIA to evaluate' evidence 
do not differ f~om tho~e universally accepted by 
91=nealogists. How [the] BAR researchers handle· 
91=nealogical evidence is clear from the precedents 
Sf=t in earlier BIA acknowledgment decisions. 
These precedents are not the product of one indi­
vidual, but of peer review of the evidence (Rama­
pou<:;Jh Final Determination 1995, 17). 

The BlA researchers aie aware that there may be periods of 
time OJ::- areas for which records are not extant. The regula­
tions clearly illustrate that in the absence of anyone 
particular type of record, others may be used. - Thus: 

CONCLUSIVE PROOF is not' possible in genealogical 
re~:SI~arch. It is impossible to "prove" ancestry to 
an absolute certainty . . Unfortunately, there 
are no witnesses to a birth present today to 
testify regarding a birth of a child born in 1800. 
In genealogy, since personal knowledge (except in 
ra:rE= instances) is lacking the rule is that ances­
try may be established by a preponderance or 
9r(~c:tter weight of the evidence. This term does 
not mean physical weight, such as ten books stat­
inH the same facts against one book which states a 
difJ:erent fact. It means quality, not quantity. 
FClJr example, the genealogical facts stated in a 
vcLlid last will and testament will be considered 
ve~ry reliable and, if the ten books disagreed, you 
would reject the ten printed volumes (Stevenson in 
Rt:.hincam 1980, 1:40). 

The BI.A. researchers attempt to ascertain the truth, even 
though their conclusions may be contrary to family or tribal 
tradition. This possibility that research may contradict 
tradition is not unique to research, on American Indians: 

It is natural for people to feel that a special 
sanctity inheres in the traditions of their own 
family. To doubt them is to doubt the veracity of 
their parents and grandparents . . Those who 
errploy genealogists, on the other hand, s~ould 

9 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement GHP-V001-D006 Page 43 of 158 



Technical Report Final Determination -- Golden Hill Pauguss·ett Tribe 

D~alize that their genealogist gets no pleasure 
out of destroying their traditions. He is em­
ployed to ascertain the truth, and it is his duty 
t.o report what the records reveal There­
fore, traditions must be sifted, and tested, and 
utilized as clues, but not accepted as true until 
vE~rified from contemporary documentary sources 
{,Jacobus in Rubincam, 1980, 1:16-17} . .. 

Many books on how to do genealogical research have been 
writtEm. Most contain information about the weighing of 
evidence. Rubincam's two volume text, Genealogical Re­
search: Methods and Sources (Rubincam 1980), categorized the 
acceptability of various genealogical sources. They are 
reproduced from his book by permission of the author. 
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,In compa.z::ison, the regulations in 25 'CFR part 83.7 (e) read: 

The: petitioner's membership consists of individu­
a'1s who descend from a historical Indian tribe or 
from historical Indian tribe or tribes which 
combined and functioned as a single autonomous 
political entity. 

(1) Evidence acceptable .to the Secretary which can 
bE~ used for this purpose includes 'but is not 
limited to: 

(i) Rolls prepared by the Secretary on a descen­
dc;t::1cy basis for purposes of distributing claims 
mO::1ey, providing allC?tments I or other purposes. 

(i1) State, Federal, or other' official records or 
evidence identifying present members or ancestors 
of present members as being descendants of a 
hi.:3torical tribe or tribes that combined and 
functioned as a single autonomous political enti­
ty. 

(iii) Church, school, and other similar enrollment 
re:cords identifying present members as being 
descendants of a historical tribe or tribes that 
comlbined and functioned as a single autonomous po­
litical entity. 

(i,,) Affidavits of recognition by tribal elders, 
leadl~rs, or the tribal governing body identifying 
presl:mt members' or ancestors of present members as 
being descendants ofa historical tribe or tribes 
that combined and' functioned as a single autono­
mous political entity. 

(v) Other records or evidence identifying present 
'membE:!rs or ancestors of present members as being 
descendants of a historical tribe or tribes that 
combined and functioned as a single autonomous po­
lit.ical entity. 

AcceptablE~ genealogical sources. as listed in Rubincam's 
manual mubincam 1980) are similar to the list of sources 
acceptabJ.e~ to the acknowledgment process. Evidence accept­
able for meeting the mandatory c'riterion 83.7 (e) is well 
within the bounds of, standard genealogical research . 

. ~. 
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The regulations do set standards for what is acceptable 
evidence that a criterion has been m~t, specifically stating 
that insuffieient evidence that a criterion has been met is 
grounds: for denial of Federal acknowledgment: 

A petitioner may be denied acknowledgment if the 
evidence available demonstrates that it does not 
mleE~t~ one or more of the criteria. A petitioner 
may also be denied if there is insufficient evi­
dence that it meets one or more of the criteria. 
A criterion shall'be considered met if the avail­
able evidence establishes a reasonable likelihood 
of the validity of the facts relating to that 
criteiion. Conclusive proof of the facts relating 
to a criterion shall not be required in order for 
the criterion to be considered met (§83.6(d)). 

Under §83.10(e), petitioners who provide "little or no 
evidence" that the group can meet the mandatory criterion 
83.7(e) are the petitioners who fail to provide a minimal 
level of evidence, using acceptable genealogical methods, to 
establish the present day membership's descent from a 
historic tribe. 

THE~ PETITIONER'S RESPONSE TO THE PROPOSED FINDING 

The Prcvosed Finding found "that the claims of the GHP 
petition to Indian tribal ancestry were not valid .. The 
documents did not supPQrt the claims" (GHP Proposed Finding, 
Summary under the Criteria, Introduction). 

The ArgumE~nts and Evidence in the Response to the BIA 
Proposed Finding (hereafter cited,as Response) were submit­
ted in two parts on December 5, 1995. The first part 
{Peti ti()nt~r I s response I PART I I LEGAL ANALYSIS} contained 
legal arguments and the second part contained both arguments 
and docc.rnents. 

Correspondence between the petitioner and the Associate 
Solicitor, Division of Indian Affairs, concerning these 
legal issues appears in Appendix C. In brief, none of the 
legal issues indicate that the BIA researchers or the 
Department failed in any way to afford the petitioner due 
process i.n.the Proposed Finding. There is no supportable 
l~gal basis upon which to issue a new Proposed Finding. 

12 
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Peti tiollc:?r' s response PART II. FACTUAL REFUTATION OF THE 
"BASIC CONCLUSIONS" AND "SPECIFIC EXAMPLES" OF THE BIA 
PROPOSED FINDING. 

The second P9rtion of th~ petitioner's-Response contained 
both argument~ and documents. In the Response, the peti­
tion~r detailed the ufollowing facts and evidence that 
William Sherman was an Indian~ (Response 1995b, 27~. Each' 
of the petitione~'s points will be followed by the BIA 
respon~:e .. 

Petitioner's Response, Part II.A: 

The petitioner stated in the Response to the Proposed Find­
ing: 

1. The BIA errone6usly concluded that William 
Sherman has not been nconcl~sively Documented" as 
a descendant of any historic Indian tribe (Re­
sponse 1995b, I),. 

The GHl? also alleged in the Response that "William Sherman 
is not the only historical ancestor claimed" (Response 
1995b, 11). 

The Degartment's response to Part II.A. 

As will be- seen from the point-bY-PQint discussion below, 
William Sherman has not been documented by a "reasonable 
likelihood of the validity of the facts" standard to be a 
descendant of any historic Indian tribe. 

All of the present-day members of the GHP descend from 
William Sherman. He 'is the only ancestor the GHP claims to 
be a Paugussett Indian. 

PetitioJ1er's Response Point II.A.I. 

OVI~rseer reports show that Torn Sherman, Jr. and 
Eu~ice Sherman were present at Golden Hill and 
were of the right ages (and names!) to be the 
children of Torn Sherman and Eunice Shoran Sherman. 
T:tll~ BlA has provided no evidence to overcome 
reasonable inference that Tom, Jr. and Eunice wer~ 
children of Torn and Eunice Shoran Sherman (Re­
sponse 1995b, 27). 

.~. 13 
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The De,~rtment's response to point II.A.l: 

There is no contradiction between the Proposed Finding and 
the GHP Response on this point. The Proposed Finding made 
no att1empt. to "overcome reasonable inference" on this point. 
The BV\. agreed that Tom Sherman, Jr. and Eunice Sherman were 
childr,en of Tom Sherman, Sr. and Eunice (Shoran) Sherman, as 
stated in the Proposed Finding on page 15. Nothing has 
changed this conclusion. 

Peti tic'Iler' s Response Point II.A. 2. The petitioner stated: 

The wife of Tom Sherman, Jr. is not named in any 
corroborating document (i.e., there is no marriage 
lic:emse), so we cannot prove her name was Sarah; 
however, we do know from Golden Hill overseer 
reports that Tom Sherman, Jr. had a wife and 
children (Response 1995b, 27). 

The DeRartment's response to point II.A.2: 

There is no contradiction between the Proposed Finding and 
the GHP Response on this point. The BIA agreed that Tom 
Sherman, Jr. had a wife and children, as stated in the 
Proposed Finding on page 30. Nothing has changed this 
conclusion. 

Petitior2er's Response Point II.A.3. ~The petitioner stated: 

The overseer reports from 1811 to 1839 and the 
1B23 census of Golden Hill confirm that a Ruby 
Sherman was a member of the Golden Hill Tribe, and 
was the right age to have been Tom Sherman, Jr.'s 
daughter; no birth certificates or baptismal 
rS80rds prove or disprove this relationship (Re­
sp~nse 1995b, 27). 

The De:p~:irtment's response to point II.A.3: 

There is no contradiction between the Proposed Finding and 
the GHP Response on this point. The BIA agreed that a Ruby 
Sherman was a member of the Golden Hill Tribe, and was the 
right Clge to have been Tom Sherman, Jr.'s daughter, as 
stated in the Proposed Finding on Fage 30. Nothing has 
changed this conclusion. 
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Petitioner's Response Point II.A.4: 

W'E~ know that Ruby Sherman was a Golden Hill Indian 
from the overseer reports and that she was vari­
ously known as Ruby Sherman, Ruby Mansfield, and 
Rub:i Mack (Response 1995b, 27). 

The DeI~!rtment's response to point II.A.4: 

The connent in the GHP Response is partially incorrect. It 
is truE~ that a Ruby Sherman, daughter of Tom Sherman, was 
listed on the Golden Hill overseer's report of 1823 (Pro­
posed Finding, '30). However, there is no evidence to show 
that Ruby Sherman, daughter of Tom Shermani was the same 
person as Ruby Mansfield or Ruby Mack .. Neither is there 
evidencf= to show that Ruby Mansfield and Ruby Mack were the 
same pE!:rson. Evidence was located which indicated that they 
were t ... ro sepa'rate individuals. . 

There is evidence that one Ruby was the daughter of Eunice 
Mack of Hoodbridge, Connecticut. A Ruby Mack died in 1841 
(see discussion of the Mack family in the section' on Orcutt, 
below) . 

The Ruby Mansfield who petitioned for a home in Bridgeport, 
Connect.:i.cut, in 1841,with a Nancy Sharpe, alias Pease, 
appears to have been a different person from the Ruby Mack 
who diE!ci the same year (see discussion under Nancy Sharpe, 
alias PE~ase). The use of an "alias" name form was common 
during this time period (Rubincam 1987, 40). However, the 
Ruby Mc,Ilsfield. who was listed on the 1841 petition for a 
horne in Bridgeport was not called "alias Mack or She'rman" as 
was her contemporary "Nancy Sharpe, alias Pease." 

The USE: of an alias may have several meanings. In his book, 
Pitfalls in Genealogical Research (Rubincam 1980), Milton 
Rubinca,m states: 

S(lme~times one finds an ancestor with two surnames 
separated by the word alias. .. Parish regis­
ters often used it [alias] to indicate illegitima­
cy, the putative father's name and the mother's 
su:~name, with "alias" in between. Sometimes it 
meant an inheritance--a man marrying an heiress 
and adding her name to hi s, . separated by "al ias . " 
In other cases a man whose wife o~ mother belonged 
tc a distinguished family might assume the addi­
tional name, again indicated by "alias" 
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(Ruloincam 1987, 40-41). 

In add~tion, the Ruby Mack who died in 1841 was identified 
as "Black(Indian) " on her death record, which did not 
indicat,= whether "Mack" was her maiden name or married name, 
or identify her parents (see discussion in PF). However, a 
Ruby Mansfield was listed as living with her husband, "a 
colored man," in 1848, seven years after Ruby Mack's death 
(Fairfield County, Connecticut, Court Files, 1858-1849). 
These documents provide clear evidence that Ruby Mansfield 
and Ruby Mack were not the same person. 

The pet.itioner did not submit substantive evidence that 
wouldt:.ndermine the conclusion in the Proposed Finding that 
Ruby St.E~rman, daughter of Tom Sherman, was not identified 
with Ruby.Mansfield or Ruby Mack. There is no evidence that 
the Ruby Sherman of the 1823 overseer's report was either of 
the persons known as Ruby Mack or Ruby Mansfield. 

PetitioI1E~r's Response Point II.A.S: The petitioner .stated: 

No birth records were kept in Poughkeepsie, the 
place of William Sherman's birth, before 1882 (see 
ApPE!ndix I) i death records were kept from 1866 in 
that New York town. No Connecticut law required 
that vital records be kept until 1852, though some 
towns kept them prior to this date. 'Thus, no 
birth records are likely to ex~st for any individ­
uals, including William Sherman, born prior to the 
mid to late 1800's (Response 1995b, 28) 

The Den~rtment's response to point II.A.5: 

Althou9h it is true that research has not located a birth 
record Eor William Sherman in Poughkeepsie, Dutchess County, 
New Yor:<, other records which may contain' information 
identifying b,irth, death, and marriage information do exist 
for Dut.chess County, New York. For example, the county 
clerk ~iS civil court records from 1847, and land records 
from 1718. The Surrogate Court has probate records (though 
no datE!:;) are listed for them) (Everton 1981, 205). 

BIA research found that the series of "Records of the Town 
of Poughk,eepsie, 1742-1854, Highways," contained some 
records of the Overseer of the Poor. Most of them were 
manumissions of slaves ,in New York. Some were births of the 
children of slaves. One Stephen Booth of Reading, Fairfield 
County, Connecticut, submitted a petition for the 
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manumission of his slave "according to the laws of New York," 
(Pouglikeepsie Town Records, Highways, 94). The slave had 
been h:Jrnin New York, and thus needed to be manumitted in 
New York. The Overseer of the Poor's records within this 
record series were supposed to continue until 1835, but the 
pages were cut cleanly as with a sharp object or scissors, 
from L:le first entry of 1826, concluding the entries per­
tainin'3' to the Overseer of the Poor's documents. Approxi­
mately 20 pages 'were missing. 1 The book is ip original 
form only, and may not be photocopied. It is'in the Greater 
Poughkeepsie Library District, Local History Room. There is 
no indl=x for the entries. ' 

Althouqh the GHP is correct in noting that Connecticut law 
did no1: require recording births and deaths until 1852, many 
of the: towns kept vital records from much earlier dates. 
For exa.mple, Bridgeport, the county seat of Fairfield 
County, has vital records from 1700 (Everton 1981, 143). 

Orcutt's The History of the Old Town of Stratford and the 
City c~~ Bridgeport. Connecticut (Orcutt 1886), a secondary 
source, is the only known record which purports to, state 
William Sherman's birth date and parentage. The accuracy 
and sources of Orcutt's history is discussed later (see 
discussion under Orcutt, pages 42-48). 

Peti ticmer' s Response Point II .A. 6: 

W:.l1iam Sherman's death regi'stry and obituary say 
he was Indian (Response 1995b, 28). 

The Depi:trtment' s response to point II.A. 6: 

It is correct that the death record on file at Trumbull, 
Connecticut (Trumbull Vital Records), and the obituary 
(Bridggport Standard May 19, 1886; see extensive discussion 
below) 13t:ated that William Sherman was an Indian, However, 
William Sherman's death record from the church records 

1 TIle edges of the paper were aged and were the same color and 
texture as the aged document. Since the century old documents were in 
original 'form only, a recent cut would have been of a different color 
than that of an older cut. 'Upon observation and discussion with the 
Poughkel=psie librarian, both the librarian and the BlA researcher con­
cluded that tbis particular record mutilation had probably been done 
over' 20 years ago, an~ would not be likely to be connected with the GHP 
petitioning process, 
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specifica.lly stated that the information on his background . 
had beEm drawn from Orcutt: 

May 18. William Sherman died, age - 61 years - He 
was from the Golden Hill tribe of Indians - See 
Orcutts [sic] - History of Stratford - page 43 
(Trumbull Connecticut (Formerly North Stratford) 
COIl9regationai Church Records, 1730-1931 [unpagi-

. nc.t:E~d], 1886.; photocopy of original in GHP Pet. 
Ex .. ). . 

\ . 
A registrar of vital records in a town generally received 
his information from informants available at the time of the 
event, such as a doctor, parent, spouse or .child. A death 
record~ or death registry, is not primary evidence of a 
deceden.t's date or pl~ce of birth or parentage. It is 
unclear that the regi~trar who recorded the civil record of 
WillialT. Sherman's death had any independent source. No 
informant was named. The registrar may have simply copied 
informati.on from Orcutt's or Hurd's books. He may have had 
personal knowledge of local gossip. 

William Sherman's obituary also said that he was Indian. 
Like dE:!ath records, obituaries are not primary evidence of 
the decedent's place or date of birth, or parentage. A 
discussion of the obituary is found on page 82 of this 
report. 

Petitioner's Response Point II.A.7: 

The 1880 Census of Trumbull identifies William 
Sherman as Indian, wife Nancy as Black, and 
Charles as Mulatto. The 1870 Census shows all of 
his children as Indian (Charles wasn't born yet). 
Th::mgh the written designation of William's race 
is illegible, the designations for his children 
sh::>w that they were Indians. The likelihood, 
therefore, is that the 1870 Census designated 
William as an Indian. This likelihood is further 
bolstered by the fact that Hurd likely obtained 
hi.s information from the overseers of the Tribe or 
from the 1880 Census i at least. in the Preface of 

. hi.::; history, he said that he used such primary 
da~a. The overseers, of course, had reason to be 
accurate about William Sherman's lineage, as they 
were bound by law to distribute Golden Hill funds 
only to blood descendants of Golden Hill tribal 
me!mbers (Response 1995b, 28). 
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The D~~artment's response to point II.A.7: 

Willia.11I1 Sherman's ethnic identity was reported differently 
during various periods of his lifetime. On the earliest 
census on which he has been located, he was listed "black" 
(U. S. Cemsus l8S0a); on the next census, he was "mulatto" 
(U. S. Census 1860***'); on yet a third census the information 
is obscured, but possibly reads "I" for Indian (U.S. Census 
l870a); while on a fourth he was identified as "Ind"· (U.S. 

:. • __ , I • • 

Census l880ar', All other records" except for the dea'1:·h 
record Blnd obituary, that were made during the lifetime of 
William Sherman or immediately thereafter, did not identify 
William Sherman as Indian. 

The rE~porting of William Sherman's ethnic identity changed 
about 1870. Late in tiis life, William was identified as 
Indian on four documents discussed in this report (1886 
church death record, 1886 obituary, the 1880 Federal census, 
and possibly the 1870 Federal Census). William Sherman's 
"color" was not legible on the 1870 census (U.S. Census 
l870a) because of an overwritten smudge. The 1870 Federal 
Census was the only document that listed his children as 
Indian. His other sons', Henry and William, who were no 
longer residing in his household, were listed as black on 
the same census (U.S. Census 1870a).2 Aside from the chil­
dren i~ his household in 1870, the only child of William 
ShermcL::l to be listed as an Indian during the 19th century 
was Hemry Sherman, on his 1876 death record (Trumbull Vital 
Record::;, 1877). 

Census returns are good secondary sources of information, 
but a:n:! only indicators for determining age, familial 
relationships, birthplaces and ethnicity. The census 

1870 Federal Census, Huntington, Fairfield County, 
Dwe-ll ins' #49, Family #46 
Buckingt:.clm, Chas 54, M, W, Farmer 5000/825 b. Conn. 

Mary 44, F, W, Keeping home b. Conn. 
Fanny 17, F, W, At home b. Conn. 

Sherman, Henry 12, M, B, Farm Laborer b. Conn. 

Dwellin';! #59, Family #56 
Buckingha.m, W, C. 50, M, W, Farmer 4200/1980 b. Conn. 

S,:tlrluel 89, M, W, None b. Conn. 
Almira 35, F, W, Keeping home /1100 b. Conn. 

Sherman, William 12, M, B, Farm help b. Conn. 

NOTE: The brothers were not twins, but were close in as/e. Ages 
recorded on census records were often approximate . 

.. ~. 
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enumerations were made by observations of the census taker 
or, by :3elf identification by the person being. enumerated. 
The CE!I1S'llS records were not consistent in identifying 
William Sherman and his children as Indian. In 1860 the 
family 'W.:iS listed as mulatto (U. S. "Census 1860). 

The 18130 .census listed the child with William Sherman as 
mulatto (U.S. Census 1880a). Most of William Sherman's 
other children, no longer residing in his household, were 
listed as black, with one listed as white, in the same 
census (U.S. Census 1880a).] None were listed as Indian. 

The petitioner's assumption that Hurd "likely obtairied his 
informcLl::Lon from overseers of the Tribe or from the 1880 
Census" (Response 1995b, 28) is inconsistent w1th the 
availability of the records. While Hurd may have had some 
acc'ess to the financial records of. the town, the 1880 
Federal census was legally not available to.him or other 
memberE: of the public until 1952, 72 years after. it was 
taken (j~lenty Censuses 1979, 4). Hurd's book was published 
in 1881 .. 

The petitioner's assumption that the overseers, "had reason 
to be accurate about William Sherman's lineage, as they were 
bound by law to distribute Golden Hill funds only to blood 
descendants of Golden Hill tribal members" (Response 1995b, 
28) is inaccurate; We have no overseer's reports concerning 
determinaltion of Paugussett lineage~for William Sherman. 
There is: no way to know, as the GHP asserts, that or if 
William Sherman was determined to be a "blood descendant of 
Golden Hill tribal members," by any Golden Hill overseer. 

1880 Federal Censu~, Bridgeport, Fairfield County, CT 
Dw~lling #150, Family #186 
Quonmer, Elijah F. W, M, 59 

Elizabeth W, F, 66, wife 
Lupton, Chas. S. W, M, 33, son-in-law 

Sarah.S. W, F, 28, daughter 
1I1a.ry C. W, F, 2, grandchild 

Sherman, Carrie B, F, 15, servant 

retired 
keeps house 
Mfgr 
at home 

Living with the Charles Peet family in Bridgeport: 
Huldah She!rtnan S, F, 13, servant 

Trumbull, Fairfield County, CT 
Dwelling #11, Family #12 
Edwards, Isreal w; M, 66 Farmer 

Delice W,F, 56, wife ke~ping house' 
Sherman, lYlary W, F, 11, servant housekeeper 
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The following analysis of his land transactions demonstrates 
that Golden Hill funds were not "distributed to" him, but 
loaned to him on a mortgage for which he provided collater­
al. 

williclln Sherman borrowed money from the Golden Hill fund and 
used his land as collateral. The original documents of this 
transaction do not cite Indian identity as the reason for 
his bo:rrowing the money from the fund: known non- Indians 
borrowl:d from it. To reiterate, William Sherman was not a 
recipient of a fund distribution. He borrowed the money as 
would any other person, Indian or non-Indian, from an Indian 
fund which the administrator was bound to protect, and to 
distribute should a need arise. 

Generally, the overseers in Connecticut distributed Indian 
funds to those eligible persons who would otherwise be a 
burden on the town in which they lived -- poor people. In 
many instances, overseers were Selectmen from the towns, who 
had the dual responsibility of Overseer of the Poor as well 
as Overseer of the Indians in their towns. City funds were 
used for other poor, while Indian funds were used for Indian 
poor. lNilliam Sherman was not destitute, and hence received 
no funds under this distribution system. 

Petitioner's Response Point II.A.B: 

Orcutt seems to have reviewed the census and 
le~:J:Lslati ve reports, interviewed overseers, and 
possibly even interviewed Sherman himself, since 
hE! did include William Sherman's picture. Signif­
icantly' William Sherman is treated by Orcutt as a 
prominent Indian, even though Sherman was a labor­
er, Orcutt speci'fically attributes much to Roland 
[§Li~~] Lacey, a Golden Hill overseer, whom O~cutt 
knE=~' personally. See Appendix N, Supplements 1 
and 8 (Response 1995b, 28). 

Appendix N, referred to in this quote, contained the title 
pages of Orcutt's 1886 book, with the Preface and the title 
page of D. Hamilton Hurd's 1881 book as well Hurd's biogra­
phy of Rowland B. Lacey. 

21 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement GHP-V001-D006 Page 55 of 158 



Technical Report -- Final Determination -- Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe 

Appendix N, Supplement 1 contained a memo prepared by Robert 
A. Schpero Esq. on June 6, 1995 to Chief Quiet Hawk, aka 
Aurelius Piper, Jr. 4 

Append:~x. N, Supplement 8 contained the biographical informa­
tion con.cerning Orcutt, his connections to Tomlinson and 
Lacey, ~nd his notes and letters copied from the Orcutt 
Papers in the Bridgeport Connecticut Public Library. 

The DeI~artment' s respor:tse to point I I . A. 8 : 

The petitioner's statements in Point 8 concerning Orcutt's 
methodology are not valid. As stated earlier, the 1880 
census 'olas not available to the public until 1952 i there­
fore, O~cutt could not legally have reviewed the census 
records. Neither did William Sherman have the "prominent 
Indian" status described b~ the petitioner on the basis of 
Orcutt (Orcutt 1886). Orcutt did not ascribe the term to 
William Sherman. 

Orcutt did not cite any legislative reports pertaining to 
William Sherman. There is no evidence that Orcutt inter­
viewed Vlilliam Sherman or others, including overseers, for 
his 1886 book. Instead, Orcutt relied on contiibutions from 
his many correspondents in compiling his history (Response 
1995b, Supplement 8). Orcutt did know Roland Lacey, who may, 
have beE!I1 an informant. It is probable that Orcutt read 
Hurd's 1882 book on Fairfield County, though he did not cite 
it. ThE~rE~ is evidence that he had read DeForest's 1851 book 
on the Indians of Connecticut (DeForest 1851) because he 
ci ted DE~F()rest. 

Robert' A. Schpero's memo to Aurelius Piper, Jr. detailed 
"some oE t:he major inaccuracies, misstatements and wrong 
conclusions" regarding William Sherman's life and origins 
(RespOn:3E~ 1995b, Exhibit I, 1). Schpero stated: 

ReVE!rend Samuel Orcutt 1824-1893 prolific histori­
an Clnd genealogist. Interviewed William Sherman 
and wrote about him and the Sherman genealogy 
(RE:!s:ponse 1995b, Exhibit I, 2). 

S'chpero d,id not submit any evidence confirming that Orcutt 
interview'ed Williatt\ Sherman or even knew him personally. 
Orcutt may, however, have surveyed Hurd's 1881 book (Hurd 

4 • This memorandum also appeared elsewhere, in Supplement 3. 
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1881), which had been published three years before Orcutt 
moved to Bridgeport in 1884, and five years before Orcutt 
published his Stratford and Bridgeport history in 1886 (see 
Orcutt discussion, pages 42-48 below) . 

Schpero also enclosed annotated genealogical charts that did 
not cite to any sources not already considered in the 
ProposE~d Finding. He used the materials submitted by Wes 
Taukchira.y (see Third Party Conunents, Taukchiray, pages 53-
58 below'), but did not submit any evidence to document the 
assumptions of ancestry. 

Schperol's points have been considered by the BrA in evalua­
tion of the evidence for the Final Determination. However, 
his cornmemts were completely undocumented and could not be 
verified by the available evidence. 

Peti tiOIJer' s Response Point II.A. 9: 

T:tw birth certificate of William Sherman, Jr. 
shows that his parents were William and Nancy 
Sharpe. This established a connection between 
William Sr., and the name Sharpe, that of his 
mether. BAR acknowledges that William Sr.'s 
association with his mother, Nancy's other chil­
d:ren suggests the existence of a familial rela­
tionship between William Sr. and Nancy. While 
this document may be itself, insufficient to 
conclude that William Sherman was the son of Nancy 
Sharp (See Technical Report at 41), when viewed in 
conjunction with other, corroborating evidence, it 
cannot be ignored. Certainly this document estab­
lished that William Sherman, Jr. was called wil­
liam Sharp at the time of his first son's birth in 
11357. It seems extremely un~ikely that a son born 
on September 22, 1857 in Trumbull to some other 
sa.ilor of the right age, or to anybody other than 
William Sherman, Sr. and his wife, Nancy Sharpe. 
Ma.ny documents establish that William Sherman, Sr. 
and his wife Nancy lived in Trumbull in 1857 
(Response 1995b, 28). 

The footnote to the Supplements says that "The designation 
of white race is the only error in this vital record, which 
is information that was regularly inconsistently recorded." 
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The Del~artment's response to point II.A.9: 

l:nformation submitted to the BlA by the petitioner and found 
by the J3IA researchers allows only glimpses of William 
Sherman. The BIA agrees that the records show that William 
and Nancy SHERMAN lived in Trumbull from at least 1857 until 
they died. The BIA researcher found the 1857 record of the 
birth of a male child to a William and Nancy SHARPE in the 
Trumbull Town records and informed the GHP researchers, as 
well as the Paugeesukq group. The petitioners were advised 
that the document in question would not be evidence, but it 
was thE! only document ever that would in any way circum­
stantiE.lly connect any Sherman with any Shame. The BIA did 
not Co[~~.ude that this was birth record of' William Sherman, 
Jr. 

There a.re~ more inconsistencies in the record than the 
footnotE~ in the petitioner's submission would lead one to 
bel ievl: . The document read: 

First of Jany 1858 L.G. Beers Registrar 

DATE OF BIRTH NAME OF CHILD SEX NAMES OF PARENTS AGE COLOR OCCUPATION RESIDENCE 
Sep 22 Ma1e Wllllam Sharpe 30 White Sailor Tmnbull 

Nancy Sharpe 24 White 
(Trumbull Town Birth Records 1858) 

The She~TI~n Bible submitted with. the GHP petition listed the 
birth of William Sherman. Jr. on September 22, 1857 (Pro­
posed Finding 1995, 40). 

The entry in the Bible and the birth of the male child of 
William and Nancy Sharpe would appear to be the same child. 
However, the ages of William and Nancy Sherman as listed on 
the other documents show that either William Sharpe was not 
the sanl: person "as William Sherman or the registrar received 
invalid information from which to record the birth of the 
male child in 1857. . 

It has ::1ot been shown that the child born to William and 
Nancy S;:1arpe in 1857 was the same as the child of· William 
and Nancy Sherman, i.e. that William and Nancy Sharpe were 
William and Nancy Sherman. The father listed on the Sharpe 
birth n~cord was not "the right age" as claimed by the 
ResponS:I~. William Sherman's age varied greatly among the 
documenl:s, as shown on Chart 1. Although age variations of 
several y,ears on census records are not uncommon, in this 
instance the variations are so great as to raise the possi-
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bility that the documents pertained to two different men 
named H.illiam Sherman. The sailing records are consistent 
~ith one another. 

RECORD 

1848 S hip Mon-
tezuma 

1850 F ede ral 
Census 
(Sailo r) 

1850 F edle ral 
Census 

1851 S hip Cle-
matis 

1853 S hip Cle-
matis 

1858 b h of irt 
:-Jil male c:. d 

1860 FI 
Census 

1862 b 
son 

1870 P, 
Census 

1873 b 
sti11b, 

ed.e 

irt 

ed.e 

irt 
:>rn 

1880 FI ade 
Census 

1886 D, ~at 
cord 

ral 

h of 

:ral 

h of 
child 

:ral 

h Re-

TABLE 1 

WILLIAM SHERMAN'S AGE NANCY SHERMAN'S 

23 

25 

30* 15 

26 

~ 

28 

33 30 

40* 25 

38 30 

44* 36 

49 41 

55* 45 

61 

, 

'·Note the age discrepancies of William Sherman between the 
11350 and 1860 Federal censuses and the 1870 and 1880 Federal 
censuses on which Indian designation was listed.} 

AGE; 

The birt:h registrar Wh0 in January 1858 recorded a male 
child born to William and Nancy Sharpe. in 1857, was the same 
person ~iho, recorded the birth of the male child born to 
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William and Nancy Sherman in 1858 (Trumbull Town Records 
1857, 113~)8). 5 

Peti tio11f:?r' s Response, claims pertaining to the relationship 
of WilLiam Sherman and Henry Pease, under Point II.A.9. The 
Response states that: 

William [Sherman] Sr.'s association with his 
mother, Nancy's other children suggests the exis­
tence of a familial relationship between William 
Sr. and Nancy (Response 1995b, 28). 

In addition, the Response to Lynch6 states: 

I:E Henry Pease is Indian as the BAR concedes 
William Sherman is related to Henry Pease then 
William Sherman must be Indian [sic] (Response to 
Lynch 1996, n.p.). 

The DeI~artment 's.response to petitioner's response, 'claims 
pertaiIling to the relationship of William Sherman and Henry 
Pease, _II.A.9. The Petitioner asserts in the Response that 
William Sherman's relationship to Henry Pease constituted a 
direct ':3'enealogical link between William Sherman and the 
Indian '/loman, Nancy Sharpe, alias Pease, and to the histori­
cal Golden Hill Paugussett ·tribe. However, the Proposed 
Findins:r did not "concede" that Henry Pease was Indian. The 
assumptions made by the petitioner involve two separate 
statements. The first pertained to the children of Nancy 
Sharpe, alias Pease: 

Na.ncy. . had William Sherman; after which she 
m. ,John Sharpe, and had Beecher, Nancy and 
Charles, and Sharpe being sent to State's Prison, 
ShE~ lived with a man Rensler [no surname] and had 
OI~ve7 (Orcutt 1886, 43). 

"fil"st day of Jan'y Lee G. and G. Beers, Registrar 
DATE OF BIR111 ~~E OF CHILD SEX NAMES OF PARENTS AGE COLOR OCCUPATION RESIDENCE 
October 21 . male William Sherman 33 white laborer Trumbull 

Nancy 30 
(Trumbull Town Birth Records 1858) 

For more extensive discussion of the GHP Response to Lynch, see 
below in ~his report. 

In 1850, a Rensellar Peas was residing in Bridgeport, Fairfield 
Coun,ty, Connecticut, age 43, M (ale], M [ulatto], with Caroline Jackson, 

,35, F[emClle), M[ulatto'), and Olivette Peas, age seven, F[emale], 

26 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement GHP-V001-D006 Page 60 of 158 



Technical Report -- Final Determination -- Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe 

Hurd s~ated that Henry Pease was the nephew of William 
Shermall1, without specifying the parentage of Henry Pease 
(Hurd 1881, 65). The parentage of Henry Pease is undocu-
mented. In 1850, he was age five, residing in the household 
of a LE:!vi Peas (U.S. Census 1850a, 320, Dwelling #5, House­
hold #S) .8 

Documents available to the BIA at the time the Proposed 
Findinq '(las issued supported the claim that William Sherman, 
Sr. was involved in the life of Henry Pease (~ Proposed 
Findin9 1995, 42-44) and was perhaps involved in the life of 
Olive, daughter of Nancy Sharpe, alias Pease, if the child 
Olive r:l19ntioned by Orcutt was the same person as Olivette 
Peas in the household of Renslaer Peas in the 1850 census 
and thE~ same person as Mary 01 i ve Jackson (see Proposed 
Findin9 1995, 36-37, 40). On the basis of the documents 
availablE:! at the time the Proposed Finding was issued, the 
BIA statE:d that, "[a] vailable records tie William Sherman 
closely to the other known children of Nancy Sharp, alias 
Nancy Pease" (Proposed Finding 1995, 36). 

However, these documents did not prove that Nancy Sharpe, 
alias PE:ase, was the mother of William Sherman, Sr. The 
context of William Sherman's association with the persons 
named by Orcutt as children of Nancy Sharpe, alias Pease 
(Orcutt 1886, 43) did not presuppose the existence of a 
familial relationship between Sherman and them: according 
to his diary/account book, from 1857 to 1860, he "traded" 
with LE!vi Peas, in whose household Nancy Peas [Sharpe?] and 
Charles Sharpe, as well as Henry Pease, lived in 1850 (Pro­
posed E':Lnding 995, 44). Although William Sherman's dia­
ry/account book frequently mentioned Henry Pease, it never 
mentioLE~ci Nancy Peas [Sharpe?] or Charles Sharpe. 

No doc'cTn.emtation submitted by the petitioner, or by third 
parties, or located by BIA researchers, directly documented 

M[ulatto] (U.S. Census 1850a, 281, Dwelling #972, Household #1287). See 
discussion (Proposed Finding 1995, 36-37). 

Re~seller Pease married Caroline Jackson on October 10, 1850, in 
Litchfield. Connecticut (Litchfield Vital Records 1850); a Caroline 
Pease was on the 1860 census in Litchfield (see Proposed Finding '1995, 
36-37 n2U . 

The household conta~ned the following residents: ' Levi Pease, 
45, M[ale]. S[lack], born in Connecticut; Henry [Peas], age 5, M[ale], 
M[ulattol, born in Connecticut; Nancy [Peas], age 19, F[emale), M[ulat­
to) " born in Connecticut; Charles Sharp, age 17, M [ale), M [ulatto), born 
in Connecticut (U.S. Census 1850a, 320, Dwelling #5, Family #5) . 
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any familial relationship between Henry Pease and Nancy 
Sharpe, alias Pease; or between the Mary Olive Jackson men­
tioned in William Sherman's family Bible and Nancy Sharpe, 
alias Pea.se. In 1881, Hurd had mentioned "a family named 
Jacksonll in North Stratford, Connecticut, as among the few 
surviving Golden Hill desc~ndants(Hurd 1881, 65), but 
provided no further information concerning this Jackson 
family-·--no given names, and no ancestral ties. Orcutt did 
not mention the Jacksons (Orcutt 1886, 43). 

In an effort to more clearly define the relationship between 
Henry PE~ase and William Sherman, the BIA researchers re­
viewed ~1.illiam Sherman's diary/account book for the Final 
Determina.tion. In 1857, William Sherman was paid to care 
for Hem:y Pease by Dwight Morris, who was then the Golden 
Hill fund overseer (William Sherman Diary/Account Book, 
1857) .9 This entry implied that Henry Pease may have been 
Indian, but did not require it, since Dwight Morris was also 
Overseer of the Poor. Neither did the payment prove a 
family re~lationship between Henry Pease and William Sherman. 
It also :.ncreased doubt as to the 1857 Sharpe birth record, 
which liBtE:d William Sharpe (white) as a sailor in September 
of 1857, the same year that William Sherman received funds 
for carin9 for Henry Pease and "dockterin" [sic]. 

A count [sic) William Sherman and Dwight Morris 

in 1857 receive $8.00 
for Henry PealS 

William Sherman receive -
for DockteI-in. [sic] in 1857 

William Sher~an receive 
Cash - in 1858 

William Sh~rman receive -
for dc,ckerin [sic] Jan 14 1859 

December 22th in 1859 
Paid to Birdseys 
Will iam Sherman 

March the 24th in 1860 
For turnin9 P·aid to Wi 11 iam Sherman 

January thl~ 18th 1862 
Cash paid to 
William Sherman 
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$6.00 
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There Here no entries found for Henry Pease in the William 
Sherman diary/account book for the years 1863-1865. Howev­
er, such entries may have been on some of the pages that 
were cut out of the diary/account book. The Proposed 
Finding alluded to the pages that had been cut out (Proposed 
Finding 1995, 42), but the'fact that pertinent items are 
missing has become more important in evaluating evidence for 
the Final Determination. It is here noted that many pages 
were cut out completely; portions of pages were also cut. 
The cut,s were clean, as from scissors or a sharp object- -not 
worn or t:orn. There, were cuts from pages in 1857, 1858, 
1863, 1864, 1865, and entire pages were cut out in various 
portior..s, making date identification impossible. 

Certai:nly by the time Hurd ':Irote (Hurd 1881), William 
Sherma:n ~7as listed in the Overseer of the Poor's reports as 
having cared for Henry Pease in the 1850's. Orcutt (Orcutt 
1886) att;empted to fit William Sherman into the Golden Hill 
pictur~=, using documents pertaining to known Golden Hill 
Indians. 

The only possible connection of William Sherman to other 
children of Nancy Sharpe, alias Pease, contained in documen­
tation su.bmitted for the GHP petition is the Sherman Bible 
entries concerning a Mary Olive Jackson, born 1842 (Proposed 
Finding 1995, 40-41), who may be the same person as Oliv­
ette, who seems to be the child of the Renseller Pease who 
in 1850 married Caroline ,Jackson. This identification 
presupposes two undocumented assumptions: (1) that seven­
year-olj Olivette Peas in the 1850 census was the same 
person ~s Olive, daughter of Nancy Sharpe, alias Pease, 
mentioned by Orcutt (Orcutt 1886, 43); and that (2) this 
Olive ..... ,3.5 recorded in William Sherman's family Bible under 
the sur::1.ame of Jackson. 10 

Peti tio/ler' s Response PART II. FACTUAL REFUTATION OF THE' 
"BASIC CONCLUSIONS" AND "SPECIFIC EXAMPLES" OF THE BIA 
PROPOSl~~ FINDING. The numbering in the following section' 
does nOI: follow logically after the numbering in the above 
section. However, it is consistent with the order of 
presentation in the petitioner's Response. 

lO For further discussion of the Pease family, see Appendix D. 
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Petitioner's Response, Part A, Point "2. The petitioner's 
Response states that: 

Tht: BIA erroneously required proof of descent from 
mor4: than one individual ancestor (Response 1995b, 
IJ . 

The Department's response to II.A. point 2: 

The BIh thoroughly discussed this issue in its letters to 
Congres:3men Miller and Faleomavaega; as well as to Senator 
Inouye U~S-IA 1995a; AS-IA 1995b; see Appendix B2). The 
PrOpOSE!cl Finding did not erroneously require proof of 
descent from more than one ancestor. 

Petitioner's Response, Part A, Point 3: 

ThE~ BIA improperly imposed a "continuous exis­
te!l1ce" requirement (Response 1995b, I). 

The De,~rtment's response to II.A. point 3: 

The Res:pcmse did not identify this comment except in the 
Index, Ilor did the petitioner present evidence or arguments 
to support the allegation. However, the Proposed Finding 
did not impose a continuous existence requirement. The 
regulations require documented descent between the current 
membership and the historical tribe in order to meet crite­
rion 83 .. 7(e). The BIA clearly established that the GHP did 
not demonstrate the generational linkage (descent) required. 

Peti tioIwr' s Response, II Part B, Point 1. Specific Find­
ings re}ating to Cri teria (e), (f), and (g): 

a. "Ancestor not -documented as Indian" (Response 
15'9Sb, I). 

Petitioner's Response, first part of II Part B, Point l.a. 
In the arguments for the concept that William Sherman was 
not documented as Indian, the Response stated that n[tlhe 
regulal;ions do not require that tribal ancestors be docu­
mented_§s" Indian" (Response 1995b, 16). 
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The Department's response to II.B, point l.a, first part: 

The Fed,=ral acknowledgment regulations clearly define a 
member o:E an Indian Tribe: 

ME~mber of an Indian tribe means an individual who 
mE~I:l:S the membership requirements of the tribe as 
SE!!: forth in its governing document or, absent 
such a document, has been recognized as a member 
'collectively by those persons comprising the 
tribal governing body, and has consistently main­
tained tribal relations with the tribe or is 
listed on the tribal rolls of that tribe as a 
mE!mber, if such rolls were kept (§83.1 Defini­
tioIlS) . 

Under criterion 83.7(e), a petitioner's members must docu­
ment tJt1,eir descent' from a historic Indian tribe. The 
Propos,ed Finding found that neither the petition documenta­
tion submitted nor evidence located by BIA researchers 
showed William Sherman, the sole ancestor through whom the 
GHP clai.ms Paugussett lineage, to be Indian, or a member of 
an Indian tribe as defined in the regulations. Thus, the 
BIA clE:Olrly demonstrated that William Sherman was not 
document.e!d to be a Golden Hill Paugussett Indian. 

Petitior:l€!r's Response, second part of II Part B, Point l.a. 
The petitioner's Response went on to state: 

The Golden Hill Indians have long intermarried 
with Black Persons, and, as a result, some Indian 
tribal members have more prominent Black features 
th~n Indian features. It should come as not 
sut"prise, then, that the documentary record is' 
co:~fused. Whites recording the data saw only the 
darker skin Or Negroid features of some of the 
mi.xed Black/Indians. On the other hand, mixed 
Wrlite/Indians were more recognizable to the re­
porters of data, who reported "red" and "br6nze" 
fo:r 'white-,looking Indians, and "Black" for dark 
ones . . . These designations reflect only the 
subj'8ctive designation of the person recording the 
da.ta on the document. That is why William Sher­
ma.n's death registry and obituary both identify 
him as an Indian, while other documents indicate 
'otherwise (Response 1995b, .17). 
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Under II Part B, Point la, supplements numbered 3, 4, 5 and 
6 were su.bmitted by the petitioner as documentation for this 
statemE=nt. 

Under II Part B, Point la, the Response further ipdicated 
that "circumstantial evidence indicates William Sherman's 
strong association with Golden Hill Indians" (Response 
1995b, 17) and offered Supplement 6 as documentation. 

Supplement 3 contained a memorandum from Mr. Robert A. 
SChpero to Chief Quiet· Hawk, dated June 6, 1995, with a 
preliminary review of the Proposed Finding (Schpero 1995; 
this m€~rnorandum was also submitted as Appendix N, Supplement 
1). The documents included background information on 
Orcutt, a page from a book entitled Tomlinsons in America 
with no other cites to it, a letter written to Orcutt in 
1884, an abstract of the d~ath record of William Sherman, 
two documents of unknown origins, but which appeared to be 
legislative enactments~ selected pages of the Journal of the 
Senate_~f the State of Connecticut, and selected pages of 
the JOtlrnal of the House of Representatives of the State of 
Connect~i~ut. Supplements 4, 5 and 6 are addendums to 
Supplem2nt 3 and contained genealogical materials, including· 
pedigre'2 charts. 

The Department's response to II.B. point 1.a. second part: 

None of the documents presented in the Response supported 
the assl:!rtion that William Sherman associated with Golden 
Hill Indians during his lifetime. Even if he had, criterion 
83.7(e) deals with descent, not with associations. 

Petitio/ler's Respons~, II Part B, Point l.b. "Descent from 
one ancestor" (Response 1995b, I). 

Th~ pet.itioner claimed that the revised genealogy showed 
"three ancestors prior to William Sherman: Tom and Eunice 
Sherman and Molly Hatchet" (Response 1995b, 19) 

The De~~irtment's response to II.B, point 1.b: 

The Proposed Finding discussed the "one ancestor" question 
because~ all of the present-day GHP membership claimed Golden 
Hill Pa.ll9ussett lineage through only one ancestor, William 
Sherman. The issue is not how many ancestors William 
Sherman. had. Every individual human being has many ances­
tors. Thl2 issue was whether or not the GHP membership 
desce~d.E~d through more than one ancestor: whether today's 
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membership as a whole descended from an antecedent histori­
cal tribe as a whole. The Proposed Finding concluded that 
Eunice (Shoran) Sherman was a pequanock Indian (Proposed 
Finding 1995, 10). However, the GHP documentation did not 
show that William Sherman was descended from her. 

The addition of Molly Hatchet to the list of ancestors of 
Willi,!ITl Sherman would not add to tribal ancestry, since the 
petitioner's members would still be claiming tribal ancestry 
throu~3'h only one individual, William Sherman. Additionally, 
the dE:scent of the same one man, William Sherman, from Molly 
Hatchet has not been demonstrated. On the contrary, the 
descenjants of Molly Hatchet were enumerated by the Superior 
Court in 1871 (Superior Court document 1871 in Siefer), 
clearly at a time when William Sherman, who was still 
livin9, would have been listed had he been a descendant of 
Molly Hatchet. 

PetitL:mer's Response, II Part B, Point 2. Specific Factual 
Finding's Beyond the Scope of a § 83.l0(e) Determination. 

PetiUoner's Response, II Part B, Point 2.a. 
enti ty" (Response 1995b, I). 

" Tribal 

The Response stated that evidence of continued existence of 
the historic paugussett/Pequanock tribe over the years did 
not neE:d to be demonstrated because the Proposed Finding 
dealt with only one criterion, 83.7(e). 

The peti!tioner submitted documents abQut the Paugussett 
tribe. Included was the Tercentenary Pictorial and History 
of the~Lower Naugatuck Valley, which stated: 

about 1732, the remnants joined their brethren 
fu:rl:her up "the great river,~' al though even in the 
lelSl: century, a small group called the Panns, led 
by a chief named Pannee, had their headquarters 
near Indian Well (Response 1995b, 27). 

The Response also discussed dispersal of the Paugussett 
tribe: 

"Most moved and assimilated with other tribes such 
as the Oneida .in New York" [from the Proposed 
Finding]. There is no evidence that Paugussetts 
or' another [sic] other New England Algonquian 
Indians "assimilated" with the Oneida. Some 
1?ausrusset·ts, specifically Pequannock from Golden 
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Hill, did move to the refugee Indian community at 
Fa.rmington where the [sic] mixed with. other West­
enl Connecticut Indians who spoke the same lan­
gUCl~re (e.g., the Tunxis and Winnipiac) (Rudes 
19.9:;). The whole community at Farmington later 
mcved to Oneida territory where they, with other 
A19cmquian Indians from New England formed commu­
nities called the Brother Towns (later Brotherton) 
(see I.P. 2, 11:153). The people living in the 
Brother Towns did not assimilate into the host 
Onedda cul ture but remained separate. (See peti­
tion for federal acknowledgment from the Brother­
ton Indians of Wisconsin.) (Response Appendix IIJII, 
B) . 

The Del2artment' s response to II. B c point 2. a: 

In the Proposed Finding, the BIA researchers attempted to 
determine whether the tribal existence of the historic 
PCIJ.lgusse~tts at Golden Hill extended until at least the 
lifetime, of William Sherman. If this had been the case, and 
if William Sherman could have been documented to descend 
from such a continuously existing tribal unit, it would have 
provided a possible basis for the GHP's claims to descent 
from a h.istoric tribe. The BIA found that there was no 
Paugussett tribal entity at Golden Hill past 1765. (Proposed 
Findin9 1995, Summary, 14). 

The BIJ~ Received the Brothertown petition for Federal 
acknowledgment on February 7,1996, though it was dated and 
approved for submission on October 21, 1995. Since the GHP 
referen:ed this petition in its December 5, 1995, Response, 
SOmeOnE! researching for the Golden Hill had access to the 
Brothertown petition prior to its submission to the BIA. 
Since t~e Brothertown petition is now in possession of the 
BIA and was ref~renced by the petitioner, the BIA reviewed 
it for other references to the historical Paugussett tribe. 
StatemE~nts in the Brothertown petitiori clarify some ques­
tions ciLbout the Paugussetts. 

The Brothertown petition's narrative describes the New 
England s,etting, quoting and summarizing the Colonial 
Records: of Connecticut and the works of DeForest. The 
Brothertown petition listed four Connecticut groups from 
which their membership descends, the Western Pequot, the 
Eastern P1equot, the Narragansett/Niantic and the Mohegan 
(Brothertown Petition Narrative, 29-42). 
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The mOVE! of Connecticut groups to New York was described as 
follows: 

Occom's plan was to bring together the Indians 
f:rom seven communities who were interested in 
moving west. The communities were Mohegan, 
Mashantucket, Stonington and Farmington-in Con­
necticut; Charlestown and Niantic in Rhode Island; 
and Montauk on Long Island. ~nly persons who had 
converted to Christianity would be welcomed. To 
make- their enterprise a success they needed a 
large area of land suitable for farming. And they 
knE~w' where to find such a place. Occom and his two 
assistants, David Fowler and Joseph Johnson, had 
SPE~n.t considerable time among the Oneidas and were 
WE~ll acquainted with the region. There was plenty 
oj: land available and, they were sure, a sympa­
thetic e~r (Brothertown Petition Narrative, 46). 

In 178~;, Guy Johnson, Superintendent of Indian Affairs for 
the Northern Department, wrote that the Oneida chiefs agreed 
to allow the Mohegan, Narragansett, Montauk, Pequots of 
Groton 3nd of Stonington, Nahatick, Farmington to settle on 
their 13nd: 

With this Particular Clause or Reservation that 
the same shall not be possessed by any Persons 
DE!,:med of the said Tribes Who are Descended from 
or have Intermixed with Negroes and Mulattoes 
(.Johnson 1833 8: 222 -223 in Brothertown Petition 
Narrative, 50-51). 

It is clear from the documents presented in the Brothertown 
petition that the Connecticut Indians who became part of the 
Brother::own did not "assimilate ll with the Oneidas, and the 
ProposE!<:i Finding used inaccurate wording. Instead, the 
Connect.icut Indians became an integral part of the formation 
of the J3rothertown on land given to them by the Oneida, and 
later-, brought some Stockbridge Indians into their Brother­
town group (Brothertown Petition Narrative, 51). 

Elij ah ~'lampey was a leader in the Brothertown group. Sarah 
Wampey, a.Iias Sarah Monaugk/Shoranwas known to be related 
to the Golden Hill Indians (see Proposed Finding, Technical 
Report; footnote 10). This fact, coupled with the informa­
tion submitted by the Brothertown, gives a clearer picture 
of the Connecticut Indians who moved to New York. Included 
among those Indians was Sarah (Monaugk/Shoran) Wampey, who 
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was named on the 1765 Golden Hill record as one of the last 
of thE! Golden Hill Indians petitioning the Connecticut 
Assembly for redre.ss. 

The conclusion in the Proposed Finding that only one family 
remainl=d at Golden Hill in 1765 remains valid. There were 
no documents submitted to refute that claim. 

When Orcutt wrote about the Paugussett tribe, he took much 
of his information from DeForest, rewording some, quoting 
some, and misquoting some (Proposed Finding 1995b, 26-7). 
Regard:_ng the Paugussetts who settled in New Milford, now 
called Orange, Connecticut, Orcutt quoted DeForest: 

Ttu= clan which collected at New Milford was quite 
considerable in size, although I cannot find that 
it had a distinctive name. It was unquestionably 
a rnE~re collection of refugees and wanderers, who 
had migrated hither from the southern and eastern 
pa.rt:s of Connecticut, to escape from the vicinity 
of the English settlements (DeForest 1851, 389). 

Orcutt continued to quote DeForest regarding the emigration 
of Connecticut Indians. 

OnE! feature of this later period of Indian histo­
~{, in our State, is the emigration of breaking up 
o:E old tribes, and the temporary fonnation of new 
one~s. We shall see whole clans forsaking their 
ancient habitations, and moving off, almost bodi­
ly, until they come to some spot where they can 
fish and hunt in streams and forests hitherto 
little visited by the white man. We shall see new 
ccnuTIunities of considerable size, cOllecting under 
the leadership of individuals of more than ordi­
nary genius, and them melting away like the tribes 
from which they were originally composed. We 
shall see portions of the Indian population leav-
inq' the State altogether . (DeForest 1851, 
347-8) . 

DeForest made many references to the Collections of the 
Massachusetts Historical Society, Vol. X. This contained a 
series of articles and letters about New England, and in 
particu~ar, Indians of , New England. page III begins: 
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llN' ACCOUNT OF THE INDIANS IN AND ABOUT STRATFORD 
C::ONNECTICUT), IN A LETTER FROM REV. NATHAN BIRDS­
L8Y TO REV. E. STILES, DATED STRATFORD, SEPT. ,3, 
J.76l. 
RI:v. Sir, 
Your's of June 24 Ec. I received; and in compli­
cnce with your request have made inquiry and got 
the best information on concerning the number of 
Indians and their wigwams and families in and 
aJ)out Stratford 40, 50, or 60 years ago; and also 
the present few broken remains of them. At Orono­
a.lee there have been no wigwams, unless one or two 
for a few months in winter, for above 40 years. 
There were about 80 or 90 years then two Indian 
villages at Oronoake, but when the English settled 
hE:re the Indians removed. At Paugasset, i. e., by 
Derby ferry and against Derby neck, there were 50 
yE~ars ago about 8 or 10 wigwams, probably contain­
in9 10 or 12 families: but now no remains of them. 
At Turkey Hill at the lower corner of Derby by·the 
river, there was an Indian village of, I suppose 8 
or 10 families, who had a tract of land incurred 
to them by the government. They have continued 
thE: longest of any; but they are now reduced to 
b~t one or two broken.tamilies, I believe not 
above 2 or 3 men belonging to them. 

There were at Pauquannuch, i.e. Stratfield, 
tt:_E~ place called Golden hill, about 20 to 15 
wis~,ams, 50 years ago [i.e." circa 1711]. And in 
slevE!ral other parts of the town there were small 
clC!LILs of two or three wigwams; but now not one at 
G~::ll.den hill or in any part of the town that I can 
l,ea:r:~, only here and there a scattering squaw, and 
sl::aLI"Cely a poppoose. 

At Poodatook by the river against Newtown, I 
have~ been lately informed by some Newtown people, 
when. Newtown was first settled, a little above 50 
yea.rs ago, there were reckoned of that tribe 50 
mE'~n.; but now only one man among the broken remains 
of 2 or three families. I suppose in the whole, 
bounds of Stratford 50 years ago, the best calcu­
lation that can be made of their numbers is about-
60 or 70, perhaps 80, fighting men; now not above 
3 ~r 4 Indian men, reckoning every straggler in 
all the town. 

NOTE BY DR. STILES 
The tribe that 50 years ago lived about 

DE!rby, Newtown &c. are now retired back to the 
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u:;:>per end of Kent on the West side of Oustonnoc 
river over against Raumaug, and consist of 127 
souls according to the publick census in 1761 
JJ:ollections of the Massachusetts Historical 
~~d.~iety 1809, 10 :111-~12) [emphasis added] . 

Subsequently the census taken for the Connecticut Colony on 
JanuaI~r 1, 1774 was cited. The following table shows the 
number of Indians, broken down by counties, and then by 
cities, for the Indians pertinent to this repor~. 

Though other counties and cities were listed in the report, 
the onE~S listed on Table 2 illustrate the counties and 
cities that included the Paugussetts. Stratford, which 
contained the Golden Hill reservation, had 16 adults and 19 
young ~H:!()ple. New Haven County, in which both Derby and 
Milford are situated, had a total of 14 adults and 10 young 
people. The chart shows a distinct movement to Kent in 
Litchfi,eld County before 1774, with Kent having twice'the 
number of both adults ,and children as New Haven and Fair­
field Counties combined. 

r;:====--
; COUNTn~~ 

CITIE~ 

NEW HAVEN 
DERBY 

MILFORO 

FAIRFIELD 
STRATFORD 

LITCHFIELD 
KENT 

l:::=== __ 

, 
) 

TABLE 2 
CONNECTICUT INDIAN POPULATION, 1774 
[Selected Counties and Cities only] 

Indi an ma 1 es Indi an tema 1 es Indi an rna 1 es Indi an tema 1 es 
under 20 under 20 over 20 over 20 

5 5 5 5 

0 0 1 3 

7 12 9 7 

18 20 11 13 

Total 
Indians 

20 

4 

35 ' 

62 

(£'I;;Jlections of the Massachusetts Hi'storical Society 1809, 10: 1,18) 
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DeForE!;:;t attempted to fill in the history as to why the 
changE!::> in the Paugussett tribe had taken place. He stated 
that after the death of Konckapotanauh in about 1731: 

the nation broke up: some joined the Potatucks; 
some went to the country of the Six Nations; some 
perhaps migrated to Scatacook; and of those on the 
E:a.stern side of the river very "few remained about 
their ancient seats. In 1774, the Milford part of 
the tribe was reduced to four persons, who lived 
011 a small reserv:ation at Turkey Hill, now in the 
tmlTl1ship of Derby (DeForest 1851, 354-355). 

On the WE~stern side of the river, the Paugussetts continued 
to residE~ quietly on their reservations: one on Coram Hill 
in Huntington; and one, of about eighty acres, on Golden 
Hill in Bridgeport. In 1765 only three women and four men 
remained on Golden Hill (DeForest 1851, 355). 

As discussed in the Proposed Finding, in 1763, one of the 
men and two of the women from Golden Hill, John Sherman, 
Eunice Shoran, and Sarah Shoran, went to the Assembly with a 
grievancE~. A non-Indian", Thomas Sherman of Fairfield, 
Connecticut, was chosen as their guardian. 

No dOC"LJ.mE~ntation has been offered to rebut the Proposed 
Findin'3"' e; data that by 1765 the Golden Hill Paugussett had 
been n:duced to one family, in fact, to one woman whose 
father had been sachem of the once "numerous Golden Hill 
PauguS:3E!tt. The remainder of the tribe were scattered from 
New Yo:rk to Connecticut. The Brothertown petition, the 
CollecCions of the Massachusetts Historical Society docu­
ments, and the researchers for the GHP agree with that 
conclusl.on: 

InCle:ed a few tribal members dispersed and eventu­
ally assimilated in the American mainstream. One 
family left and settled near the little band of 
the: Paugussett proper in Woodbridge, where they 
acquired a little piece of land with their share 
oj: the proceeds of Golden Hill reservation . 
Most of the members of this community died in an 
epidemic disease in 1833, and the few survivors 
dispersed before 1850 (Wojciechowski 1992, 72) 
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Petit.ioner's Response II Part B, Point 2.b. "Sporadic land 
base" (Response 1995b, i). The petitioner stated that: 

the evidence actually shows that the Golden Hill 
Pa.ugussetts were continuous on their original 
Golden Hill reservation lands·from 1639 to 1802. 
See Supplement 3 at 3 (Response 1995b, i). 

Documentation provided was a hand drawn chart including 
BridgE~port, Trumbull, Orange, Seymour, Derby, Woodbridge and 
Ansoni3.. No documentation was submitted to accompany the 
chart. 

The D~2artment/s response to II.B, point 2.b: 

A land base is not a consideration under criterion·S3.7(e). 
Nonetheless, the Proposed Finding concluded that the Golden 
Hill Pau<gussett were without land as early as 1S02. This is 
consistent with the petitioner's statement, which pertains 
to thE~ period between 1629 and 1802. Though other Paugus­
sett Indians may have had some land in other places, the 
Golden Hill group sold their land in 1802. Individual 
Indians had the overseer use some of the funds for their 
benefit:. After 1802, neither Golden Hill land or funds were 
used for the entire Paugussett tribal entity. This evidence 
further supports the BIA's conclusion that there was no 
tribe at Golden Hill after 1765. 

Peti tioner' s Response, PART III. GENEALOGIES. 

Petitioner's Response Part III Part A: William Sherman's 
Indian Genealogy (Response 1995b, I). The Response did not 
submit any new documen.tation concerning William Sherman. 

The Department's response to III.A: 

The Re!:ponse made no convincing arguments that would rebut 
the cor.clusions of the Proposed Finding. BIA researchers 
locate,:. additional evidence that casts doubt on the peti­
tioner's claim that William Sherman was of Golden Hill 
descent (.§.e..e discussion under Henry Pease, Appendix D of 
this r '2port). The parentage of William Sherman remains 
undemonstrated as Indian, and no new evidence or arguments 
were presented to. alter the Proposed Finding. 
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Petit:.ioner's ResponSe Part III Part B: The Sherman Genealo­
gy and Orcutt (Response 1995b, I). 

[1.] The Tribe has submitted herewith as Appendix 
D a revised and extended genealogy of William 
Sherman, the source for which is Orcutt and all 
E~v:idence submitted to date. This new genealogy 
~ncludes the Molly Hatchet-Joseph Richardson-Ruby 
Sherman-Nancy Sharpe connection. This is a logi­
cal and supportable lineage. The 'new genealogy 
also reconstructs the life and times of Ruby 
Sherman Richardson aka Mansfield and her mother 
E:unice Mack. 

The Ds~,pa.rtment' s response to III. B [1]: 

As not.ed above, an 1871 document of the Superior Court 
liste'::, t-1011y Hatchet's descendants (Superior Court document 
1871 in Siefer). William Sherman was not included in the 
list of her descendants. 

The pl:titioner has undertaken research to document persons 
who m~y have been in the area, who were identified as 
Indian, and attempts to connect them with William Sherman. 
Howevf:r, the BIA evaluation of the documentation, using 
accept.able genealogical methodology, does not support the 
statements made by the petitioner. 

For exa.mple, the petitioner stated that Joseph Richardson, 
bo:r:n 1786, was the son of Molly Hatchet, who was born about 
1738. That would be very unlikely, because Molly Hatchet, 
who died January 17, 1829, would have been approximately 48 
years old at Joseph's birth, nearly past normal child 
bearir13 years. In any case, the petitioner shows no connec­
tion between William Sherman and Joseph Richards~n. 

The pE!citioner asserts, without documentation, that a woman 
named :~uby Sherman married a Richardson. The BIA research­
ers did not locate any document that connects a Ruby in 
ConneC:':icut with anyone by the name of Richardson. Accepted 
genealogical methodology does not endorse attempts to fit a 
name t.hat· has never been' associated with a particular family 
into that family because a secondary source has listed it as 
a family name connected with an Indian. The Federal regula­
tions J:o:r acknowledgment of an Indian tribe do not permit 
reliancle on undocumented assumptions such as the "Molly 
Hatchet -,10seph Richardson-Ruby Sherman-Nancy Sharpe connec­
tion. This is a logical and supportable lineage" (Response 
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1995b, 30). The BIA researchers found no support for this 
linkage! in any documentation. 

Peti tio.aer' s Response Part III Part B: The Sherman Genealo­
gy and Orcutt (Response 1995b, I). 

[2.] The Sherman genealogy of the eighteenth and 
nineteenth centuries comes in part from the gene­
alo'3"Y' that appears on pages 42 through 44 of 
Sa.rn'Lllel Orcutt's History of the Old Town of Strat­
fc~~j and the City' of Bridgeport, published in 
18B,6. The BIA attempts to discredit Orcutt's 
geIlt:alogy in three ways: (1) by pointing out two 
errors of fact and two errors of omission; (2) by 
pointing out instances in which no corroborating 
evidE:nce for individuals in the genealogy has been 
found; and (3) by propounding what it admits to be 
an unsubstantiated hypothesis that- Orcutt fabri­
catE:d the genealogy based on information contained 
in D .. HamilEon Hurd's 1881 History of 'Fairfield 
CO\;11ty and other sources 

The Dep~l~t:ment' s response to I I I . B f2]: 

County histories of the era in which Orcutt wrote are 
notorious for their genealogical mistakes. As one writer on 
genealo~3ical methodology has stated: 

An i.mportant feature of many local histories is a 
biographical section (sometimes in a separate 
volume) 'with short biographical sketches of promi­
nent citizens and early settlers in the locality. 
Sorne~ of these are quite authentic because the 
farnilies provided the information, and others 
contain many errors for the samell reason. Those 
books which specialized in biographical sketches 
accompanied with pictures of the persons named 
therein are often referred to by bobk dealers and 

11 "(II"cutt (1886: 46) ,who supplies an abstract of this deed, 
mistakenly gives the ye~r of the deed as being 1656" (Wojciechowski 
1992,1641. 

"AccordIng to Orcutt & Beardsley (1880:35) this tract contained 
about 500 acres. Orcutt (1882a:18) mistakenly refers to the deed as 
being datE~j l>1ay 18, 1671" (Wojciechowski 1992, 202). 

. "The only other author that mentions this deed is Orcutt (1882a:-
198), but ~e drew for information exclusiveiy on DeForest, and therefore 
provides 1K) new data on the subject" (Wojciechowski 1992, 253). 
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9E:n.ealogists as "mug books: because anyone could 
ge:t his 'mug' in one if he paid the fee, and no 
one could if he didn't" (Greenwood 1990, 134). 

Orcutt's works must be analyzed in light of the potential 
for errors. Accurate genealogical research requires going 
beyond the secondary resource to examine original sources. 
Thus, city and county histories such as those Orcutt com­
piled, which were popular in the late 1800's, produced a 
wonderful resource of secondary materials from which to get 
clues for further research, but they are not considered the 
final ~uthority in determining ancestry. They are widely 
recognized as being of varying reliability and never consti­
tute pLimary genealogical documentation. As a standard 
manual on research methodology stated: 

LOCAL HISTORIES.- Printed histories of states, 
counties, and localities often contain much genea­
logical information. But here a word of caution 
aqain must be given, for they, too, vary in quali­
ty. Many local histories indulge in eulogies of 
the families discussed, and errors are frequently 
nade with respect to early generations. Local 
histories published prior to 1885 are generally 
accurate for the family history of the Revolution­
a.:::y and post-Revolutionary periods; they are 
bas1ed, for the most part, on statements made by 
ITu~mbers of the family who had knowledge of the 
pE~rsons and events of the periods (Rubincam 1980, 
119-20) . 

In 19513 the National Society Daughters of the American 
Revo1u·t:ion put out a manual, Is That Lineage Right? (DAR 
1958). It stated: 

In E:valuating a genealogy, certain criteria may be 
considered: (1) the author's reputation as a 
careful and critical genealogist, and (2) the 
attE:ntion paid by the compiler to source materi­
als, at least for the early generations (Is That 
1jJleage Right? in Rubincam 1980, 119). 

Ih evaluating the Golden Hill petition, the BIA researchers 
would have been der.elict in their responsibilities if. they 
merely accepted what Orcutt provided in the way of a geneal­
ogy for wVilliam Sherman, especially in light of the fact 
that thE:re were obvious errors (see Proposed Finding, 33-
34) . 
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The petitioner submitted the only set of Orcutt letters 
availal:le. The Hurd papers have not been .located. From 
Orcutt's letters submitted, the BIA researchers have made a 
chronolos;ry of events depicting Orcutt's life: 

1824 .............. . 
1850 .............. . 

1865 .............. . 

1874 .............. . 

1875 .............. . 

1880. " ............ . 

1882 .............. . 

1884 .. , ........... . 

1884 .. , 
1886 .. , 

1891 .............. . 
1893 .............. . 

birth of Samuel Orcutt in Albany, NY 
Preacher for Methodist Episcopal Church 
in Tioga County, New York 
Last appointment as Methodist Preacher, 
all of which were in New York 
While a preacher for the Congregational 
Church in Litchfield County, Connecti­
cut, prepared history of town. 
removed to Torrington, Connecticut where 
he wrote another history of town. 
Published s history of Derby in conjunc­
tion with Ambrose Beardsley, M.D. 
Published a history of the Indians of 
the Housatonic valley and of western 
Connecticut. 
Letter from Fairfield County Historical 
Society commenting on Orcutt's proposal 
to do a History of Stratfield, Bridge­
port and Trumbull, Connecticut. 
Moved to Bridgeport, Connecticut 
Published A History of the Old Town of 
Stratford and the City of Bridgeport. 
Connecticut 
Published Tomlinsons in America. 
Hit by a train and died 

The following description of Orcutt's life provides insight 
into his credibility as a genealogical researcher: 

Mr. Orcutt "left a wife (with whom he had not lived 
fo:c a number of years) a son, Edward S. Orcutt, 
re8idin~ in Providence, R.I., a ~on William H., 
and a daughter with husband and five children in 
Crescent City,· California (Bridgeport Daily Stan­
da~~d 1893 in Response to the.Proposed Finding, 
Second Submission, Orcutt). 

Accordin-g to Orcutt's notes on Russell Tomlinson, who served 
as Overseer of the Poor and as oversee,r of the Golden Hill 
funds during the later lifetime of William Sherman: 
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HE= [Russell Tomlinson] was elected Town Auditor in 
1857, and a member of the Board of Relief in 1858, 
in both of which he did much service, being a 
mE=m})er of the Board of Relief at the time of his 
dE=ath. He often served as moderator of town 
mE=etings. On the resignation of Hon. Dwight 
Morris, in 1860, he was appointed, by the State, 
t]~u.stee of the fund for the benefit of the remnant 
of the Golden Hill Indians, which he retained to 
the time of his decease (Response to the Proposed 
Finding, Second Submission Orcutt, 13). 

In 1887 from Union, New York, Orcutt directed R.B. Lacey, as 
his age~t, to sell: 

all the books now in your office belonging to me, 
under the title of Stratford and Bridgeport Histo­
rlJ=s, bound or unbound, also Stratford genealogies 
or any or all part and parcels of them, as you 
shall see most advantageous for the payment of the 
claims of the printers and binders of the same, 
ami all copies of the same in the hands of Mr. 
Jones the binder (Response to the Proposed Find­
inq, Second Submission Orcutt, 16). 

Orcutt's letters to Lacey told of bills run up for the books 
and ways to dispose of the books. The letters also told of 
Orcutt's not being able to return to Connecticut because: 

my so called wife would make trouble for me by the 
most outrageous falsehoods as she had heretofore 
don,==. But for this I should ,have never ceased to 
be a pastor, except by failure of health. Hereto­
fon~ [sic] I could not leave my children. Now I 
Cal! (Response to the Proposed Finding, Second 
Submission Orcutt, 20). 

The letters to Orcutt included the late 1870's period when 
he was pn=paring the material for the Derby book. Many of 
the letters corrected his mat~rial;12 while others praised 

12 From Charles W. Baird, Rye, New York, in September, 1879: 
"You mention Nicholas Bowan of Rye? Is this a slip of the pen for 
Nathaniel? The Rye minister, afterwards of Newark, N.J. was 
Nathaniel, not Nicholas" (Response to the Proposed Finding, Second 
Submissio~, Orcutt). 

From W. Teller, Ridgefield, Connecticut, in February, 1879: 
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his work. Others added information on families or histori­
cal events. 

The most pertinent letters were from the years of 1884 to 
1886. Hone of them mentioned Indians or indicated where he 
may have qleaned his information on William Sherman, but 
they did provide data concerning how Orcutt did genealogy. 
Many lettE=rs indicaYed'that he did not necessarily obtain 
information from personal interviews, but relied on other 
people's work. Examples of other persons' submissions to 
him include: 

I have already substantially a complete record of 
the descendants of my grandfather Ebenezer Birds­
eye of Cornwall, Ct, and very nearly the same for 
thE! descendants of Joseph and John , and a partial 
statement of those of Ezra. Of Thaddeus, I seem, 
to ha.ve little or nothing. I expect to receive 
SOOI1 a full list of the descendants of Sarah, the 
YOL.119 daught"Br who married Rev. Payson Wiliiston: 
Of the family of the other daughters, I have 
appa.rently very little prospect of obtaining 
particulars (Lucien Birdseye letter in Response to 
the, Proposed Finding, Second Submission Orcutt, 
22C) , 

If this John and Ebenezer were sons of Thomas 
(t:r~.ere can be little doubt of it) you will have 
gra.ndchildren of Thomas, by his sons, Thomas, 
Francis, Richard & John - While Ebenezer probably 
had no children - as if he had, the Legislature 
would not be from tim.e to time ordering his prop­
erty sold for his support. I thought I would 
sul::::ml.t the two points herein contained for your 
consideration (T. D. Rogers letter in Response to 
thl: Proposed' Finding, Second Submission Orcutt, . 
1413). . 

My fathers name was Nathaniel, his fathers Israel, 
and his fathers Azariah, who removed from Milford, 
thE: place of my grandfathers birth, to New Milford 

"I had nc desire to criticiie Mr. Barber's statement - but only to wipe 
out a blot on the personal charact.er of Gen. Put name .' Mr. Barber 
evidently ~~rote what he believed to be true - but I am equally honest in 
saying thcLt: ·he wrote what I do not believe to be true. I did not make 
this correction thoughtlessly .... " (Response to the Proposed 
Finding, ~:eC'ond Submission, Orcutt). 
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between 1730 & 1740. My paternal grandmother was 
a ~:.g.cket. My mother was a Hawley, the third 
generation from Capt. Jehiel Hawley, who came here 
from Newtown at about the same time that my grand­
father settled here (E. H. Canfield letter in 
Response to the Proposed Finding, Second Submis­
sion Orcutt, .~1~) .. 
I send you herewith a rough genealogy of the first 
three generations of Sherwoods, which I am sure 
will enable you to straighten out all the Sher­
wOJds that were at Stratford and Fairfield at an 
early day, and I would that you if you ever find 
an entry on any records which cannot be made to 
a9ree perfectly with this genealogy. Of course I 
ha"iTe left out pages of information tending to 
prove my entries, but I leave it to anyone to 
disprove this manner of entry (W. L. Sherwood 
lE!!:ter in Response to the Proposed Finding, Second 
Submission Orcu~t, 228). 

The letters continued until almost the time of Orcutt's 
death in 1893. At his death, a collection of money was 
taken for his funeral expenses. A list of contributors was 
submitted by the petitioner. 

Orcutt's letters illustrate his desire to earn money by his 
writing. His research methodology lacked acceptable genea­
logical documentation. Other researchers, in addition to 
the BIA :staff, have found errors in the works of Orcutt. 
One was Frans Wojciechowski, the researcher who worked on 
the initial GHP petition and whose book was submitted as 
part of l:he documented petition (Woj ciechowski 1992). He 
devoted pages 27-31 of his book, Ethnohistory of the Paugus­
sett TrjJ~~s, to Orcutt. He finalized his discussion with:. 

In conclusion it must be said that, unfortunately, 
Orcutt, who of all the authors to be reviewed, .had 
consulted the widest range and largest amount of 
documentary source material, lacked the gift of 
synt:hesis: He simply was not able to integrate 
all the bits of information he had obtained into a 
cor~istent and accurate picture of the lower 
HQ"l:.satonic River tribes. 

Wha.t disturbs me more, however, is that none of 
the ~uthors wbo in the past 100 years have con­
sulted and cited Orcutt's "Indians of the Housato-
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nic and Naugatuck Valleys" have noticed the many 
inconsistencies in this work . (Wojciechowski 
1992, 31). 

Orcutt's historical or genealogical conclusions cannot be 
accepted unless documented with other materials. Orcutt's 
statemE~nts concerning the genealogy of William Sherman were 
not documented and could not be verified by BIA researchers. 
Adequate backup documentation was neither submitted by the 
petitioner nor located by BIA re§earchers. 

Peti tioner' s Response, Part III, 'Part C: The Howd (e) 
Genealo3Y: New Evidence of Ancestry (Response 1995b, I) 

The petitioner stated that the heirs of John Howd(e) , an 
Indian, were Philip, Moses, Hester, Frank and Mary Seymour 
in 1810. The Respbnse goes on to state that: 

two or three generations later, in 1871, the same 
property a.,; 'described in the 1813 deed ("known as 
th= Turkey Hill Indian Lands, located at a place 
called Turkey Hill, in said town of Derby") was 
transferred by Blakelee, overseer of the Turkey 
Hill Indians, on the petition of several Turkey 
Hill Indians, including Eliza Franklin and Eliza­
bE!:h and Georgiana Moses, "members of said tribe" 
(R,=sponse 1995, 35). 

The petitioner goes on to state that Eliza Franklin was 
Andrew Allen's sister, whose descendant, two gene:r;~t,ions 
later married Charles Tinney. 13 Though some of the docu­
mentation would suggest a linkage, the pet:"ti:Jller stated 
that it: needed to be documented further. 

The Det~artment's response to III.C, Howde Line: 

Even if' the generational ties could be documented for the 
Tinney line, it would not change the final outcome of this 
determination. One marriage in the present century to an 
undocurr\l~nted Indian would not enable the petitioner's 
membership as a whole to meet the Federal regulations 
requiring descent from a historical tribe. 

13 The granddaughter of William Sherman married a Tinney. though 
no documented connection was submitted to show descent to this Charles 
Tinney. 
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Petitioner's Response, Part III, Part C: Cam Family. 

The petitioner also researched John Cam, a semi-frequent 
entry i:r.. the diary/account book of William Sherman. John 
Cam mard.ed a daughter of William Sherman. In an effort to 
document .John Cam as Indian, the petitioner submitted a page 
from Lf'ictorial History, Shelton, Connecticut. It listed 
Coram A'\renue, and then stated: 

Thl: road to Coram Hill was. the present Myrtle 
Str'eet, earlier known as Cam Road because a family 
by the name of Cam lived where Keen and Myrtle 
Str'eE~ts merge. The Cams were descendants of 
slaves of the Shelton family on Long Hill (A 
Pi,;;torial History, Shelton, Connecticut in Re­
spcnse 1995 Appendix 3) . 

The Dep,~ rtment' s response to I I I. C, Cam Family: 

The doc1JmentaL-iu!'l' presented by the petitioner contains no 
indication that the Cam slaves of the Shelton family were 
Indian. It shows that John Cam, 56, b[lack], from Hunting­
ton (second marriage) married Huldah H. Sherman, 20, 
b[.lack], from Trumbull in 1888 (record of marriages, Town of 
Huntington in Response to the Proposed Finding, schedule 2) . 
Accordir19 to other documents submitted by the petitioner in 
the Resl;:cmse to the Proposed Finding, Acha Cam, John Cam's 
first wife, died July 4, 1887. Two other persons named John 
Cam died .January 24, 1860 (an adult man) and April 7, 1872 
(a child; see burial records discussed below). The latter 
entries \'7ere submitted on an index from something' whose 
source 1fiClS not identified. 

The petitioner stated that William Sherman went to Mary 
Cam's f1Jneral on May 13, 1871., It is to be assumed that 
Mary Carr, and Mary Camp were the same person. The date was 
May 13, 1877, and Sherman's diary/account book listed that 
fact (Sl~.s~ reference _ to her tombstone, below). 

Other GFlP Response submissions pertaining to the Cam family 
were idl:ntified as Long Hill Cemetery lists of burials. No 
information, was offered as to the source of the lists. They 
were not in alphabetical order, so the BrA res.earchers 
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assumed they were listed as plots, going up and down a 
row. 14 

From thl= cemetery records submitted, there were obviously 
two adult John Cams. They married two different women, each 
named ]i,cha. One John Cam died December 26, 1860 at age 65. 
His wif(~, Acha, had died July 8, 1838 at age 38. John and 
Acha Cam (the elder) apparently had at least one son, John 
L. Cam, born September 1, 1831. John L. Cam, age 48 in 
1880, rr~rried to Acha, age 45 in 1880, his father born in 
New York, was enumerated on the 1880 census of Huntington, 
Fairfie:.d County, Connecticut. Both were listed as II Mu II 
(Responsl= 1995b, Appendix 4, .28). John L. Cam's first wife, 

Acha, was born January 5, 1835, and died July 4, 1887. It' 
would bE~ this John and Acha Cam who were listed in William 
Sherman's diary/account book .. ' They were Sunday visitors, 
and William Sherman went to see them on Sundays. 

Buried nE~xt to the Cam plot of the later John and Acha Cam 
were Julius S. Cainp and Mary E.Camp, wife of Julius and two 
children. Mary Camp died :V::r:·1'), 1877, at age 23 years. 
Julius S .. Camp died June 27, 1874 at age 37. There are two 
Camp children listed with them, both infants who died in 
18 7 3 am:, 18 7 4 . 

The children of the younger John L. and Acha Cam were buried 
in a different plot, with the older John and Acha Cam, 
permittinsr researchers to assume a relationship between the 
two Cam families. 

Cam, William Sherman, son of John L. & Acha, died 
Oct 3 1869 age 4 years. 
Carn, John Lewis, son of John L. & Acha, died Apr. 
1872 age 4 yrs 6 mos. (broken stone) 
Cam, Fanny E. daughter of John L. & Acha, died 
Apr.29, 1864 age 4 yrs 2 mos 
Cam, Acha, wife of John, did July 8, 1838 age 38 
Cam, John, died Dec. 26, 1860 age 65 (Response to 
the Proposed Finding, Second Submission, 26). 

14 There are two areas in whicll 'Cam8 are buried, and on one docu­
ment it stated, "(broken stone)" which lead the BrA researchers to 
deduce that the .lists of persons buried as submitted in the Response to 
the Proposed Finding may be an inventory of the cemetery as it was found 
on a particular date. With no further identification of the lists, the 
BrA.researchers accepted them ~s the hand written identification of Long 
Hill Cemetery indicated, with page references. 
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Harriet Huldah Sherman, daughter of William, married a John 
Cam in 1888. It was his second marriage. He was the 
correct age to be the John Cam whose wife Acha had died in 
1887. He was buried in Long Hill Cemetery in 1899. The age 
of Harl~iet Huldah would be the correct age of the entry for 
the dau3hter of William Sherman. The records submitted to 
identify John Cam and Harriet Huldah Sherman were sufficient 
to conclude that the John Cam and Acha, his first wife, were 
the John Cam listed in the Sherman Diary/Account book. The 
ProbatE! record submitted containing the will of Harriet 
Huldah (Sherman) Cam Robinson was acceptable documentation 
that Jo::m Cam was a descendant of Kate Cam. 

John Cam was not identified on any record as Indian, nor was 
Harriet~ Huldah Sherman. Kate Cam, from whom John Cam 
descendt:d, was not identified as Indian. Therefore, the Cam 
family data provided by the GHP Response had no bearing on 
the tri.bal ancestry of William Sherman. 

Petitioner's Response, Part III, Part C: Cam family cover 
sheet ill the petitioner's ~Espcnse to the Proposed Finding. 

A. Inventory from Daniel Shelton'S estate showing 
an Indian slave. Shelton was the purchaser of 
pa,::-t of the Coram Hill Reservation. 

B. Deed to property bounded in p~rt by Cam Road 
which was proximate to Old Shelton estate and near 
the Old Coram Hill Reservation'. Note that Huldah 
Robinson is William Sherman's daughter who married 
John Cam and inherited all his property. 

C. lDt:ath of Will iam Sherman Cam son of John L. Cam 
from Sherman diar'y. 

The Dep£lLtment's' response to III.C, Cam family cover sheet: 

A. The =.nventory indicates that Shelton's Indian slave was 
named "Dick" and thus has no bearing on this case. 

B. The d(:ed is discussed above, and only shows that Harriet 
Huldah <Sherman) Cam Robinson did inherit the- :"a:1d ,that was 
once owned by Ka·te Cam. The connection would have to be 
made that Kate Cam was the same person as an Indian woman 
elsewherE: identified as "Kate Pann" to have Indian rele­
vance. That' connection is neither documented nor assumed. 
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C. ThE~ death of William Sherman Cam was in fact documented 
from ttl!: cemetery list as discussed above. It was not from 
the ShE~Tman diary. 

Though the records submitted show that William Sherman had 
an in-law relationship to John L. Cam, no documents support 
a theory that John L. Cam was Indian. In any event, John L. 
Cam and Harriet Huldah (Sherman) Cam Robinson have no 
d~Ecend.a.nts in the present GHP membership. 

Petitioner's Response PART V.l5 CONTINUITY OF COMMUNITY 
AND POI..[TTCAL INFLUENCE (LEADERSHIP). The petitioner 
stated: 

Tb.E~ lBIA relied heavily on the issues of contInU:-ity 
of community and land base in the Technical Report 
and the Proposed Finding (Response 1995, 40). 

The DeI;m;rtment' s response to PART V: 

In the Proposed Finding, the BIA focussed on the issue of 
descent from a historic tribe. In the Fina:!.. .Determination, 
the BIA also relies on criterion 83.7(e), descent from a 
historic tribe, and finds that no new documentation under 
the heading of Continuity of Community and Political Influ­
ence (Leadership) impacts that finding under criterion 
83.7(e) . 

INTERESTED AND INFORMED THIRD PARTY COMMENTS 

During thE:! 1S0-day comment period (June 8, 1995-December 5, 
1995) afl:E~r the proposed Finding was issued, interested and 
informecl third parties submitted comments. Three categories 
of comments were received. 

(1) The first category included letters stating opin­
ions on the case which were relevant to criterion 
83.7{e), but containing no documentation to support 
thosE~ opinions. 

(2) The second category included letters containing 
ar'::'uments and evidence which were meant to support or 

"to rebut the Proposed Finding under criterion 83.7(e). 

1S T:1e:re was no petitioner's response PART IV. 
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(]) The third category included other undocumented 
letters submitted by third parties, either opposed to 
or in support of Federal acknowledgment of the GHP, 
which did not address criterion 83.7(e). 

Because the third group of letters did not address the 
Proposed Finding under criterion 83.7(e), they were not 
relevant in the evaluation of the evidence and preparation 
~f ·the Final Determination and are not addressed herein. An 
examplE~ of the third category of submissions, among the 
comments rebutting the Proposed Finding was a letter from 
Mr. Gra.nt: Felldin, a GHP member who related his concerns 
about the tribal leadership controversy that has existed 
througt.out the. petitioning process. He expressed ris . 
disappointment concerning the proposed negative finding and 
requestE~d a re-examination of the facts. He submitted no 
new information on the group to support a re-examination, 
enclosed no documentation, and did not address criterion 
83.7(e). 

Docum~t;ed Comments with Arguments or Evidence against the 
Propos4~~L Finding. 

MR. WE~~ TAUKCHIRAY 

Mr. Wee Taukchiray, an independent researcher, submitted 
materials in opposition to the Proposed Finding. They are 
discusned in the order they were received by the BrA. 

Taukch~lray' s first submission, dated August I, 1995: 

The first Taukchiray letter discussed "problems with the 
tribal a.ncestry claimed" (Taukchiray 1995a). He said that 
D. Hamilton Hurd based his book, History of Fairfield 
County,_ Connecticut on many primary sources including both 
the COIT~ecticut Indian Papers and documents that are lost 
and no longer available. While Taukchiray's letter agreed 
with ttl!: Proposed Finding that Hurd had not attempted to 
create a. documented genealogy of William Sherman, he used 
informal1:ion found in Hurd's book and information from the 
Proposed Finding as a basis for the creation .of three 
pedigree charts in which Taukchiray: 

surnmarize[d] the presently available family tree 
data on William Sherman (1825-1886) himself; on 
his nephew, Henry Pease (born 1844), with whom 
ShEn:lnan associated; and on Sherman's mother's 
[Nancy] stepfather, Jim Mack (1800-1850 ff. 
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[s~;J ), called Mansfield. Based on the text of 
the Technical Report, this is what I [Taukchiray] 
th:.nk. actually happened. My hypothesi..; stands 
open to both addition and correction (Taukchiray 
199~5a) . 

His hypotheses were illustrated on the pedigree charts, 
which differed one with another (see Appendix A) . 

The Department's response to Taukchiray's first submission: 

In Chart 1, Taukchiray.used the Proposed Finding and Hurd to 
support an alternative theory that Jim Mack, son of Eunice 
Sherman who married a Mack, married his first cousin, Ruby 
Sherman. Chart 2 theoriz·ed that Ruby Sherman, alleged 
parent oj: "Nancy Sherman," was married to Joseph Richardson, 
and alleged that Joseph Richardson was the son of Molly 
Hatchet, a known Paugussett Indian descendant who died in 
1829. 'l'aukchiray's third chart theorized ancestry for Henry 
Pease, who was d.escribed by Hurd as a claimant to the Golden 

. Hill fu:r..ds, and added another marriage partner to "Nancy 
Sherman. " 

None of Taukchiray's hypotheses were supported with documen­
tation other than the Proposed Finding and Hurd. The BIA 
evaluatl::cl the hypotheses and found that Molly Hatchet (1738-
1829) wculd have been approximately 48 years old when Joseph 
Richardson was born. Though unlikely, it would not have 
been im];ossible that she was his mother. However, consul ta­
tion of the Records of the Congregational Church of Orange, 
Connectt~~lt (Formerly North Milford), illustrated that 
Joseph Richardson, who waS listed under the heading of 
"Families of Africans and Descendants of the Native Indi­
ans", would not necessarily have been her son, but might 
well haVE! been her grandson. No documentation has been 
sU1:?~ittE:!d, or found by BIA researchers, to connect .Joseph 
Richardson to "Nancy Sherman." In addition, no documenta-· 
tion has be~n submitted or found that would connect a Nancy 
with thE:! name of Sherman, other than Nancy (Hopkins) Sher­
man, thE~ ~dfe of William Sherman. 

Taukchi:t·ay's second submis,sion~ dated August 9, 1995: 

The secon.d. letter by Taukchiray requested a copy of a 
bibliographic citation in the Proposed Finding to the 
History_of Orange, Connecticut. Enclosed with his letter 
was a pedigree cha~t, changing the parentage of "Nancy 
Sherman· Sharp" as well as changing her marriage partner from 
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the chart he submitted on August 1, 1995. His letter 
stated: 

The:, attached chart is like the 3 Paugussett, charts 
I sent you on August 1st; what I think actually 
happened based on the text of the Paugussett 
tE~chnical reports (Taukchiray 1995b) [empha'sis 
added] . 

The Dep~3.rtment' s response to Taukchiray's second,,:,submission: 

The second submission ,waS a letter by Taukchiray adding 
another spouse to "Nancy Sherman Sharpe," namely Renseller 
Peas. He diagrammed their alleged daughter, Mary Olive 
(Peas) Jackson, with her' alleged spouse, Hamilton Jackson. 

No accE!);)table documentation was attached or enclosed to 
support t'he contentions that Mary Olive (Peas) Jackson's 
parents: '''''ere Nancy Sherman Sharp and Renseller Peas, or that 
Mary 01 iVle was married to Hamil ton Jackson. 

The two submissions contradicted each other, as did the 
three pE~digree charts in the first submission. Neither the 
August :_, 1995, nor the August 9, 1995, comments were sup­
ported by new documentation, or by the data in the GHP 
Proposed Finding (Proposed Finding 1995, 29-35). Taukchiray 
presentE~d several hypothetical reinterpretations of the data 
in the Government's Proposed Finding, perhaps intended as 
guides t:o new data or analyses that would support the GHP's 
geneal09ical claims to Indian ancestry. 

The BIA E~valuated these submissions and found that the 
hypotheE:E~f) were clearly contradicted by specific evidence. 
No specif:Lc documents showed that any of these people were 
related to William Sherman, or to each other, as Taukchiray 
asserted.. Taukchiray's methodology was flawed because he 
based hiB hypothetical reconstructions on undocumepted 
as·sumpt i ems. 

Ta ukchi relY , s third submission, dated September 29, 1995: 

The third Taukchiray submission revised the previous four 
pedigree charts based solely on: 

the attached page, which comes, as nearly as I can 
pr~~sEmtly tell, from Frank G. Speck's Decorative 
Ar1;,_ of the Indians of Connecticut, which is Volume 
75 (publishe~ in 1915), of: Memoirs of the Canada 
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Department of Mines, Geological Survey (Taukchiray 
1995c) . 

The -enc:.osure was entitled "Paugussett," and did not include 
a title page. The document Taukchiray enclosed cited 
seconda~v sources, including published articles and books 
written by DeFor~R~<_ Orcutt and Beardsley, and Curtis, but 
did not r~::fer to any original sources or documents. 

The Dep~rtment's response to Taukchiray's third submission: 

The documE::ntation submitted -entitled "Paugussett" discussed 
Molly Hatchet and the Mack Family, two well documented 
PaugusSE!tt families. The article's footnotes referenced the 
original ~.".orks the BIA had consul ted during the research for 
the Proposed Finding. 

Based on this new article, Taukchiray revised the previously 
submittE!d pedigree charts by adding Molly Hatchet's Indian 
name, correcting the marriage date for William Sherman - - -
(based on the marriage record quoted in the Proposed Find­
ing), and indicating Nancy Hopkins Sherman's birthplace as 
Norwich (based on a marriage record, contradicted by Federal 
Censuses). Taukchiray gave no new documentation for the 
changes in the pedigree charts other than the 1915 article 
that provided the Indian name of Molly Hatchet. 

Although his letter did not indicate other changes to the 
pedigree charts previously submitted, he added handwritten 
notes to the pedigree charts. For example, on the chart 
showing HEmry Pease as child of Nancy Sharp and Levi Peas, 
Taukchiray added: 

[Peas] lost his hand by the accidental discharge 
of a gun, setting in motion- a chain of events that 
be'3-an in 1876 & led, in 1933, to the establishment 
of a quart~r-acre Paugussett Indian reservation at 
Trumbull (Taukchiray 1995c) . 

Taukchiray did not elaborate on the "chain of events," or 
specify how the accident led to later events. Taukchiray's 
various interpretations of the materials contained in the 
Proposed_ ,Finding were hypotheses. However, none of Taukchi­
ray's h:vpotheses were supported by the documents. 
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Taukchi;-:ay's fourth submission, dated October 19, 1995: 

In the fourth and final Taukchiray letter (Taukchiray 
1995d), he wrote that Hurd, writing in 1881: 

no doubt based his statements on common reputation 
and unanimous assurances cif those who possessed a 
living memory" 'of 'these events. Probably Ruby 
Shennan age 36 and her daughter Nancy Sherman age 
14 or 15, were visiting the city of Poughkeepsie, 
New York in May of 1825 when Nancy gave birth to 
WiLliam Sherman. One wonders if Dr. Hurd did not 
knrn~ about the descendants in Orange, Connecticut, 
of Sarah Sherman Roberts, who had been a 14 year 
old wife and mother in 1790 (Taukchiray 1995d) . 

Taukchiray also observed that the' word "heir" in the Pro­
posed Finding was used inappropriately; he said "claimant" 
would be correct. Taukchiray also enclosed a pedigree chart 
for Levi Roberts whose ancestors Taukchiray described (;'b;· 

A Paugussett family whose members had "assimilated 
into non-Indian society" by 1886, at which time 
thc~gh still living in Orange, Connecticut, they 
were not claimants on the Indian funds of Strat­
foni (Taukchiray 1995d) . 

The Dep,~.rt:ment' s response to Taukchiray's fourth submission: 

Taukchiray submitted no documentation for his theories on 
why, wh'2rE~, when, with whom, and how Ruby Sherman and Nancy, 
whom he assumes to have been Ruby's daughter, visited in 
Poughkeepsie, if they did. The BIA researchers searched the 
Poughkeepsie records and found nothing. 

In the cited passage from the Proposed Finding using "heir'" 
rather than IIclaimant,1I the BrA was merely using the wording 
found in the original documents. 

Taukchi:ray submitted no information to document that the 
Levi Roberts family were not claimants to the Ind.ian funds 
at Stratford, or why he thought that they "assimilated." 
Finally Ta.ukchiray submitted no documentation to show Levi 
Roberts" familial connections to the Paugussett Roberts 
family who were discussed in the Proposed Finding (Proposed 
Finding 1995, 46). . 
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Taukchiray's analysis was a reworking of the data found in 
the docU1m~nts cited in the proposed finding, with the 
exception of the 1915 article included in his third letter. 

Taukchiray apparently relied on Hurd's book because the 
Proposed Finding stated that "Hurd used primary sources for 
much of the material in his narrative" (Proposed Finding 
1995, 32). However, Hurd also may have based his narrative 
on local knowledge and gossip. His statements that the 
William Sherman family was a survivor of the tribe, and that 
Henry PE!i3.Se was his nephew, have-not been verified by origi­
nal docllrnE~nts. The primacy of or'iginal documents over 
secondary sources is basic to how the BIA has weighed 
evidence in the past and in this case. 

Taukchiray submitted no new documentation with his comments, 
and somE!times he based his analysis on undocumented sources, 
such as the information presented in his third submission. 
The BIA E~valuated these comments and attempted to verify hi's 
positions witii·'d.l:l of the data at hand, including that 
submitte!cl by the petitioner and interested and informed 
parties or found by the Government's researchers. The BIA, 
in its evaluation, found his analysis forced, and not sup­
ported by any of the documents. 

MS. KATFLEEN GRASSO ANDERSON 

Ms. Katt,J.E~en Grasso Anderson, Director, Rainy Mountain 
Society of Indigenous Peoples, submitted comments against 
the GHP Proposed Finding to the Secretary of the ~nt~rior in 
a letter' dated September 18, 1995. She enclosed letters she 
had writte!ll to Senator Daniel Inouye andCor..gr2ssmen George 
Miller and Eni Faleomavaega. In Anderson's letter to 
Senator Inouye, she stated that she was: 

struck by the ruling that a Tribe's current de­
sClendants could not qualify as a Tribe, if they 
were! descended from one family and if they could 
not state what Tribe (Anderson 1995, 1). 

AndersOJ:'l E!xpressed her opinion that the finding was unfair, 
and she stated that the decision would have a negative 
impact on the economic development of the GHP. She enclosed 
other letters and newspapers clippings from 1995 to support 
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her position.16 These clippings primarily concerned the 
ongoing GHP leadership struggles, and did not address the 
issue of political pressure on the BIA. However, Anderson 
made alleg"ations that political pressure on the BIA influ­
enced the decision. She stated: 

It _w'ould appear, that the opposition of the Con­
necticut Homeowners who fear conflicts over land, 
has influenced the Branch of Acknowledgment [sic] 
Research to create a new criteria for Golden Hill 
Pa1.l3eesukqs (Anderson 1995;- 3) [emphasis added] 

The Depit~tment's response to Anderson's comments; 

Anderson misstated the Proposed Finding's conclusion that 
Indian a:ncestry had not been demonstrated for the GHP 
petitioflo::!r, and that without demonstrated Indian ancestry, 
tribal descent was a moot point. 

Anderson subm';'t~ed no evidence to support her allegation of 
political bias or influence, nor was any political bias or 
influence exerted on the BIA in connection with the GHP 
Proposed Finding. In addition, no "new criteria" were 
imposed on the petitioner. Rather, the BIA applied the 
consistent requirement that the membership of a petitioning 
group mu.::>t descend from a historic American Indian tribe 
(criterion 83.7(e». 

The Gove::::-nment based the Proposed Finding on evidence 
submitted by the petitioner and interested partie~! and on 
the BIA's own· research into the historical records. - The 
finding \~.as not based on political concern·s.- -- :'he evidence 
clearly showed that the GHP membership descended from one 
man, Wil:_iam Sherman, whose Indian ancestry was not demon­
strated, .and who did not live in tribal relations with other 
Paugussett Indians or with any other Indians (Proposed 
Finding :_995, 53). Finally, Anderson's concerns about 
economic df~velopment are irrelevant to the acknowledgment 
criteria and were not considered during evaluation of the 
evidence :Eor the Final Determination. 

16 These clippings were headlined: 
MoonFace Bear back in court (The Day, June 17, 1995); 
Tribe says: evidence backs Moonface (Norwich Bulletin, June 20, 1995). 
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SENATOl:~ DANIEL K. INOUYE 

On August 10, 1995, Senator Daniel K. Inouye (D-HI), the 
rankinsr Democratic member of the Senate Committee on Indian 
Affairs. wrote to the AS-lA, Ada E .. Deer. In Inouye's 
letter, he stated that the BIA had raised the acknowledgment 
standard in the GHP case when it required that: 

(1) the persons claimed as Indian ancestors were 
of Indian descent from a particular tribe; and 
(.2) Indian descent must be derived from more than 
one Indian person (Inouye 1995, 1). 

He exp:rE~ssed concern that the BIA "applies new and unwritten 
criteria to suit the specific factual circumstances of any 
particular petition" (Inouye 1995, 2). 

The Denartment's response to Senator Inouye's letter: 

The AS··IA replied- on October 18, 1995 (see Appendix B2), ex­
plaining that "descent fr0~ aohistorical tribe [was] an 
express requirement of criterion 83.7(e)" (AS-IA 1995a, 1) 
which had a long legal history supporting it. Furthermore: 

The requirement of tribal ancestry which is writ­
tEm in criterion 83.7 (e), however, was not appl ied 
to the Golden Hill petitioner because they did not 
pa;3s the threshold test of having Indian ancestry 
(J!~S - IA 1995 a, 2). 

Ancestry from a single Indian individual does not 
mE!I~t the requirement of criterion 83.7 (e) because 
thE~ section specifically requires descent from "a 
hi.storical Indian tribe." The plain language of 
thE~ regulation requires tribal descent, not merely 
Inciian descent (AS-IS 1995a, 2). 

The lett,:r went on to state: 

.. :--.... :I.~ . ~'. 

Sinilarly, this Department does not have the 
authority to extend acknowledgment to groups which 
are the descendants of a single Indian ind~v~d~al. 
RathE~r, the. Department has the authority to extend 
ad:nowledgment only to pOl.itl.cal successors. The 
intE:!rpretation of the federal acknowledgment 
requlations criterion 83.7(e) as requiring descent 
fr~~ a tribe, a political entity, avoids the Fifth 
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AmE~nd.ment issues raised in the DOJ letter to 
you17 (AS-IA 1995a, 3). 

The AS-lA's letter recited legal precedents for this posi­
tion and concluded with three paragraphs relating directly 
to Proposed Findings and Final Determinations: 

We also would like to make it clear that 25 C.F.R. 
§83.10(e) does not provide a means for expediting 
the petition process based on satisfying only 
criteria 83.7(e), (f), and (g). Rather, §83.10(e) 
pro~ides that if a petitioner fails to satisfy any 
one of these criteria, the Assistant Secretary -
Indian Affairs may decline to acknowledge that the 
petitioner is an Indian tribe without fully evalu­
ati::1g all seven of the mandatory criteria. 

ThE! Department applies the regulations consistent­
ly across a variety of cases which differ enor­
mously from each other. We have addressed with 
othl:!r petitioners th..:. c:1-ar3'e of inconsistent 
application of the regulations. These petitioners 
ha~~ mistakenly treated different situations as 
comparable in order to suggest that we are being 
inconsistent and arbitrary. 

In the case of the Golden Hill, the petitioners 
had. ample opportunity to supplement their peti­
tion; there will be opportunity to comment now 
dur:L:n9 the comment period; and the petitioners may 
seek reconsideration of any negative decision in a 
heaTing before the Interior Board of Indian Ap­
pea.:_s. These procedures ensure that th.ere is not 
den:~,:l1 of "due process" (.AS-IA 1995a, 5) .18 

REPRESEN:~~TIVES GEORGE MILLER AND ENI FALEOMAVAEGA 

On August: 10, 1995, House of Representatives members George 
Miller (D-CA) and Eni Faleomavaega (D-American Samoa) co­
signed a ll:!tter to Secretary of the Interior Bruce Babbitt 
questioning what they called, IItwo clearly and erroneous 
interpretations of Section 83.7 (e) II (Miller/Fc:.I.3Jrr.a~ ... aega 

11 This re·ferences a letter written to senator Inouye in 1992 on 
the same subject (see Appendix B1) . 

18 Foe 1:he full text of letter, see Appendix B2. 
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1995, 1). They stated their interpretations of the ac­
knowled(jment regulations: 

Thf~ 'wording of 25 .CFR. 83.7 (e) presents a strictly 
genealogical issue of whether or not all of the 
individuals in a petitioning group can document 
thE:!ir ancestry back to a member or members of [a] 
historic tribe (Miller/Faleomavaega 1995, 1). 

Nmw'hl:re in past or present law, regulations, or 
court decisions pertaining to the federal recogni­
tion of Indian tribes is there any wording to t·~e 
ef1:I:ct that "Indian descent: must be derived 
through more than one person." The language of 
thE~ regulations is clear - it refers to the indi­
vi~l1Jj:tl descent of the petitioners. There is no 
refE~rence to a multiple family requirement with 
res'pE:!ct to the genealogy of the petitioners (Mill­
er/Faleomavaega 1995, 2). 

The Dep§lrtment' s response to the Miller IFaleomavaega com­
ment: 

Since 157H, the regulations have never been applied as 
characterized in the Congressmen's letter. Criterion 
83.7(e) establishes the standard for the descent of the 
pe·tltlo:i":.E~r' s membership as a group, not the desc:::ent of 
individual members. On October 18, 1995, the AS-IA respond­
ed to the Miller/Faleomavaega letter, explaining the GHP 
Proposed E~inding and quoting the regulations: 

aftE!r extensive research, [the Proposed Finding 
found] that the current members of the.petitioning 
group were not proven to descend either from the 
historical Paugussett tribe or from any other 
IncUan tribe. Descent from a historical tribe is 
an E~xpress requirement of criterion 83.7 (e), which 
provides in part: 

The petitioner'S membership consists of 
individuals who descend from a histori~ 
cal tribe or from historical Indian 
tribes which combined and functioned as 
a single autonomous political entity. 
[emphasis added] (AS - IA 1995b, 1). 
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The AS-IA letter continued: 

A~cestry from a single Indian individual does not 
meet the requirement of criterion 83.7(e) because 
tte section specifically requires descent from "a 
hi ~,torical Indian tribe." The plain language of 
t:-:.e regulation requires tribal descent, not merely 
I~.dian descent (AS - IA 1995b, 2). 

Because the petitioner cannot demonstrate Indian ancestry 
with evidence acceptable to the Secretary, the Congressmen's 
comments supporting recognition of petitioners who trace· to 
a single Indian ancestor do not apply in this specific case. 
Nevertheless, the AS-lA's letter reaffirmed the application 
of the regulations in this case and the position taken in 
the Proposed Finding that criterion 83.7(e) requires tribal 
ancestry, not individual Indian ancestry. 

MR. ROGER JOSLYN 

On October 23, 1995, Roger D. Joslyn submitted a comment on 
the GHP case. He is a professional genealogist who was the 
contract genealogist for the Ramapough petitioner. 19 His 
comment: covered three separate issues: (1) the possibility 
of identification as "Indian" on Federal censuses prior to 
1870; (2) the number of copies made of the 1870 Federal 
cenSUSi and (3) the ethnic identification of William Sherman 
on the 1870 census. 

Joslyn"s first issue: 

Joslyn addressed the discussion of William Sherman's treat­
ment on the Federal censuses in the GHP Proposed Finding: 

In the second paragraph of page 47, it is ex­
plained that Willia:m Sherman "was not identified 
as Indian until 1870," citing the 1870 Federal 
Ce,nsus [for Trumbull, Fairfield County, Connecti­
cut]. It is not mentioned here that the 1870 
Federal Census was th~ first in which the designa­
tion Indian could be used in the column concerning 
"color" (the other designations the enumerators 
could use were White, Black, Mulatto, or Chinese; 

19 .At the time Joslyn submitted his comments, the Ramapough 
petitioner was being evaluated for a Final Determination. The Final 
Determination was published February 5, 1996. 
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for the 1850 and 1860 censuses, the only choices 
wen:! White, Black, or Mulatto, and earlier census­
es showed only how many whites, "freE:'~t=[SbnS of ' 
color," or "slaves" were in a household) (Joslyn 
1995 " 1). 

The Derw:rtment' s response to Joslyn's first issue: 

Contrary 1:0 Joslyn's assertion, Federal censuses prior to 
1870 identified certain individuals as Indian. 20 One of 
the secondary resources used byBIA researchers is Twenty 
Censuse~L,- Populations and'Housing Ouestions 1790-1980, 
published in 1979 by the Bureau of the ·Census. The preface 
of this publication states: . 

This report is aimed not only at the data user but 
also'the social researcher, historian, genealo­
gist,. or interested member of the public who may 
wish to know not only how the populations and 
housing inqti1.ries evolved over the years, but also 
what instructions led to the entries on the basic 
records they are using . . There were no spe­
cific instruction issued to census takers until 
1820; these, and the ones for later censuses, are 
rep:roduced as found in the basic history for the 
period. . or the enumerator's manuals (Twenty 
CeW?!lses 1979, Preface). 

In the ],850 and 1860 censuses, the instructions to the 
marshals and assistant marshals regarding "Indians and 
Color" n:!ad: 

IncLians not taxed are not to be enumerated in this 
or any other schedule . Under heading 6, 
entitled "Color," in all cases where the person is 
white, leave the space blank; in all cases where 
the person is black, insert the letter B; if 
mulatto, insert M. It is very desirable that 
thE!sE:! particulars be carefully regarded (Twenty 
CeWi11SeS 1979,14) . 

These instructions contained no prohibitions on enumerating 
persons and families as Indians, if they were taxed, and no 
prohibitions on listing color as other than "B" or "M" or 

20 See, for example, the 1850 census of Allegan County, Michigan 
and the 1960 census of Terrebonne Parish, Louisiana. 
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leaving it blank. In fact, the 1860 Federal Census listed 
16 Indians in Connecticut (Kennedy 1963, 61). The BIA 
researchE~rs studied the 16 persons listed as "Indian" in 
1860. Some were identified "Ind", and others "I" in the 
"color" column. This research also revealed that almost all 
of the Indians listed were either born in another state or 
were living away from C()rinecticut.'s usual "tribal" territo­
ries. 21 

In 1850, Leonard Uncas was shown living in Columbia, Tolland 
County, Connecticut. According t.o the instructions to the 
1850 Assistant Marshall Dell Bull, he could list persons as 
blank if they were white, black if they were black, or 
mulatto if they were mulatto. However, although he listed 
Leonard Uncas as "M" for mulatto, in the column that re­
quired occupation or profession, he wrote "Last of Mohegans" 
(U.S. Census 1850b, 353, Dwelling #78; Household #80). In 
1860, Leonard Uncas was one of the 16 persons in the State' 
of Connecticut listed as "Ind" (U.S. Census 1860d 391, 
DwellinJ #33; Household #32) . 

Research in the actual census records in Connecticut showed 
that ~;()'ne Indians who were taxed and living outside of 
tribal r-elations were enumerated as "Ind" or "I". The 
Indians identified on the 1860 census in Connecticut were 
li~ing in four counties and were enumerated as Indians by 
six different enumerators. Many of the Indians in Connecti­
cut wen~ not taxed because they lived on state reservations 
and were not listed on the 1860 census at all. However, the 
residen~s of state r~servations were easily traced using the 

21 Examples of 1860 Federal Census returns of Connecticut: 
Lucy Proffit, 55, Ind, Laborer, 300, born: RI 
Moses , 14, m, Ind, born: Conn 
Sarah I 14 If, Ind f born: ff 

(U.S. Census 1860c 727, Dwelling #1622; ~amily #1638) 
Annett Davis, 24, f, I, Domestic, born: Conn 

(U. S. Census, 1860d 201, Dwelling #157; Family #151) 
Charlotte Lewis, 18, f, Ind, Servant, born: Conn 

(U.S. Census, 1860d 673, Dwelling #1939; Family #2157) 
John Skickett, 37, m, Ind, Basket Maker, born: NY 
Laura A. 36, f, Ind born: do 
Dwight R." 12, m, Ind born: do 
Cather ine " 7, f, Ind born: do 
Cosina " 6, f, Ind born: Conn 
Julius 4, m, Ind born: do 
Helen ,1, f, Ind born: do 

(U,S. Census 1860a 505, Dwelling #490; Family #491) 
Catherine Weston, 40, f, F.B., Servant born: Conn 

(U 3. Census 1860a 72, Dwelling #340; Family #558). 
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Connect~cut overseers' reports. In other words, the vast 
majority of Connecticut's Indians were not on the 1860 
census at all. 

Clearly, .Joslyn' s comment, "[ i] t is. not mentioned here that 
the 1870 Federal Census was the first in which the designa­
tion Indian could be used in the column concerning 'color'" 
[emphasis added]'was 111 error. In 1850 and 1860, William 
Sherman was listed on the Federal census, but not as an 
Indian. 

Joslyn's second issue: Joslyn cited The History and Growth 
of the [~ited States Census found in the 56th Congressional 
Senate Documents, Vol. 14, concerning the requirement for 
producin9 multiple copies of pages for the 1850 Federal 
census. The requirements also applied to the 1850, 1860 and 
1870 censuses. Joslyn added: ' 

ThE~ matter does not end here, however, for,appar­
ently the BAR staff is unaware that for the 1850, 
18ED, and 1870 Federal censuses, three copies were 
prepared (see Carroll D. Wright and William C. 
Hur.t, The History and Growth of the United States 
C~IJillS [Washington, D.C., 1900]). One copy re­
mained in the county, the second went to the 
St,3,tE~, and the third to the Federal government 
(Joslyn 1995, 2) 

Joslyn also stated: 

C01JIlty copies of the Federal Census for 1870 are 
not known to be extant for Connecticut, but the 
stat:e copy is, located in the state library in 
Hartford (Joslyn 1995, 2). 

The Dep.;!rtment' s response to Joslyn's second issue: 

BIA rest:Clrchers consulted the actual Senate Report. Appendix 
E of tht: Senate report cited by Joslyn details the Census 
Acts of 1790, 1840, 1850, 1880, 1890 and 1900. No acts 
concerninsr the census were passed between the 1850 Act and 
1880. ThE! 1870 census was thus included within the scope of 
the Act. of 1850. Directions for transmittal of the census 
returns are detailed in that Act as follows: 

Sec. 5. And be it further enacted, That each 
marshal . shall carefully examine whether the 
ret.urn of each assistant marshal be made in con-
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formity with the terms of this act, and, where 
discrepancies are detected, require the same to be 
corrected. He shall dispose of the two sets of 
the returns required from the assistant marshals 
as hereinafter provided for as follows: One set 
he nllli:lll transmit forthwith to the Secretary of 
the IlJ.terior; and the other copy thereof he shall 
tran:!nnit to'the' office of the secretary of the 
stat.e or territory to which his district belongs 
(Wr:.~3"ht and Hunt 1900, 932) [emphasis added]. 

Thus, two, not three, copies were produced in 1870. 

In 1870, the enumeration marshals' districts were separated 
into subdivisions, not to include more than 20,000 inhabit­
ants. Each subdivision required an assistant to be appoint­
ed who was a resident of the subdivision. Though the' 
assistant marshall for the subdivision was not necessarily 
the actual enumerator, the assistant was directed by.the 
marshall: 

Any marshall could appoint a deputy or deputies to 
act in his behalf, if not inconsistent with the 
duties of his assistants, and such deputies could 
collect the social statistics, if so desired; but 
the marshall was made responsible for their acts 
in all cases. . Each assistant, having received 
his commission and taken the oath or affirmation 
prescribed by the act and forwarded a copy there­
of, duly authenticated, to the marshal of his 
dist.J::-ict, was required to perform the. service 
required of him by a personal visit to each dwell­
ing house, and to each family in the subdivision 
aSSi~311ed to him, and to ascertain, by inquiries 
made of some member of each family, if anyone can 
be found capable of giving the information, but if 
not, then of the agent of such family, the name, 
age, place of birth, and all other particulars 
required concerning each member thereof. . and 
to obtain all such information from the best and 
most. reliable sources; and when, in either case, 
said information had been obtained and entered on 
t.he .. schedules, it was to be immediately read to 
the person or persons furnishing the facts, to 
correct errors and supply omissions, wherever 
necE~ssary (Wright and Hunt 1900, 42). 
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Also, there were specific instructions on how to use the 
schedules to insure accuracy: 

Af'tE~r enumerating a family, farm, shop, etc. the 
entries made should be read over to the party 
giving the information, that all mistakes may be 
corrected on the spot, at that time. This is a 
rE!quirement of law (Wright and Hunt 1900, 155). 

Enumera.t:ors were compensated for_ a fully returned page, 
farm, or establishment. 

Al tholi':rh specific instructions were given to enumerators, 
there are many examples to prove the enumerators used their 
own jud9ment in .reporting the population. The instructions 
to the marshals in 1870 included: 

Each assistant will provide himself with a secure 
portable inkstand, good ink, and a sufficient 
numl::)er ·of··perls. All entries will be carefully 
d:r:i.E:d with the blotting paper which accompanies 
each portfolio. Each page of schedules will be. 
numl")ered in exact order as filled, and when filled 

. Use the greatest care to preserve your 
bla.n.ks from unnecessary exposure, and your sched­
ule:s, when filled, from loss. Let no one meddle 
with your papers. Carry as little finished work 
as possible, and as few schedules at a time as 
will answer your purpose. Always carry the full 
pa:nphlet of instructions (Wright and Hunt 1900" 
155) . . 

As far as possible, assistant marshals will have 
the first copy of the returns made from the sheets 
as they are completed, so. that the full returns 
may be sent to. the marshal at the earliest practi­
ca::)le moment after the enumeration closes. Great 
pains will be taken in comparing the copy intended 
for the census office with the originals, point by 
point. The second copy required by law will be 
forwarded to the marshall when completed. At the 
end of. each set of returns, the assistant marshall 
wi.ll certify that they were made according to law 
and instructions (Wright and Hunt 1900, 156). 

The instructions for the "Color" column were specifically 
different in 1870 than they had been in 1850. In the 1870 
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instructions," . an extension was made in the inquiry 
respectin~J "color" so as to distinguish the Chinese and 
Indians among the general population" (Wright and Hunt 1900, 
54). T1:.E~ category of "mulatto" was defined quite specifi­
cally: 

Color.- It must not be assumed that, where nothing is 
written in this column, "White" is to be under­
stcod. The column is always to be filled. Be 
particularly careful in repgrting the class Mulat-
to. The word here is generic, and includes 
quadroons, octoroons, and all persons having any 
pe:rceptible trace of African blood. Important 
scientific results depend upon the correct deter­
mincLt.ion of this class in schedules 1 and 2 
(Wright and Hunt 1900, 157). 

Though Indians with Black ancestry might not be listed as 
Indian in 1870 because of this instruction to census enumer­
ators, thisinscruction is useful in evaluating William 
Sherman"s: designation on the 1870 Federal Census. However, 
since he w'as listed on the 1850 Federal Census as "B" and on 
the 1860 Federal Census as "Mu", no assumption of Indian 
ancest~r can be made, while the designations do make clear 
that the census takers regarded him as being of at least 
partially African ancestry. 

In 1870, the instructions to the assistant marshals includ­
ed: 

Inciians.-"Indians not taxed" are not to be enumer­
ated on schedule 1. . Indians out oft:leir tribal 
relations, and exercising the rights of citizens 
und,=r State or Territorial laws " will be included. 
In ,:ill cases write "Ind," ,in the column for "Col­
or." Although no provision is made for the enu­
meration of "Indians not taxed," it is highly 
desirable, for statistical purposes, that the 
nun~Jer of such persons not living upon reserva­
tio::1s should be known. Assistant marshals are 
therefore requested, where such persons are found 
withi~ their subdivisions, to make a separate 
memorandum of names, with sex and age, and embody 
the same in a special report to the census office 
(Tv.~:!nty Censuses 1979, 19). 

The enUlTu:!rators for the 1870 census returns from North 
Stonington, Connecticut were diligent in keeping instruc-
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tions by enumerating the "Indians in North Stonington" and 
listing the families. The same was true for the Mohegan 
Tribe of Connecticut (recognized through 25 C.F.R. 83, 
5/14/1994) . and included: 

Indians of the Mohegan Tribe residing on their 
ResE~]:-vation in the Town of -Montville, County of 
Netlr London, State of Connecticut. Enumerated on 
thE! 19th day of July 1870 (U.S. Census, 1870b). 

The enU'rnE~rator went on to add: 

The: above enumeration is. I believe according to 
ins t:ructions page 12 Pamphlet of Instruction. 
ThleSE! 59 are living on lands of the reservation 
said lands divided among the, families and without 
thl= provision of right of sale. They are not 
ta:KE!d and don't exercise rights of Citizenship. 
SOmE! do a little farming and it is in a small way, 
th~ey prefer 'to get their living by fishing or 
laboring for others., 

There are more belonging to the tribe that are scat­
tered in other places. I believe all are more or less 
mixE!d with white and negro blood (U. S. Census 1870b):' 

Joslyn's third issue: 

Joslyn pointed out that on the Federal copy of the 1870 
census, bothpar~nts' "color designation had been altered" 

'. (Joslyn 1995, 1). Joslyn submitted a photocopy of the 1870 
~en~us return housed in the Connecticut State Archives. . 
Although he emphasized that the entry under "color" on this 
copy of the census. return for William Sherman was indeci­
pherable and altered, he pointed out that the ethnicity of 
Nancy Sherman was clearly listed as "I." 

Joslyn c.losed his cormnent by stating: 

WhE!1:her' and to what extent the Indian identity of 
ShE!:rman family members in the 1870 Federal Census 
cha.nges the evaluation of evidence regardi-l~_ 
criterion (e) of the Gold~n.Hill Paugussett 
Tribe's federal acknowledgment petition remains to 
be determined. I bring the aboye to BAR's atten­
tion, however, because it behooves the branch to 
dil:Lgently and accur?ltely describe and interpret 

70 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement GHP-V001-D006 Page 104 of 158 



Techni~al Report -- Final Determination -- Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe 

the data used in its decision making (Joslyn 1995, 
2) . 

The DeQ~rtment's resQonse to Joslyn's third issue: 

Joslyn's comment misstated the BIA's interpretation in the 
Proposed Finding of the entry for the William Sherman family 
on the 1870 census of Trumbull, Fairfield County, Connecti­
cut, and then proceeded to argue against the misrepresenta-
tion he created. . 

The fact l:hat in the 1870 Federal census entry for William 
Sherman's household, both adults' "color designation had 
been altered" (Joslyn 1995~ 1), was discussed on pages 47-48 
of the Proposed Finding. It was this very alteration, and 
inability to determine what the enumerator was trying to 
signify from the microfilm copy of the 1870 Federal copy cif 
the census, that led the BrA researcher to examine for the 
Proposed Finding the bound census volume in the National Ar-
chives, presumably the "copy" that was provided to·the 
Secretary of the Interior ::-.5 -ir:structed. 

As demonstrated above, it is unlikely that three copie~ of 
the 1870 Federal census ever existed. According to wright 
and Hunt. I' two copies were made, one sent to the Secretary· o:t:" 
the Interior who had charge of the 1870 Census, and the 
other to the Office of the Secretary of the State of Con­
necticut. (Wright and Hunt 1900~ 932). In fact, only two 
copies have been located. One is ih the Connecticut State 
Archive~:. The o"ther is in the National Archives, Washing­
tQ~, DC. 

The altE!rations for william Sherman on both copies of the 
1870 ceLSUS overwrite one indecipherable ethnic designation 
with anot:her indecipherable ethnic designation, and smudge 
the resl.:.lt:. Who' made the alterations on both the Federal 
and Com:.E~cticut copies of the 1870 census, and when they 
were mal:.E~, is unclear. The instructions to the marshals 
allowed correction at several points. The Proposed Finding 
gave some credence to the speculation that william Sherman 
may hav,e, been identified as Indian on the ·1870 Federal 
census n~turns (Proposed Finding 1995, 47). '. -

As the Proposed Finding stated, even if the smudged entries 
in William Sherman's "Color" column on the 1870 Census were 
"I," whlEther· this change had been made only on the Federal 
copy of the census utiliz.ed fort·he Proposed Finding or 
whether the BIA researcher had also used the equivalent 
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entry O~ the copy in the Connecticut State Archives, the 
entry \<7ould not have provided sufficient evidence for the 
petitio:1.er to have met criterion 83.7 (e) . 

The GHP petitioner does not claim Indian ancestry through 
Nancy (Hopkins) Sherman. The BIA researchers found no other 
indicat.ion of Indian ethnicity for Nancy (Hopkins) Sherman. 

B1~· researchers generally consider census returns as second­
ary sou~c~s. They are only indicators of ethnicity, because 
ascriptions for the same family or individual often vary 
from onE: decennial census to another. Census returns are 
good evid,ence for familial relationships and geographic 
communiti,es, because the census taker documented .,lAThe"t:e. 
people wlere living an,d with whom they lived. In 1850, 1860, 
and 1870, the census did not state familial relationships of 
househo1d members, however, so these are only presumptive. 

The cenBuses are considered as a secondary source for the 
ethnicity of a pe"rson or family enumerated. When the 
censu~ records consistently identify a family or an individ­
ual by thl= same ethnic or racial designat:"cn from one decade 
to another, the evidence is stronger than when the ethnic 
designation varies from one census to another. In this case 
the des~gnation of "III for an individual or a family on the 
1870 census was of limited value as evidence of tribal 
descent, No tribe was named .. No other.persons living 
nearby ~ll=re listed as "I ". Other censuses provided varying 
cie.:::igllations for the same persons 

The comments submitted by Mr. Joslyn were evaluated and 
because they were inaccurate, found to have little, if any, 
significance in the evaluation for the Final Determination. 
The genealogical issues before the BIA researchers in evalu­
ating thE: evidence for the Final Determinat.ion remained, 
those of determining: (1) who were the parents of William 
She'rman and, if it proved to be relevant, his wife, Nancy 
Hopkins; and (2) what was the American Indian tribe, if any, 
from which they descended? The petitioner and interested 
parties did not submit and the BlA researchers did not 
locate cLIly primary source documentation on either William 
Sherman's'or Nancy Hopkins's parents. 

GC':"'.:J2:N ~[ILL PAUGEESUKQ 

The oricinal GHP letter of intent to petition was filed by 
AureliuE Piper, Sr. (aka Chief Big Eagle) on April 13, 1982. 
Documents submitted with the petition show that Mr. Piper, 
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Sr. designated his son, Aurelius piper, Jr. (aka Chief Quiet 
Hawk) as the person responsible for the petition in a 
resolution submitted to the BIA on February 12, 1993. 
Documents in the petition and the BlA's administrative files 
supported the view that Aurelius pl.per, Jr. was the leader 
for petitioning purposes. On August 23, 1993, only days 
after t::le GHP received its first technical. assistance 
letter, the BIA received a letter from Kenny Piper (aka 

. ~1oc!l!?acl= Bear) outlining negative concerns about the group's 
leadership (Paugeesukq Meeting Minutes 1993, 1). 

A division appeared within the current membership. Aurelius 
Piper, Jr. claimed to represent theGHP and Kenny Piper 
claimed to represent the same tribe, but as early.3~July 
1993, th,e group represented by Kenny Piper had changed its 
name to "Golden Hill Paugeesukq Nation" (Paugeesukq). Both 
groups submitted identical membeJ;;'ship lists. In January of 
1995, thl:! Paugeesukq group removed Aurelius Piper, Jr. from, 
their mE~mbership list. The leadership split had no impact 
on the Proposed Finding and has no impact on the Final 
Deterniinat:ion under criterion 83.7 (e) because the individu­
als on both membership lists have the samE: denealogies. 

The Pau~reesukq comments: 

The PaU<~'E~esukq group submitted several documents in opposi­
tion to the proposed negative finding. On the last day of 
the comment period, February 5, 1996, Kenny Piper, claiming 
td repr·'2 semt the Golde.n Hill Paugeesukqs, requested that the 
BIA extend the time period for preparation of the GHP Final 
Determination. The request was denied because Kenny piper 
was not on record as the spokesperson of the original 
petition. 

The Depc!rtment' s Response to the Paugeesukq~ s corrunents: . 

Repiesentatives of the Paugeesukq group met with the BI~ 
staff several times, both before and after the Proposed 
Finding '. During these meetings, the BrA staff responded to 
questions and provided information about the petitioning 
process and how the BIA evaluated evidence. The Paugeesukq 
group had ample opportunity to conunent during the comment 

.per.~i0d.. The BIA researchers had supplied them with copies 
of all· fLlbmissions, comments and the GHP Response to the 
Technical Assistance Review. The BlA researchers supplied 
both thE! GHP and the paugeesukqwith documents found by the 
BIA researchers. Only documents protected by the privacy 
laws were withheld from the Paugeesukq group. 
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The Paugeesukq submitted documents, but none of the docu­
ments we~re new. All had already been submitted and had been 
t~ken into consideration for the Proposed, :;:;. .... ding. The 
Paugeesukq did not provide any analysis with these docu­
ments. Therefore, this submission did not have an impact on 
the Final Determination. 

The Paugeesukq argued that they had not been permitted time 
to review the materials from the GHP petitioner {Aurelius 
Piper, Jr.}, materials from the commenters, and materials 
that t::1e BIA had obtained from the State of Connecticut 
under :~reedom of Information Act (FOIA) request. The 
Paugeesukqs claimed that they could not participate in a 
meani~~ful way in the proceedings without copies of th~se 
documents. As mentioned 'previously, the Paugee~ukg group 
was supplied with materials from the GHP and commenters as 
quickly as the BIA received them. 

On May 4:, 1995, the BIA requested records from the State of 
Connect:ic:ut under FOIA. This FOIA request pertained to all 

- Indians in Connecticut. The state has sent to the BIA three 
separaU:! mailings of fewer than 50 pages each. The accompa­
nying lE:!tters were dated February 1., February 6, and Febru­
ary 15, 1996. None of the documents were new to the BIA 
researchers. These materials received from the State have 
not USE~(l in this Final Determination primarily because no 
new GHP materials were contained in the partial FOIA re­
sponse which the BIA received after the GHP response period 
had CICISE!d. Any other materials sent by the state on the 
FOIA r,=quest will not be opened until the Final Determina­
tion i:5 published. If the pe-titioner believes new evidence 
is fOUl:1d, they can request a hearing before the Interior 
Board 01: Ind~an Appeals under Section 83.1l of the acknowl­
edgment regulation . 

. Docum~t:ed Comments in Support of the Proposed Finding: 

CONNECTICUT'HOMEOWNERS HELD HOSTAGE (CHHH), submitted by 
Kenneth E. Lenz for the CHHH. 

JAMES l~~'NCH: 

On DecE~mber 4, i995, the BIA received Supplemental Points of 
Content;j,on to William Shermans [sicl Identity as a Member 
Descenc~~nt of the Golden Hill Indians, written by James 
LynCh, ::1istorian for the CHHH. The submission included 
documerr:ation, some new to BIA researchers. The four points 
of cont,l:!ntion were: 
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1. The Golden Hill fund [sic] received by William 
Sherman from Russell Tomlinson on 13 January 1876 
w'ere in fact a standard mortgage prOn,i:3::;c5ry note 
to a non-Indian. It was a legal, cornmon practice 
of the Golden Hill Overseers since 1831 to engage 
in such activities in order to maintain the sol­
vency of the fund. The properties involved in all 
these conveyances were in no manner considered to 
be 'Indian lands'. 

2. William Sherman's purchase, ownership and use 
~f the quarter [acre] of land in Trumbull had all 
the indices of non-Indian ownership such as ob­
taining a mortgage, paying taxes on his estate, 
~aying taxes on per~onal property, as well as a 
voting poll tax. 

3. That prior to his death in 1886 William Sher­
'll.an quitclaimed his mortgage back to the mortgage 
holder in aruanner consistent with other non­
Indians who, in the past had utilized these funds. 

4. That if William Sherman was an Indian as 
~laimed by the Petitioners he would have had to 
have petitioned the Connecticut General Assembly 
'Nith Russell Tomlinson in order to gain approval 
for the use of the funds to purchase the quarter 
acre. It was illegal for an Indian to enter into 
~ny contract (except rental agreements) such as a 
mortgage covenant (Lynch 1995b) . 

The docume,nt s presented were: 

1) An affidavit from Robert R. Goldberger, an 
attorney who was counsel to George Sherman, son of 
'Nilliam Sherman (Goldberger in Lynch 1995b) . 

2) Examples of quit claim deeds dated about the 
same time period as that of William Sherman's quit 
,::laim deed (Sherwood, Walker 1884 in Lynch 1995b) . 

3) Quit claim deed of William Sherman to Rowland B. 
IJacey (Sherman deed 1886 in Lynch 1995b) . 

4:) The Public Statute Laws of the State of Connecticut, 
IlJIay 1821. 
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5) Public Acts Passed by the State of Connecticut in 
th~~_ Year of 1876. 

6) 1. document labeled "Addendum A, Golden Hill Land 
CI'aJ,m" . 

7) Original .m~ps>.of Bridgeport, Connecticut circa 1890. 
8) Tax Assessment Lists of 1876, 1877, 1878, 1879, 
1880, 1881, 1882, 1883, 1884, 1885, 1886, 1887, 1888, 
and 1.889. 

9) Previously submitted documents included pages from 
Supplements A and B submitted by CHHH in June 1994 and 
on December 21, 1994. 

The CHHH comments as submitted will be answered in order. 

Lynch's l'irst comment: 

Lynch's comments addressed the historical background arid' 
legal issues relating to the tax and voting status of 
Indians in. Connecticut, among other things. He attached 
copies of the documents cited. From the evidence presented, 
Lynch concluded that William Sherman was not living as an 
Indian, that laws applying to other Indians did not apply to 
him, and that the money in the bank from the sale of Golden 
Hill lands was being lent as mortgage moneys in order to 
increase the funds for the use of Indians. 

The Depcu~'tment's response to Lynch's first comment: 

Indians attached to tribal lands were not voting citizens of 
Connect·icut during William Sherman's lifetime. However, 
persons of Indian descent who lived in the non-Indian 
community often did vote. William Sherman voted and paid 
taxes on the land he owned.' The BIA researchers do not find' 
that paying taxes in itself is evidence that William Sherman 
was not Indian. However, it is consistent with the majority 
of recor::ls on William Sherman, which treated him in a way 
more typical of non-Indians than Indians. 

After 1B49, there are records of overseers acting as trust­
ees of,l:noceeds from the sale of land that in 1842 had been 
used fOl~ a home for Nancy Sharpe, alias Pease, and Ruby 
Mansfield (see Proposed Finding, 35). There are records of 
mortgagE~ transfers and quit claim deeds involving funds. No 
Indian petsons are identified on these records, only land~ 
bought and sold. The only difference between these mortgag-
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es and quit claims, and other transactions which took place 
between non-Indians, was that the persons executing the 
deeds signed their names with the title noverseer" , or in 
the CaSE! of Lafayette Sherwood, as "administrator" (Sherwood 
Deed 1875 in Lynch 1995). Other deeds from 1849-1876 did 
not relate to the Golden Hill funds. These deeds listed 
only the name of the persons involved, including in one case 
the administrators -of an estate. The 1854 to 1886 deeds 
that included wording "Overseer of the Golden Hill" showed 
that ad:ninistrators sometimes controlled the Golden Hill 
funds. 

WilliaUl Sherman and Russell Tomlinson entered into a mort­
gage covenant in 1876. According to Orcutt's letters: 

HE! [Tomlinson] was elected Town Auditor in 1857, 
and a member of the Board of "Relief in 1858, in 
both of which he did much service, being a member 
of the Board of Relief at the time of his death. 
He! often served as moderator of town meetings. OI1-
th.t~ resignation of Hon. Dwight Morris, in 1860, he 
was appointed, but the State trustee of the fund 
for the benefit of the remnant of the Golden Hill 
Indians, which he retained to the time of his 
decease. He was Representative to the Legisla­
ture, Senator from the Fourteenth District, direc­
tor and President of the Naugatuck Railroad Compa­
ny, director in the Bridgeport Bank, also in the 
First National Bank and the Mountain Grove Ceme­
teljr Association (Orcutt's Letters in Response 
Appendix 8, 159). 

The mort9age covenant between Sherman and Tomlinson differed 
in no way from "comparable deeds of estate managed funds in 
Connecticut (s-ee Proposed Finding 1995, 47). William 
Sherman's 1876 mortgage did not list him as an Indian, or as' 
an Indian c.laimant to the funds he borrowed. There was no 
record of Tomlinson's requesting authority to use the Golden 
Hill funds that belonged to the State for the welfare of the 
Golden Hill descendants. In his capacity as president of 
the bank, as overseer"of the poor, or as overseer of the 
Golden Hill funds, Tomlinson lent Golden Hill moneys to 
William Sherman who mortgaged his property as collateral. 

In like manner I there are no explanations as" to why in 1886 I 
Sherman quit claimed the land to Mr. Lacey, an overseer of 
the Golden Hill funds. If it were Indian land, owned by the 
State, Sherman could not have owned it, and therefore, could 
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not haVE! quit claimed the property to Lacey without action 
from thE! State Assembly. Al though the Indian overseers had 
a great deal of latitude in their dealings with the Indians 
in their charge, and the investment of the moneys they 
administE~red, Lynch points out that: 

it was well within the parameters of authority 
granted to the overseers to engage in such invest­
ment: activities for the benefit and welfare of 
those under their care (Lyn~h 1995b, 1.2). 

These documents concerning the land transactions by them­
selves did not provide evidence either that William Sherman 
was a Pa.uSJUssett Indian or that he was not. They showed 
clearly that William Sherman was not living in a tribe or on 
tribal lands. Instead, they support the Proposed Finding, 
which found that the petitioner, whose members all claim 
Indian 1:.E~scent through, William Sherman, cannot show descent 
from a tis tori cal tribe. . 

Lyn ch 's second commen t : 

Lynch provided documents showing William Sherman was paying 
taxes and was assessed a poll tax for voting privileges 
during the years 1873 to 1885. 

The Dep,~rtment' s response to Lynch's second comment: 

During thE! same time William Sherman paid taxes and voted, 
Hurd in 1882 and Orcutt in 1886 claimed that Sherm.;'lI1 was of 
Indian dE!SCent. Taxation and voting privileges would not 
necessa:rily make Sherman a non- Indian. In- many other states 
Indians ~7ho paid taxes, voted. The fact that Sherman paid 
taxes and voted only reinforces what was already known about 
him: that he did not live on untaxed Indian lands in the 
1870' s andl 1880' s and that he lived among non- Indians. The 
documents further support the Proposed Finding's position 
that ShE~rrnan was not in a tribe in the 1870' s. 

These rE~cords do not provide data on William Sherman's 
ancestry or indicate whether or not he was Indian. They 
show only that he was not in tribal relations during the 
1870's and 1880's. 

Lynch's tl:lird commen t : 

Lynch said. that the petitioner's interpretation of William 
Sherman"s quit claim in 1886, discussed previously, left 
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many que~stions unanswered. For example, if Mr. Lacey, as 
Indian agent, retained title to the land after the death of 
William Sherman, why was George Sherman, William's son, 
being assessed for the land (Lynch 1995b, Assessment 1889)? 
The petitioner's claim that the land had been reservation 
land si::lce 1886 does not conform with the fact that the land 
was taxl:d. 

The Department's response to Lynch's third comment: 
-

Under c:::-iterion 83.7 (e), the question of tax status has some 
relevane,e. Criterion 83.7 (e) reqUires descent from a 
historic tribe. Information on the tax status helps answer 
the question: was the GHP land a reservation or viewed as 
Indian =.and held in trust by the State? If the land were 
held in trust by the State, it would not be taxable. Since 
the land ~.;as taxed, it clearly was not "Indian Country." 

In comparison, ~he reservation lands of Connecticut's 
Mohegan trib~ ~ ~~ not taxed prior to their being privat­
ized. ThE~ tribe petitioned the State Assembly for pri vat­
ization, leaving a clear paper trail. 

Lynch' s l~ourth comment: 

Tomlinscn, as overseer to the Golden Hill Indians would have 
had to :rE!c;[Uest permission of the State Assembly to purchase 
land for an Indian (Public Acts of Connecticut 1876). If he 
had purchased land, it would have remained in the overseer's 
name and would not have been taxed. However, if ToTl1,linson 
had used his discretionary powers to mortgage the fund's, he 
would not have been required to request th~ A3tiembly's . 
permission. 

The Depclr'tment' s response to Lynch's fourth comment: 

Other than in identifying Tomlinson as overseer, the 
Sherman-·Tomlinson deed was quite ordinary and was similar to 
other mortgages made by the president of the bank to other 
non-Indians in this period. Therefore, the 1876 transaction 
between Tomlinson and Sherman and 1886 transactions between 
Lacey and Sherman do not indicate that William Sherman was 
dealt with differently from any non-Indian mortagor. 

Many points in the CHHH submissions by Lynch did not direct­
ly perta~n to criterion 83.7(e). Others added to the 
overall picture of the legal and historical context in which 
William Sherman lived and in which these documents were 
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created.. The comments and documents supported the GHP 
Proposed Finding's conclusion that William Sherman was not 
an Indian and did not live in a tribe. 

PETITIc~mRfS RESPONSE TO JAMES LYNCH'S SUPPLEMENTAL POINTS 
OF CON"I1~~rION 

The petitioner's response to Mr. Lynch's comments (hereafter 
referred to as Response to Lynch) re-examined the written 
accounts in the county histories written by Orcutt and Hurd, 
and subr:1itted other documents to support the theories that 
these authors had espoused. Only one of the documents had 
not been previously submitted. It was a list of Senators 
and Reprl:!sentatives of Connecticut in 1875, and was used fo 
validatE~ the character of Dr. Samuel Beardsley of Trumbull, 
and to show that he was a Representative to the State 
Assembly in 1875. 

The Response to Lynch extensively examined William Sherman's 
obituar1', whose author remains unknown. The petitioner's 
ResponsE~ to Lynch speculaL-t.:G: 'dS to the obituary's author and 
the timing of the article: 

SinCE: "the death was sudden" on May 18, 1886, ask 
yourself how so much material for an obituary 
published the following day could have been ob­
tainE:d so quickly. The newspaper must have had a 
filE: on the Tribe and on William Sherman. When 
you read t~e obituary ask your'self if there is any 
dOl~t in the mind of the writer of the authentici­
ty oj: the information reported. In fact, when you 
read the obituary don't you get the feeling that 
this was well known material and that Sherman was 
a to7E:11 known public figure (Comments to Lynch, on 
Bric:igeport Standard Obituary May 19, 1886) 

The obituary stated: 

. ......... . \.. . 

He [Sherman] has for many years been the leading 
and almost the sole representative of the remnant 
of the once famous Golden Hill tribe of Indians. 
He \Y'as fifth in descent from Tom ShermaI1~ . c:le. 'last 
OWnE:J:' of the Golden Hill c:-cs.::rvation. . The 
salE~ of that reservation in 1802 created a fund 
which has been held and managed by the following 
persc)J1s successively as overseers, vis . (Com-
me.nts to Lynch, Bridgeport Standard Obituary May 
19,1886). 

~ .. 
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The obi:uary continued: 

Tru: fund was divided a few years since - the town 
of Trumbull taking charge of a part of it for the 
benefit of a few persons by the name of Sharp. 
The other part was mostly invested in a small 
plac1e in Nichols Farms as a home for William where 
he: ,Sl~ent his last days (Corrunents to Lynch, Bridge­
I2.Q~:-t Standard Obituary, May 19, 1886) [emphasis 
added] . 

In the Comments to Lynch, the petitioner stated: 

Wherever the reporter. got this information he or 
she clearly understood that the intention was to 
crE!ate a Tribal homestead. The writer uses the 
words "invested for" William Sherman. The report­
er does not use the words purchased by William 
Sherman. 

'The Dep§.rtment's response· '::::>'J;8':itioner ' s corrunents to Lynch 
and Lyn~~h I s comments: 

The BIA E~xamined the obituary for the Proposed Finding, but 
did not cite it in the report . The obituary listed Sher-' 
man's death date and age. Unlike most obituaries, it did 
not list his next of kin. It did not list relatives or 
parents ed.ther dead or alive. 

Much of t:he information in the obituary could have been 
0. taken dire:ctly out of Orcutt. That the author of the 

obftuary knew the authenticity of the material is pure 
conj ecture:. Nothing in the obituary states how or if the 
writer ha.d verified the contents or that William Sherman was 
a well-known public figure.' Obituaries are secondary 
sources a.t best and are frequently riddled with inaccurate 
statements so as to put the deceased in the best light. 
William Sherman, as caretaker of the cemetery, may have been 
well-known to the public. 

The Proposed Finding discussed the fund and the overseers of 
. that fund. The emphasized portion of the obiotu.1ry illus­
trated t::1at the land was an in-,-estment for the fund over 
which th,: overseers were appointed. 

The reporter of the obituary did not use the words, "invest~ 
ed for" as claimed by the. petitioner. The obi~uary reads 
"invested in a small place . as a home for. II 
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Nothinsr in this quote would lead a reader to think the 
purpose of the investment was "to create a Tribal homestead" 
as the petitioner's Response to Lynch says. Analysis of the 
William Sherman obitua:~:y found that it did not support the 
petitio;:1er's contention that William Sherman was Indian. 
The analysis supported the Proposed Finding's conclusion 
that ttl!: GHP was not descended from a tribe . 

. No n~w documentation was submitted that had not been previ­
ously I"1:viewed by the BIA researchers. The obituary con­
tains no new information. Sherman's diary/account book 
listed th,e names of many well-known public figures around 
Trumbull, Connecticut. He did odd jobs for them. However, 
no othe~ newspaper articles were submitted or fo~pd .about 
William Sherman; no other mention is made of him in contem­
porary histories, except Hurd and Orcutt. 

The rema.ining Comments to Lynch revisited arguments that had 
been rejected in the Proposed Finding about the Pease, 
Sharpe, Sherman family, and no new documentation was submit­
ted. -T1H:!Se comments in the Response to Lynch were not used 
.in the Final Determination. 

MS. KAT!IIJEEN SIEFER FOR CHHH, submitted by Kenneth E. Lenz. 

On Decem]:),:r 5, 1995, the BIA received Supplement C to the 
Genealo~~cal Points of Contention to the Petition by the 
Golden !fill Paugussett Indians for Federal Tribal Acknowl­
ed~ma.lt, written by a genealogist, Kathleen Siefer, on 
behalf of CHHH, supporting the GHP Proposed Finding. 
Siefer's comments spoke principally to the historical 
context in which the 19th Century documents had been creat­
ed. SpE!cifically, she compared the language of documents 
created at the same time for the Turkey Hill Paugussetts and 
the GoldE:11 Hill ancestors and found the language to differ 
in significant ways. She also looked for documented so~ial 
interaction between the two groups that would have indicated 
that thE! GHP ancestors [William Sherman and his family and 
cohorts] participated in a larger Indian community in their 
immediat.E: vicinity. 

Siefer's comments. Siefer argued that: 

. i) [I] t would be highly unusual for two parts of 
the same tribe, i.e. the Golden Hill and the 
Tur'kE~y Hill Paugussetts, to have no interaction 
for an entire generation even though located only 
ten miles apart; 
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2) 1~Lrkey Hill had continuous overseers, while the 
Goldem Hill did not, concluding that the Golden 
Hill teased to function as a tribe (Siefer 1995, 
4) . 

Siefer qu.oted Orcutt's book, The History of the Old Town of 
Derby. (~onnecticut, stating that Molly Hatchet was a typical 
Turkey Hill Indian. Based on her reading of Orcutt, Siefer 
'Daid that Molly Hatchet had live<:l at Turkey Hill and: 

some members of this group still remained in the 
area at least until 1871 when they petitioned to 
have land sold. This would have made them contem­
poraries of William ShermaIl, yet he never men" --, 
tinned having any contact with them in his diary 
(Siafer 1995, 4-5). 

Siefer also documented the families of some of the descen­
dants of: Molly Hatchet with the Turkey Hiil Overseer Re­
ports, ].,329 - 34, the Connecticut General Assembly actions, 
1818 and 1825, the Federal census returns of 1850 and 1880, 
and Superior Court, New Haven County docu~ertts, 1871. 

In total the documents described a small group of Indians 
called the "Turkey Hill Indians." 'They lived on 100 acres 
of land l:hat had been granted to them by the General Assem­
bly in 1680. Non-Indians had encroached on the land. In 
1818, this 100 acres lay in the town of Milford, Connecti­
clft. S'c>me 15 people lived there in three houses (General 
Assembly document' 1818 in Siefer 1995). Leman' Stone was 
overseer. He requested that the land not be sold in 1818, 
for therE~ 11l0uld not be funds enough to care for the wants of 
twenty pE~rsons without homes. Stone stated: 

Besidl:s these [15] your committee have .been able 
to find only five' others who are resident, in 
different places & have occasionally received, 
assistance from the Overseers of the Indians. 
They Cire all descendants of those for whose ',bene­
fit & lands were sequestered, but all, ,excepting a 
sinsrle instance, thro [sic], intermarriages with 
tho:::e who were not the obj ects of the original 

,g):"ant: (General Assembly document 1818 in Siefer 
199~;) '. 

In 1825, Overseer Leman Stone reported to the General 
Assembly oj: the sale of all but eight acres of' the land upon 
which thE~ Turkey Hill Indians resided; The money was placed 
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in an account for the use and benefit of the Turkey Hill 
Indians. In 1835, Turkey Hill overseer David Johnson 
reportE!<l to the Superior Court that from lbJ~ -'T835, he had 
paid expenses for David Hatchet, Joseph Hatchet and Garry 
Homus (Turkey Hill Overseer Reports in Siefer 1995) . 

Siefer submitted a copy of the 1850 Federal Census return of 
Derby, N~w Haven County, which showed that Elizabeth Hatchet 
was living with a Colburn family, age 17 (1850 Federal 
Census .in Siefer 1995), illustrating that the Hatchet family 
was still in Derby. 

Siefer included an 1871 document from fhe New Haven Superior 
Court in which Roswell MQses, Elizabeth Moses, Georgianna 
Moses, gliza Franklin and Lavenia Breckenridge 'claimed: 

that they respectively belong to and are descen­
dants and members of the tribe of Indians formerly 
located in. the town of Derby, and known as the 
Turkley Hill Indians - That said tribe own a cer­
ta~n piece of land located in said town of Derby 
as a place called Turkey Hill and in quantity 
aboult: seven acres, which said land lies in and is 
enclosed by land known as the Whitney farm and now 
oW!lIed by Sidney S. Downs of said Derby (Superior 
Cmu:1: document 1871 in Siefer, 1). 

The doculUient continued by stating that no one was residing 
there aruj none had lived on the land for. twenty years, and 
the only use for it was to rent it for agricultural purpos­
es. The Turkey Hill tribal members requested that it be 
sold so 1:hat t.he interest would yield a much larger annual 
income to the owners. They requested the moneys from the 
sale of 1:he land be divided between the members of the 
tribe. The law firm of Watrous C. Wakelee was the overseer 
of. the tribe. The court found: 

the aliegations in said petition proved and [sic] 
trUE:!" and that said petitioners are the sole 
survivors of said tribe entitled to any portion of 
said land known to said overseer and that they all 
ha\"e an equal, interest in. the same (Superior Court 
document 1871 in Siefer, 3). 

The court finding continued by stating that the overseer 
could: 
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invest the avails of such sale or any part thereof 
for the benefit of those entitled to the same or 
to deposit the whole or any part there0L not re­
invested in real estate in some savings bank. of 
this state and to apply the use interest and 
in~ome arising therefrom for the comfort and 
su:?port of said tribe in proportion that the 
individual members thereof shall be entitled to 
and if from necessitous circumstances of anyone 
or more of said tribe any portion of the principal 
to which such needy member shall be entitled shall 
bE~ r1equired to support and sustain him or "her, 
thE:!n said overseer shall be authorized and empow­
en'!d to use such part of the principal sum of said" 
neE'!dy members as shall be neccessary [sic]" to 
re=_i(~ve his her or their necessities (Superior 
Court document 1871 in Siefer 1995, 5). 

The overSE=er was instructed to make an accounting of what 
took placE=. Mr." Watrous C. Wakelee reported in September 
1871 thaI: he had sold the land to Sydney A. Downs for 
$1,000. The expense of the sale was $40, leaving $960. Of 
the remcd_ning funds, $720 were put in the Derby Savings bank 
in BirrniIl9ham in Derby, and $240 was invested in real estate 
in the city of New Haven: 

said investment in real estate being the purchase 
of an unencumbered lot of land situated as afore­
said by warranty deed duly recorded on the Land 
records of said town of New-Haven (Superior Court 
document 1871, in Siefer 1995, 6). 

The Depi;!rtment' s response to Siefer's comments: 

These documents show 'that the New Haven Superior Court in 
1871 idEmtified a group of Indians descending from .the 
Pauguss€'!tts living in the Orange/Derby/Ansonia area. "These 
three towns" fall within approximately a five-mile radius of 
each other, and are about 10 miles from Trumbull; 

The GHP ~laimed to descend both from the paugussetts and 
from Molly Hatchet. The documents submitted by Siefer show 
that thE!~e was another group of Paugussett Indians in 1810 
through 1871, living in the Orange/Derby/Ansonia area. The 
surname of Hatchet in the early 1830's documents would 
indicate, but not prove, that they were either descended 
from Mo+.ly Hatchet" or were her collateral descendants. The 
1871 Sup!=rior Court document clearly identified descendants 
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of the Turkey Hill tribe. The documents did not list William 
Sherman as one of them. 

In addi:ion, the Superior Court document also clearly 
identified the authority of an overseer to invest the funds 
of an Indian tribe in land with a mortgage to non-Indians. 
AlthouSJh the BIA re"i.~wed many documents concerning the 
Golden Hill funds,' there were no clear statements in those 
documen':s comparable to these. These documents provide 
further context to understanding the documents and transac­
tions naming William Sherman, and generally support the 
conclusions reached in the Proposed Finding that William 
Sherman did not receive lands and Golden Hill funds because 
he was an Indian. In addition, the absence of documented 
interaction between William Sherman and these well-document­
ed Indian persons who may have descended from Molly Hatchet 
adds fu:::-ther to our understanding' of Connecticut Indians and 
William Sherman's apparent lack of relationship to them .. 

PETITIONER'S RESPONSE TO KATHLEEN SIEFER'S COMMENTS 

In general, the petitioner's response to Siefer's comments 
(hereafter referred to as Response to Siefer) repeated 
undocurr~nted social relationships asserted in the original 
petition and already rejected by the BIA. The Response to 
Siefer attempted to disprove Siefer's contention that 
William Sherman was not part of Connecticut's Indian Commu­
nity. For example, the GHP attempted to connect William 
Sherman to Henry Pan, who they claim was Indian: 

Pan. Pan is Henry Harris Pan who comes to visit 
William Sherman as per his diary. The Pans origi­
nat:t: from the Corum Hill reservation which was led 
by a chief by the name of Pannee. The Pans are 
discussed briefly in the Tribe's submission of 
JUnE:! 20, 1995. After the Corum Hill reservation 
was sold the Pans migrated into Huntington, Newto­
wn and Monroe. Henry Pan·who was living in Monroe 
married Sarah Mauwee (Harris) and apparently 
migrated to Scatacook after 1850 (Response to 
S i E! f E:! r, 8). 

The Response to Siefer also attempted to connect William 
Sherman to the Oviatt family in Orange, New Haven County, 
Connecticut: 

On FE~bruary 27, 1853 in Orange a child by the name 
of ~~illiam Alfred was born to Patty Oviatt of 
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Orange and Beecher Sharpe of Huntington. By all 
accou.nts Beecher Sharp, half-brother of William 
Sherman, would be too young to be this Beecher 
Sharp. He may be John Sharp, father of Beecher. 
Note that according to footnote #11 on page 22 of 
the Technical Report that a Benjamin Roberts had a 
child. named Pat~y- Sharp and also note that in the 
photograph adjoining page 12 of the History of 
Orc!03e Billy Sharp is listed as the grandson of 
Aunt Icey who was the wife of Brien Oviatt. 
The:refore, William Alfred Sharpe is Billy Sharp 
(Response to Siefer, 9) .. 

The GHP submitted no documentation as evidence for the 
examples listed. 

The Depctrtment's response to petitioner's Response to 
Siefer' ~L comments: 

No docunl<:mtationsubmitted by the petitioner or found' by- tne 
BIA researchers substantiates the assumed connections made 
by the Response to Siefer. The footnote in the Technical 
Report did not show that Benjamin Roberts had a child named 
Patty Sharp. The quoted passage from the History of Orange, 
under the heading, "Families of Africans and Descendants of 
the naU:J'e Indians," implied a family connection between 
Benjamin Roberts and Patty Sharp, but no relationship was 
stated C?roposed Finding 1995, 22 nIl). The petitioner 
submitted no evidence to show that the "Patty Sharp" whose 
name followed that of Benjamin Roberts in the cited passage 
was the ::;ame person as the Patty Oviatt who had a child by . 
Beecher !,harp in 1853. The wide disparity in age (Benjamin 
Roberts· di'ed in 1850, age 79) makes a direct parent-child 
relationship between Benjamin Roberts and Patty Oviatt . 
questionable. 

In at least. one instance, the Response to Siefer eliminates 
a possib:_e connection unnecessarily. While the BIA does not 
accept the phrase, "Beecher Sharp, half-brother of William 
Sherman," as constituting a documented relationship, there 
is no rea:son to assume that the Beecher Sharpe, named by 
Orcutt aB a son of Nancy Sharpe, alias Pease (Orcutt 1886, 
43), would have been too young to ,have fathered a child in 
1853. Bet::cher Sharpe was not located on the 1850 census.' 
However, the 1853 residence of the father of· patty Oviatt's 
child in Huntington, Fairfield County, Connecticut, might 
imply a c:cinnection to the Charles Sharp who lived in Trum­
bull in lBSO. The sequencing of the names (Beecher, Nancy, 
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Charles) by Orcutt (Orcutt 1886, 43) at least implies that 
he beli.eved Beecher Sharpe to be the eldest of the three 
Sharpe siblings. If the tentative identification of Nancy 
Peas [Sharpe?], age 19, and Charles Sharp, age 17, in the 
household of Levi Peas in 1850 is correct (U.S. Census 
1850a, 320, Dwelling #5, Household #5), it is possible that 
Beecher Sharpe, named by Orcutt as the son of Nancy Sharpe, 
alias Pease, would have been aged about 21 in 1850, and 
easily old enough to father a child in 1853. However, the 
petitioIlE~r presented no documentation to showing the parent­
age of the Beecher Sharp from Huntington, Connecticut, who 
fatherl2d a child in 1853, nor any documentation linking him 
to William Sherman, the GHP ancestor. William Sherman's 
diary/account book never mentioned Beecher Sharpe (Sherman 
Diary/Account Book) . 

No dOCUmE!nts show that Pan was Henry Harris Pan, or that 
Henry Harris Pan was the same as Pannee. The diary/account 
book of ~lilliam Sherman contains one entry that may' show one 
visit from a"'lit::n.L"y Pan," but it is so difficult to decipher 
that it may say "Henry Peas," a known associate (Sherman 
Diary/~;c:c:ount Book, December 8, 1876). 

The assumptions made by the petitioner that Billy Sharp, who 
appears to be a young man in the 1900 picture of Aunt Icey's 
100th birthday in the History of Orange, was the same person 
as Willia.m Alfred Sharp, born in 1853 (who would have been 
middle-a.ged at the time the photograph was taken) are 
undocumE~n.ted. Though William Alfred Sharp could possibly be 
the Billy Sharp in the picture listed, the petit~on~r 
submitted no documents that connect William Alfred Sharp to 
William Sherman. 

The OVE:rseers assigned to Indian groups in Connecticut were, 
at best, inconsistent and idiosyncratic in their reporting 
practices. From a present perspective, the quantity and 
quality of surviving records varies from overseer to over­
seer over time and from place to place. However, the 
documentation submitted by Siefer illustrates that the 
Turkey Hill overseer in the 19th century actually did invest 
Indian funds in real estate in the city of New Haven for the 
benefit of.a group of people clearly and continuously 
identified as Indians. The GHP comments did not provide 
documentation or arguments to explain why, if William 
Sherman and the Turkey Hill Indians were both descended from 
the PaU<3'ussetttribe and from Molly Hatchet, they were 
treated so differently in the records. Even considering the 
variations of reporting by overseers, the arguments put 

'."'!. 88 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement GHP-V001-D006 Page 122 of 158 



_. 0 

Technical Report -- Final Determination -- Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe 

forth ty the petitioner lacked credibility in the face of 
the documentation submitted by Siefer and all the other 
documents received by the BIA which supported the Proposed 
Findinq. 

CONNECTICUT ATTORNEY GENERAL 

On DecE~mber 4, 1996, the Branch of Acknowledgment received a 
documented Response of State of Connecticut in Support of 
ProQosE~j Findings Against Federal Acknowledgment of Golden 
Hill PctJ9ussetts. The State of Connecticut (hereafter 
referred to as the State) reviewed the regulations under 
which t::le Proposed Finding was issued and summarized the 
Proposed Finding and the petitioner's claims. The State 
then addressed the conclusions reached in the Proposed 
Findinsr. 

The most pertinent portion of the State's comments were 
identif :l'ed under section I as "Lack of Documentation_ as to 
William Sherfuahis- Alleged Indian T;ribal Ancestry" (State of 
Connecticut Comments, 6). The State argued that the records 
availab=_,= for William Sherman did not support the petition­
er's claims that he was an Indian or a Paugussett Indian. 
Basing their conclusions on documents available for the 
Proposed Finding, the State summarized what it considered to 
be negative evidence: 

1. ~'lilliam Sherman's seaman's records did not 
idE!l1tify him as Indian, even though the same 
records identified other seamen as Indian; 

2. vhlliam Sherman's marriage recol'd did not 
id,entify him as Indian, his marriage was not to 
another Indian, and he was not married by Indian 
cu:stomj 

3. V1Tilliam Sherman did not associate with other 
Indians; 

4. vhlliam Sherman was seldom referred to as 
Indian prior to 1870. Later identifications of 
Wi11iam Sherman as Indian were inconsistent; 

5. The State is unaware of any documentation of 
Indian ancestry of William Sherman prior to a 
coun.ty history in' 1882 citation as "claimant" to 
Golden Hill funds; 
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6. There is no birth record to document William 
SlH::rman's parentage; and 

7, The parentage of Nancy Sharp, alias Pease, 
allE:ged by the petitioner to be William Sherman's 
mother, is not documented; therefore descent from 
a tribe cannot be claimed through the woman reput­
eel to be the mother of William Sherman. 

The Stclte submitted three documents: Exhibit A, an article 
written by Lewis H. Morgan in 1881; Exhibit B, a letter 
writter. by a staff attorney for the Indian Legal Services 
Inc. of the Pine Tree Legal Assistance, Inc. to Mr. Brenden 
Kellah,er in 1974; and Exhibit C, a copy of a United States 
Presid'2ntial memorandum on "Government-to-Government rela­
tions with Native American Tribal Governments" (State of 
Connecticut Comments 1995, Appendices A, B, and C) . 

Exhibi1: 1\,: The State cited Lewis H. Morgan's Contributions 
to Amet.l.can Ethnology, as evidence that the proposed' Finding 
was supported by establis::-.:d·ethnological practices. 

Exhibit B: Letter dated November 1, 1974 from David Crosby, 
attorney of Pine Tree Legal Assistance, Inc., Indian Legal 
ServicE:s Division, Machias, Maine (hereafter referred to 'a's' 
Pine Tree) to Brenden Kellaher, Natural Resource Department 
of the :onnecticut Department of Environmental Protection. 
StatemE~:nts in the 1974 letter that the Government found 
pertinE!::1.t to the finding include the following: 

a claim based on violations of the federal Nonin­
tercourse Act would probably founder on the issue 
of tribal existence . 

In. the case of the Golden Hill, for example, it 
appears that the overseer failed to comply with 
mand,:itory reporting requirements. The scanty 
evidence I have seen suggests that tribal funds 
weD9 lent on unsecured notes, and that interest 
waB I:ither not demanded or was neVer paid. A case 
in point is the "sale" of the 19 3/4 acre Trumbull 

'ReSf:Jrve in 1854. The consideration was, ··:c..r Q350 
(tlu: property had been bC'u~ht with tribal funds in 
1842 for $600), but the purchaser gave a purchase, 
mOnE:Y mortgage for the entire amount. The mort­
gage was discharged three years later, but it does 
not appear that any.interest was demanded or 
col J.e~cted . 

v .• 
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From 1821-1855 reports were to be filed with the 
COl.lnt;y Court for the county in which the Tribe 
resided. From 1855-1935 reports were to be filed 
with the Superior Court for the county. After 
1866 copies were to be filed with the appropriate 
town, and after 1881 a copy was also to be filed 
with the Secr~tary of the State . (Pine Tree 
Letter in State of Connecticut Corrunents, Appendix 
B) , 

Exhibit C: Presidential 'Documents, dated April 29, 1994, 
and produced in the FEDERAL REGISTER May 4, 1994. 

The Depa];:,tment' s response to the Attorney General connnents: 

The State's interpretation of the parentage of William 
Sherman, Nancy Sharpe, alias Pease, and Ruby Mansfield was 
not documt:mted. The State's arguments generally were meant 
to support the conclusions of the Proposed Finding. 

It is irrelevant whether C:":TIct 
were mar:d.E!d by Indian custom. 
great majority of Connecticut's 
the laws of the state. 

William Sherman and his wife 
By the 19th century, the 
Indians married according to 

Except for quoting a footnote in Orcutt's 1886 history that 
was not cited in the Proposed Finding, the State did not 
document its conclusions that William Sherman was not 
demonstrated to be descended from a historic tribe, relying 
on the Proposed Finding's conclusions on this matter. The 
State noted that the footnote indicated that Orcutt, him­
se-If, had doubts about the accuracy of his local history, 'a 
point not made in the proposed Finding: 

Furthl:rIDore, Orcutt regretted that he could not 
devot;f: an additional year's work to his 1886 book, 
"by 1irhich a degree of completeness, somewhat 
satisfactory, might be attained." Orcutt, 1886, 
Prefc,cE~ 1st page. This was espec'ially true of the 
genea.logies, he stated (State of Connecticut 
Conunents, 8n). 

" .... 

For more information on the diflcussion of Orcutt's history, 
see this :report, pages' 42 -48. 

State of Connecticut's Exhibit A: The government research­
ers'did not find this mat~rial pertinent in evaluating the 
evidence f~r the Final Determination, in that the State of 
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Connecticut's Exhibit A was not relevant to criterion 
83.7(e}. 

State of Connecticut's. Exhibit B: The State did not submit 
any baCk9I"ound information or other correspondence with the 
Pine Tree letter. The State referenced the letter in the 
narrati VI= portion of its comments under tribal identity. 
The Pine Tree letter mentions an enclosed report which was 

. ·n:>t submitted as part of the documentation. Both background 
informatioIl and the enclosure report would have been helpful 
to better evaluate the letter's importance. 

During th!:: 1970' s, Pine Tree Legal Assist·ance Native Ameri­
can diviBion represented the Penobscot in Maine k their 
land cla.:l.m:s. During this time, the Native American division 
of Pine Tree Legal Assistance investigated many of the New 
England entities. The issues decided in that case are part 
of the ll::gal precedent for the establishment of the Federal 
Acknowledgment Process 1978. The Penobscot case concerned 
tribal identity. -David Crosby, a staff attorney for Pine 
Tree Le9al Assistance, Inc., researched many of the Connec­
ticut groups. 

Funding for Pine Tree included funds appropriated by Con­
gress. It.s cases were sometimes administrated through the 
Native j;me!rican Rights Fund, and sometimes through the Pine 
Tree Native American division of Pine Tree Legal Services. 

D'alfia Cr'osby was an informed individual who apparently 
either ba.sed his statements on a study of, or himself 
studied, t:he Golden Hill fund records and found numerous 
irregulcllcities in their administration. His conclusions did 
not difff:r from the government's conclusions in the Proposed 
Finding concerning the use of the same funds. Unfortunate­
ly, without the report referred to in the letter, we have no 
way to evaluate how Crosby arrived at his conclusions and 
th~ specific evidence he based them on. 

State of Connecticut's Exhibit C: This record instructs 
Executive Departments and Agencies how to deal with federal­
ly reco3nized tribes. This exhibit was not pertinent to 
criterion 83.7(e) and was not utilized in evaluation of' the 

... e.v.:'r:,~Q.ce: for the GHP Final Determination. 
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Petiti~~er's Response to the Connecticut Attorney General's 
Comment:.:~: 

The petitioner's response to the Connecticut Attorney 
General's (hereafter Response to AG) comments were delineat­
ed in four major groups: 

1. The Attorney General Comments go to issues 
beyond the expedited, . limited review of § 83.l0(e) 
by asserting a "continuous tribal existence" 
requirement is [sic] a "fundamental prerequisite" 
to ~ederal recognition and a proper factor consid­
ered in the BrA" denial. The Attorney General 
Comments use this erroneous argument as a bas;.s- to 
dil:ICUSS evidence relating to mandatory criteria 
(aI, (b), and (c) regarding tribal identity and 
existence, community relations, and political 
authority, respectively. 

The petitioner's -Response to the AG's first point also 
argued that: 

This 1994 revisions reversed the order of the 
mandatory criteria, so that the "most fundamental" 
requirements are stated first. 59 Fed. Reg. 9280, 
9288 (1994). Hence, criteria (a) through (g) are 
fundamental to federal acknowledgment and require 
th~: element of continuity; criterion (e) does not. 
J.n fact, under the regulations, modern-day records 
idE!nt.ifying present members or their ancestors as 
de13ce~ndants of a historic tribe are "acceptable" 
evidence of criterion (e). 25 C.F.R. § 83.7(e) (1). 
Continuous documentation tracing the ancestry of 
the current members dating to the earliest history 
of the group is not required. 59 Fed .. Reg. at 
92H8. 

The prioritization of the seven mandatory 
criteria enumerated in § 83.7, with the most 
funjamental criteria listed first, also is consis­
tent with the addition of § 83.l0Ce), which per­
mits a preliminary denial of a petition upon an 
exp=dited evaluation limited to criteria (e) 

. t]:u:ough (g), where the evidence "clearly estab­
lis:1es" the petitioner does not meet one of 
the least fundamental criteria. See 25 C.F.R.§ 
83.10(e). The Proposed Finding and the Attorney 
General Conunents fail to discuss this issue. 
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2. The Attorney General Comments erroneously 
evaluate the Tribe's evidence under the recogni­
tion regulations, arguing for denial·,-cf the Golden 
Hill Petition based upon the absence of certain 
types of documents under the "little or no evi­
dence/clearly demonstrate applicable to a 
§ B3.l0(e) review." 

3. The Attorney General comments erroneously 
assert that Golden Hill has not presented accept­
able evidence establishing the descent require­
mE!::1t, relying comple'tely and entirely on the 
fi::1dings and conclusions of the proposed Finding 
in detail, countering with specific facts and 
evidence in the Golden Hill Comments. Further, 
ttl!: current position of the Attorney General 
di:re'ctly contradicts prior determinations by the 
State of Connecticut and the Attorney General 
rE!co'gnizing Golden Hill as an indigenous Connecti­
cut 'Tribe,' and recognizing the current members, 
and ancestors, including William Sherman, as 
dE!SClendants from the historic Paugussett Indian 
Nation. 

4. The Attorney General Comments rely upon erro­
neous facts and unpersuasive, irrelevant authori­
tiE:s to support the argument that Golden Hill's 
evidl:nce fails to establish continuous tribal 
ex~stence. This evidence is irrelevant and 
pre:mature to the Proposed Finding issued pursuant 
to an expedited, limited review under § 83.l0(e) 
(RE~:Sl?onse to AG 1996, 3). 

The Deml:rtment' s response to the GHP Response to the Attor­
ney Gen§!:ral' s comments: 

Th·e arguments made in the first point of the GHP Response ,to 
the AG an: 'addressed in Appendix C. To recap the points 
which tl'u: BIA made in that locus, a conscientious genealo­
gist must understand the context in which records were 
created. The genealogy of a group must include a broader 
look at its community, especially when discrepancies arise 
in documelltation,or lack of documentation discourages a 
firm conclusion. 

The reaE:OIl the Proposed Finding did not discuss the issue of 
importar:.cE: of criterion 83.7 (e) is that the petitioner's 
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statements concerning the relative importance of criterion 
(e) arE! incorrect. All seven criteria are mandatory. The' 
order of the criteria, 83.7 (a) through83~'1 {gY," remairied the 
same in the 1994 revision as had been the case in· the 1978 
regulat.ions (25 CFR Part 83). No changes in prioritization 
among t.he seven mandatory criteria were introduced by the 
1994 revision. 

In addition, descent from an Indian tribe is fundamental to 
continuous existence. Without tribal descent, continuous 
existence as'a tribe can not occur. However, not all 
petitioners who can show tribal descent., can arso show 
continuous existence.' 

The pet:.tioner references 59 FEDERAL REGISTER 9280 and 59 
FEDERAL REGISTER 9288 for its contention that criterion 
83.7(e) (descent from a tribe or tribes which have amalgam­
ated) iH no longer important since the regulations were 
revised in 1994, 

The 59 FEDERAL REGISTER 9280 passage states: 

Chan~Jes are made to clarify requirements for 
acknowledgment and define more clearly the stan­
danis of evidence (59 FEDERAL REGISTER 1994, 9280 
(IS' 94) ) . 

The explanation of the revisions of the language in criteri­
on 83.7(e) states: 

Section 83.7(e) 
Revisions: The order in which the require­

ments are presented' has been reversed, in order to 
statE! the most fundamental requirement first. The 
pa:t:Cl9raphs describing evidence which may be used 
to demonstrate ancestry have been revised to be 
consistent with each other and to state clearly 
that they should provide evidence demonstrating 
that the present membership of a petitioner'is 
descended from a historic tribe (59 FEDERAL REGIS­
TER 1994, ~288 (1994). 

\Nothing i.n either of these stat.ements refers to changes in 
the relat.ive importance of the criteria. The standards of 
application, not the criteria, were clarified, not changed. 
ElsewherE~ in the revised regulations, it clearly states: 
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ThE=se regulations have no preemptive or retroac­
ti VE~ effect. A maj or purpose of the revisions has 
bE'E=rl to address the clarity of language and gener­
al draftsmanship of the regulations (59 FEDERAL 
RE'GISTER 1994, 9292 (1994)). 

The FecjE!I~al Government's response to the public comments on 
the proposed, revised regulations immediately preceding the 
final H!vised regulations in the FEDERAL REGISTER states: 

ThE! regulations have not been interpreted to 
rE:!q[uire tracing ancestry to the earliest .history 
of a group. For most groups, ancestry need only 
to be traced to rolls and/or other documents 
created when their ancestors can be identified 
clearly as affiliated with the historic tribe. 
Unfortunately such rolls and/or documents may not 
exist for some groups or where they do, they may 
not be identified as Indians. In such instance 
tho: petitiorier's task is more difficult as them 
mu,:;t find other reliC::::~0· c· .. idence to establish the 
nE!Cessary 1 ink to the historic tribe. 

Weight is given to oral history, but it 
should be substantiated by documentary evidence 
whl~rever possible. Past decisions have utilized 
oral history extensively, often using it to point 
thE:! 'way to critical documents. Tribal records are 
alBO given weight. In fact all available materi­
alB and sources are used and their importance 
we~ghed by taking into account the context in 
wh:.ch they were created (59 FEDERAL REGISTER 9288-
92B9 (1994)). 

To reiterate, the 1994 revisions changed the order of the 
types 01= <~vidence listed wi thin 83.7 (e), not the order of 
all of the criteria. All seven criteria were and are 
mandatory. 

In addit.ion, the Federal Government's response to the public 
comments: on the 1994 revised 25 CFR Part 83 regulations 
quoteda.bove clearly states that a petitioner's present-day 
members:t.ip need only trace back to the point .. 'wh ';r . their 
ancestors can be .identified clearly as affiliated wi th the 
historic tribe. For the Golden Hill, that point would be 
when Ru]:::y Mansfield and Nancy Sharpe, alias Pease lived in 
Bridgeport on' land purchased for them as Golden Hill claim­
ants in the 1840's. They. have failed to do so . 

. \:. 
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The petitioner's second point raised by the petitioner in 
the Response to the AG concerns how the absence of evidence 
is treated in the evaluation of acknowledgment cases. This 
point ha.s been fully discussed on ages 17-18 of this report. 

The petitioner's third point to rebut the State AG discusses 
the State of Connecticut's recognition of the Golden Hill as 
a "state indigenous people" (Response to AG 1996, 24), in 
contrast t.o the Federal government's denial in the Proposed 
Finding. The Federal government's regulations for Federal 
acknowledgrment consider state recognition under criterion 
83.7(a}. but do not treat it as dispositive in Federal 
acknowledgment cases. The Federal government has a respon­
sibility to acknowledge Indian tribes with continuous 
existence. Requirements for recognition of Indian tribes 
establish.ed by individual states at any given time vary 
widely an.d are not binding upon the Federal government. 
Additionally, the issue of state recognition is not perti­
nent to criterion 83.7(e). 

CONCLUSIONS 

The purpose of the Federal acknowledgment regulations is "to 
establis~ a departmental procedure and policy for acknowl­
edging t:1at certain American Indian groups exist as tribes" 
(25 CFR 33.2). The "Standards of Evidence" section of the 
regulati.ons explains further that: 

The purpose of the acknowledgrment process is to 
ackno'wledge that a government-to-government rela­
tionship exists between the United States and 
tribes which have existed since first contact with 
non-Indians (25 CFR Part 83, "Standards of Evi­
dene,: and Stringency of Requirements," 59 FEDERAL 
REGISTER 9281 (1994». 

The BIA researchers have the responsibility to ensure that 
groups acknowledged under 25 CFR Part 83 meet the mandatory 
criteria. In the case of the Golden Hill Paugussett peti­
tioner, the BIA clearly established that the GHP failed to 
meet mancial:ory criterion 83.7 (e), descent from a historic 
Indian tribe. 

Section H3.10(e) was added to the revised regulations in 
1994 to allow expedited processing of petitiol)s that could 
clearly not meet criteria 83.7(e) ~ 83.7(f), or 83.7(g). The 
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acceptable evidence that can be used for criterion 83.7(e) 
include!s: 

(i) Rolls prepared by the Secretary on a descend­
ancy basis for purposes of distributing claims 
money, providing allotments, or other purposes. 

(ii) State, Federal, or other official records or 
ev:Ldl:nce identifying present members or ancestors 
of present members as being descendants of a 
his':orical tribe or tribes that cOmbined and 
functioned as a single autonomous political enti­
ty. 

(iii} Church, school, and other similar enrollment 
records identifying present members as being 
descendants of a historical tribe or tribes that 
comhined and functioned as a single autonomous 
political entity. 

(iv) Affidavits of recognition by tribal elders, 
leaders, or the tribal governing body identifying 
pn~sent members or ancestors of present members as 
being descendants of a historical tribe or tribes 
that combined and functioned as a single autono­
mous political entity. 

(v) Other records or evidence identifying present 
menl~ers or ancestors of present members as being 
descendants of a historical tribe or tribes that 
conuJined and functioned as a single autonomous 
political entity. 

In the case of the petitioner: 

i) The Secretary never prepared rolls for the GHP. 

ii) The Federal and State governments had census and over­
seer reports. Willi.am Sherman was never listed on them as 
descended from a historic tribe. He was on one of the four 
Federal census reports as Indian, and was possibly listed as 
Indian on a second of the four Federal census reports, but 
the censL.S does not show tribal descent. There were many 
Indians Cof many kinds in Connecticut at the same time 
period. He~ was never listed on an overseer report as being 
descended from any tribe, only as having borrowed money, for 
which thl: provided collateral, from. the fund established to 
benefit the Golden Hill remnants. 
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iii) Th:re were no contemporary church, school, or other en­
rollments that listed William Sherman as a member of or 
descendant of a tribe. The church record of his death 
specifically referenced Orcutt, a local historian, as a 
source for its information. 

iv) The GHP documentation concerning William Sherman con­
tained no affidavits of other tribal leaders made during 
William Sherman's lifetime. No other Indian documents from 
the Stat,e of Connecticut ever mentioned William Sherman as 
an Indian of any kind. 

v) The It::ast acceptable form of documentation, two county 
historiE~:::, described William Sherman as a remnant of the 
Golden Hill tribe, but provided internally inconsistent 
genealosrical information. 

With no other contemporary documentation, the BIA concluded 
in the Proposed Finding that the two county histories, the 
least accE~ptable forms of genealogical documentation, 
coupled with two census returns that did not list a tribe, 
and a cturch death record that referred to one of the county 
histories, were not sufficient evidence acceptable to the 
Secreta.ry to establish tribal ancestry for William Sherman. 
When thl::se documents were weighed in combination with all 
the other records: vital records, other census returns, and 
an abSenCE! of overseer documentation of Indian interaction 
or listinq of William Sherman, there remained little or no 
evidence Eo indicate tribal descent for the petitioner. 

The petitioner failed to document, using acceptable genea­
logical me·thods, that William Sherman and his descendants 
were descended from a historic tribe, or tribes that com­
bined and. functioned as a single autonomous pOlitical 
entity. Acceptable genealogical methodology requires that 
links must be made generationally to connect persons to 
their ancestry. The BIA researchers attempted to link the 
present·-day membership of the Golden Hill to an Indian 
tribe. The marriage of a Tinney, who has not been document­
ed as a Golden Hill or any other kind of Indian, to the 
granddauljhter of William Sherman, only applied to some six 
members of the present-day group. The Tinney-Sherman 
connection does not affect the outcome of the Final Determi­
nation, because no tribal ancestry was shown in that in­
stance. 

One of the arguments used by the petitioner in the Response 
to the Proposed Finding was that the BIA was incorrect to 
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limit tlH= Paugussett tribal entity to just the Connecticut 
records of the two families that migrated to Golden Hill. 
The BrA rl~search for the Proposed Finding was not limited to 
the peoplE= who were called renmants of the Golden Hill. The 
BIA resE!archers did extensive research attempting to find 
the Pau9ussett Tribe, if it existed -in the time period of 
William Sherman's adult life (see Proposed Finding, Techni­
cal Report 17-18, 22, 26, 27, 30-31). 

No new evidence has been submitted by the petitioner or by 
third parties, or located by BIA researchers, to clarify who 
William Sherman'S parents were, or who his grandparents 
were. 'I'hE!re remains no documented Paugussett Indian ances­
try, or any other kind of documented Indian ancestry for 
William Sherman, and thus, none through him for the present­
day membE!I"S of the Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe, the peti­
tioner. 
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We believe ehae e~e pre terence q~an~ed ~y ~~e ~C~ ~~ -~_ 
. ···-S4!; 

·.,hO are &c~u41 rum.bet"1 ot an Indian trlbe 11 eonst;:.e-..:e~Qt\al · ... --e-
";:-:;0 v. Mane,,;;,. 411 U.S. 5B (l97~). r.-.os. pre!anncu !o;- -
:~d:'4r.S. ho~.v.r. t;~ae do not dapend. even ;,~ p4~, upon =«-~e-­
ShlP i:l·~n :nd;4ne:-:.:> •.. but; rA~'ler deplnd SOlel~oupon bei.nqa­
person 0_ ~~e _ndlan racl41 group. arc noe jUStl.lad under e~a~ 
dlelSlon. And 4C:~t":;,~qly muse b. examined under Supreme C~~-­
precaden~ qover:l;':lg t~. usa ot rac~41 class;,!~c4tions. -. 

S.c~~~n 5J41(c) ot t~a Ac~ pt"Qvid •• t~&C ~e S.eret&~1 o! 
~~uc4t;,on ·sr.All q;,ve 4 praterenca ~o Indians 10 all parson:lel 
aC~lons· vi~~ln e~e O:!. Sac~ion 5351(4) in ~u~ detiries 
-1:'Id;'an- tor pur.:oses ot t!'la Ac~ as inelud:':'Ig any ind.~vi.du4:' 0.,1':: 
is: 

(AI & ma~er ot an !:'Idian ~=iba, band, or o~er 
or;anlzed. q~~u~ ot :~dians (as detined by ~e Indian 

~ - - e:-:'::::a, band 0:" o~~er or;anized group), includinq ~ose 
o :nd:.an ~ri:es. bands, or q=oups ~&rainated·.~ce 1940 

and ~~=s. ~.c:q~;,z.d by t~e State in vhich ~~ey reside, 

(S) a descer.dar.~. ::'1 ~~e tirs~ or second deqre •. ot an 
individual d.scr;,~ad i~ s~paraqraph (A), " 

eC) ~onsid.r.d by ~~. Sec~.e&ry of ~~e In~.rior ~o b. 
an :nc~an !:r Any pUr?0se, 

(0) an £ski:o. ~leu~, or o~~.r Alaska Saeive, or 

(El is d.~.~ined ~o be an Indian un~.r r.qula~ions 
Fr:=ulqa~.d by ~~. Secr.~&ry (ot tduca~:'onJ atter 
c~nsuleation vi~h ~e N&~~onal Advisory Council on 
:nC:'An tduca~lon. 

T".he inc:!.usion in s~ .. ~ion (C) of any in<1ividual "ho is 'con­
sidered by 1:.b. Secretary ot e..~e Interior t~ be an Indian tor any 
pIJt'j)O •• ' in .tf.~ 1ncQrporat .. into Se~1on 5::1'1 ~'1e det1."1it:'cr. 
0:' ·Indlan' contained in 2' C.F.R. 5.1 (1988): 

Ca> Kam=ers ot any recoqnized Indian t~ibe noy und.r 
rederal J~risdictiQn; 

(b) oe.c.ndan~s of sueh members vho vere, on June 1, 
1934, r •• iding vi~in ~e pr •• ent boun<1arie. ot any 
IndiAn re.ervae:.on: 

# 

ec) All oehers of one-hal! or more India~ blood ot 
e:-i~es indig«nous t~ ehe vnieed S~&~es; 
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(~I rsx~=cs ~r.~ o~~.~ 4bcr:q:~&1 peo~:. ot A!aSXI: 4r.~ 

ce) For ~"'o (21 ye4~s o~ un~~!. t::. osage T::-ibe h,lS 

~Or=l&l:'y orqan:.zed ..... hic~.v.r c::llles :;:s~. ef:eC:~:'I' 
Sept:em.ber 15. 1986. a person 0: a~ le.st: one-~a:-':e= 
ceqr •• Indian ancest:~ of ~. Osaq. T=:~. of I~d:a~s 
~"o •• rolls vere closed by an Ac:~ of C~nq~.ss. . 

:~I.:S. ;:".e Ac':. i:'\c:.· .. IC!.s "'1.':.!".in ~. Qet:.n:'~;'::l o[ ·:~d:a:-;· ':...~.=.e 
e.ass:.::a~:ons e::ae are purely rae!al: 'a de.cendan- ;~_, 
···s· c· s.c-nd .... - , II lIIa-'" II . .-. - ••••• .. -- ~ " - .... q.... o. ........rs 0 .. or;a::~zed :~d:a:-: q==l.:':s 
(ev:_en~.y .... le!'\Ol.:~ reqar~ 1:0 ehel!" continued =embersn:.~ 1.:1 an 
o=;an:.zed Indlan q=~UP). ·~sx~mo. Al.ue, or ot:her Al.sxa ~a~'v .. 
and. t!".::uqn the :,:,\c0r?0raeed Int:.rior requlat:ions, persons =c!' 
on.-~al! c:- :nore :::c:!:.an blood.· 2 S.c'!ion 5351 (.) (B) and (0)' ~ 5 
C.:.iL 5.!.e!:)), (cl and (d).) . ~ 

Rae:!l c!a'ss:.!:'c:at::'o:-:s a:-e eonst:i1:u1::'onal·ly SUlpec,:. 
?e:-1I0C0e l. M,m / • ;: :-:UJ. v. rUDlY, 442 U.S. 2'6, 272 (1,979) (.A 
:-&c:41 c!.assl!:.eat:cn. reqar~!e.s of purpor-:.ed moeivation. ;,S 
~=.s~~~':!v.ly inva!i~ and can b,.~ph.ld only ~pon an 
.x~~aor:~~a:y jus~:!~:a~~on.-): Bollin; v. Sb:r:'. ](7 0.5. ~97. 
499 (1934). Alt:'::\,;C;!': Indians enjoy & sp.e~al POS1~ion under t!':. 
la ..... ~:':. Supreme c~~~~ has eQnsis~.n1:1y .mphasized t:ha~ 
~ac~ally-~ased l.qlslat:ion· is no~ aU1:omatically .xemp~ !~~= 
e=r.s~:~u:!onal prohi:i:ions on raeial di.c~i:ninat:ion si=~ly 

2 In an e!!ort t~ qiv. tn. ineorporat.d, r_qulations a 
(:~r.s:~::J:ional cons~ruc:tion, ..... consid.red wh.tner en. ret.renc. 
:.n 25 C.r.R. 5.1(c) :0 -t!"U:i •• indiq.nou. t= t.be United S~at:.s­
could be eonst:-uad as a tribal, rat:h.r t:han & racial. 
c:.!.assi!!.cat:ion. W. concluded t:.hat it coul~ not: it is, rath.r. 
a mere li:itat:ion on ~~e racial ela.aitieat:ion of ~os. p.rsons 
ot 'one-half or more Indian blOod,' not: a •• parat. requirement o! 
~~i~al =.~.rship. Any o~.r r.adinq .... oul~ max. en. ·:.mb.rshi?' 
lAtlq\Jaqe ot 2S C .. T.R. 5.1(a) mere surplusaqe.. . X 

3 W. not. ehat ~~. inc:o~oration of ~. Int:.rior r.qulat:ions 
il'1:0 S.ction !l!l r.sults in the inclusion ot evo eauqori .. ot 
'cfueendants,' •• en d.t1tl.d in sliqhtly di!!.r.nt t:.r.u. Compa::'. 
!Sect:ion 5351(4) (IS) and 25C.r.R. 5.1(b). S1.mil.arly, th.n art 
1:~ro sliqhtly d1tt.r.nt [Iki:llo eateqori .. <felin.d in S.ction 
~j)Sl(4' (0) and 25 C.T.It. 5.1(d). For pur;c ... ot this opinion, 
",e tr.at the duplieat. d.finition. a. ~Ul\c:':i~nally equivalent: 
.,11. moreov.r, c:onst:itut:. racial claaal.t1catl.ons. ' 

In particular. 2' C .. T .. R .. '.l(b) il not .&v.~ by its 
re'erenc. to r •• i~enee ·viehin ~e pr ••• n~ boundari •• ot any 
Indian re •• rvation:' el'1at r.ter.nce i. to re.id_nee a •. , UH, # 

,snd do •• not i:pose any requirement: tha~ C'~:':".nt: ban.~ c:a:,~.s o. 
':;~jl pret.r.nc. resl.d. on an Ind..i.an re •• rvac;,=n. 

- J -
I ' .. .J. !; j ...J. 
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:ecaus. :~e ~cq:s~a::=~ ~~volves or eene(~:s r~d~ans. ~ 
;.;uo;,:;g;::;;o v. Y.A!c;,~a r;-.:l.:.r "''::;';-:. 439 r.:.5. 463. soo-'J!. (:3' 
~ v. ~, 429 U. S. .:. 9 O. 209 n. 22 (19 -; !i 1 (1& ... s "'h' _... • ",. 
~~scri~ina~e "'t~~ ~espe~~ ~J Ind.:.ar.s on =a=~al qro~r.cs-~;~ _. 
·:r.:est:.on,u,l. c:::ns~:,:·.:::.:::~al.;.:'I')' -. 

!n :10t-;;n v. t:ancAr;., 4 .. 7 U.S. SJS ( .. 314), ::1e S\,;~=e:"e _'''._ 
~F~eld t~. !ndLan preference con~a~~.d i~ ~~. Ind4an ---~-
~.or~aniza~;.on AC: ot :9J4 aqa;.~s: a l:~;,:.d cons:i:~:i:::~a~ 
c~allenq.. In C~~~=ss: :0 t~e der:nit:on of 'Indian' at :S5~e 
:-.ere. e. .... rCq\1!.at:.or.s 1:,\ ~H;:';:" de!i:;.d c!.iq!.bili:'f !J:' ::-.e 
?rete:ence as !ollo ... s: 

T~ be .li;i~!e !o:- pre terence i~ appoint~en:. 
p~~~ot:on. and :=atn::,\q. an lndiv1dual =us: b. 
on.-feur:~ or cor. deq=e. Indian blood aed ~. ! 

~e~te; :::: ! ~,~er3!.lY-r,c?qC!Z'd .=ib •. 

411 U.S. at 55) n.24, quo::::; 44 BIAM )J5. ).1 (emphasis 
supplied). ~~. C:::u~ exp~.:.c::!.y relied on e.~is d.tini:l0n tJ 
~~~old t~e pre terence aqal::s~ :~e c!.al~ e.~at it vas rac:a1:, 
:!';'sc=:'=.:.~at=r-y: 

~!':e· p=ererence. as applied. is q=anted to 
Indians not •• a disc~eee racial qroup. bue. 
rat~er. as members ot qua.i-.ove~eiqn eriDal 
eno;.:.:=.e •. 

~e pre!e:ence ~s noe directed e~ ... ard. a 
'~ac:al' q~=~~ c:r.sisei~q of 'I~dians': 
inseead . .:.:: appl':' •• only to ::s.m:cers ot 
'~.d.rally reco~~ted' t=i~e.. !)is op'ra~e! 
t; exc!~~, many l~divl~~als "'ho art :ac:al'x 
;0 b. C1ASS1:.:.cd as IJC:;CS. In Chis .ense, 
e~e preter.nce is polltlCal rat~er e~an 
racial i~ nae~re. 

417 U.S. ae 5" and "3 n.24 (emphasiS su;:pli.d):.' Koreover. 1': 
is siqniticanetnae ~rouq~oue ies constl:~tional'discus'lon ':~e 
Cou~ retlrs ~o ~o.e Indian. r.ceivinq beneties as 'tribal 
.[ncUana.' L£,..,..1.sL. ae 552-55. 

4 Thu', althouq~ e~e cla.si!1ca~ion c~ntained a racial 
tllellen~ (the -Indian blood' requiremene), e..'le Cou~ hel~ thae 
c:l ••• itic:at:ion' s tu:-:~er requiremeno; ot o;=.:..!:lal lum.eershlp vas 
tluttici.ne eo save the pre terence. 

5 The 
a.ppUed to 
:'easonably 

".,:. 

Supreme C~u~ also noo;ed 
emplo~ent in t~e Indian 
and d::ec::!y related tJ 4 

- , -
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r~e SUpreMe Cour~ has r.p.a~.d~y ral~ed upo~ :~~S d·s.'­
::=n between tr~~A1 and rac141 C!4Ss1!icat~ons l~ u~tO:d~~~-"C­
:~~~an praterenees aqalnst 4~~aCK on racial d~sc~:::r.a~:=~ 
g~~unds. ~, WAsn:~g~~n v. Yax~~! !udiaO ~~:~~n, ~. 4J~ 
::.5. It 500-01 (-!e lS ser-:':cd ~at 'Ue u.n:q\.:e legal 't.at.·..;s o. 
:.~=:A:\ tr:!:as under tederal law' penits e."la Federal Gover:;:o:.~~ 
~~ enac: !eqlslat.~on si~ql:nq out tr:bal I~dians, leqislat::;:;"­
~~a: ~:;~: or~erwlse be c~nst1:~~lon411y o~fanslv,,- quct~~q 

"',~c=;:.): L";:!':ed StH" v. }:,eulooe, 00 U.S. 641. 646 (197:") 
(":eceral req~loe100 ot :nd1an t::,:.~es, there tore , l' qover:;o:;:e 
(~~ :;:;ce-sov ere1q:'l poli~~cal C:lUU!"l:tl.S; it is not t.:l b. Vl.ewe:1 
as :eq1s:at10n of a '-roc141- qroup consisrinq 0: -Indians-
.. ,'- q\lot~:'\q l1ar;.s:,,~): ~ v. Salish Aod !<oouoo!. I;-:';tl, 42S 

~:. 5. 463, 480 (1976) (-starutes ... aceord1nq spec:.!l true=er.-; 
t::l :;,d100 tr:.be. Aod r-••• rvar:'on,· ar-e 'n.ither 'invic1ious' no::, 
':'5C:"1. ,. c;,t:.::q ~o:,:c,,;-~): f!.sber v. phtrico; Ccy=--;, .24 U.S. 
JS2, HO (l976) (st.at.:.!":e qrant.l.nq excll.Uiv, )Qrl.sdl.c":1.on Over 
ce~al:,\ c!al.~S Co ~~. C~.ye~ne Tribal Cou~, ch&ll.nqed .s 
'~~pe~!sslble rac1al di$cr~%l~at.loo,· upheld on qrounds that. 
;~r:.sd!:~:~n ·~o,s not d.r:ve trom the rae. of the plain~i!! bu: 
~3t~er !~:c t~e quasl-sov'r-liqn s~at~s ot ~~. No~.~ C~cyer.r.c 
:~:'!::I und.r tld.ral 1' ..... ·). 

"s noted aDove, however, c'~lin ot thl elaslitieations 
c:~~,:a1!"1.d in t!'l. A.ct and ineot"poraced requlations are by th.ir 
':11:-::1$ not t!'ilal, but rat!'ler- Are 'cUrect.d towards, 'racial' 
q~=~p c~nsistinq of Indians,' and includ. Indians and tski~os as 
:"I~ers of 'discreet racial qroups.· Unlike t.~e situation in 
:~;~;3r:, an individual could De a me~er ot one ot tr.e cl'.liti­
<:J~':::::os inc!.ud.d or i!'\eo~ot"oted in che Act solely 00 the basis 
(~!' rac;,al c!'laraeteristics, lJie.":out rlqard to m.m.bershi=, in , 
1::'~!::1 or ot.. ..... r orqaoiz.d Indian qroup. Tho., classi.fication. ar-a 
::::,~s outsl.de e.'a holdinq 1n HACCar!, &.nd arc su.l)ject to e. .... 

5( ..• cont1nu.d) 
tlas.d qoal -- ~at of rurthlrinq the c.USI of Indian •• H­
government. ~ at 554. w, do not believe ~a.t by adduc:inq ~is 
additional di.tinction the Cou~ impl1.ed that Indian prlterencl' 
based on racial a. opposed to t.~ib.l cla •• itieat~ons would ~. 
consti~Uonal it contined to positions that relate to Indian 
•• 1!-qovernment. First. the C~u~ mAd. this addi:ional 
::1!:ltinc'!ion in 1:1'11 cours. ot observinq ~'\at .v.n th •. tri.b~l 
prclterene. at i •• uI .... ould rai.e ,lIIore ciitt1C"U1t que.~l.Qn. 71: 
aPI,U.ed to all qovlr.-.mlnt ~oSluons. Second.. a broad racul _ 
?rlltlrenc. in fa.vor ot Indl.ans lJould not: prclllc1:e .. l!~~verNl~n. 
:, .. c:ause sOllie non-tribal Ind.1&.ns eVl.deotly do not p.~l.cl.pac • • n 
':r:.bal self-gov.rnm.nt:. Thir~, t.he Court. in deci.ion~ Slnc. 
I~~, has r.peatedly invoked ~~e r.ci.l/tri~al distl.nc~~~n l!"l 
c=ns1der~nq c!'lall.nq.s r~ :~d~an pretlr.nces. 

- ~ -
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s:=-.;:~·":·I c;:'.I.r. :~ :OIl.C:!! C!ll.ss:::'c::a1:::lns ~ .. 
.::::~:.x~s . 

G~~r.~i~q pre!erence. by ~eAns or C~ese purely raC:::ll.l 
:!as.l.lcac1ons ~oul~ r41S' serlOUS cons::':~:::lnal P:'=;:e~s ~~~._ 
·~:-.e equal pro1:eC1::.on c:::ponen1: ot t..."le F'i!'~~ Uen~I!r:-: . .a.'."o"_"­
::.-:. Suprem. C:lun has Y'1: 1::l sp.aK ~l t.."l one voice on :!\:s· ;:-~S':;': 
a p~~rall:Y 0' ~"l. coure hAS h.ld t..~a1: e~ress rac~at 
::!.ass:!:.::ac:..ons :ay b •• mploY'd only 1:0 rur::ler a C:l;::;:el!.::'~.:; 
qov.r~=.ncal in1:.r.s1:, And muse also b. -nar=ovly 1:allo~ed· :0 
!·.;r:::er ':!'Ia1: i..n":uu,=-_ wvgai.-: v.' JAC)!;SOD 'd, or t;:'Jq:' =.,C. 4':'6 
: .... 5. 267. 214 (1986) (plurali':y o;nl\ion). s .. also ~ H 235-
a7 (O'Connor, ~ .• concurr:.nq); fyllilov, v. ~lutz~~c::~. 448 ~.S. 
Hli, 480 (1980): VO!V'rs;.:y 0: C,UtoCll. 'd, or B.g'~a v. 
~U~. 08 t:.S. 265, l05 (l978) (opinion or rovell. J.). 

~he WvgAC~ plurAlity id.ntified only r.~i!ica1:ion of p:,:o~ 
c!:.sC:-:'::'.!.:'1A1::.on by the qov.~.nt unit involv.d as a qov,rn:ner.':41 
~~':.res,: t!'lA1: is cl.ar!y.sut!i:i.n~ly comp,llinq 1:0 jUS~l!y 
:'.t!.:anc. on racl.al claSS1! lcations. WYSlIO;,~, 476 U. S. at 
27~. ::'1 t!':is reqar~. eh. 'Cou.r. nev.r ha. h.l~ t.hae soc~.ta.l 
j:sc=:.~:~a~l~n alone is sutticien1: to ju.1:i!y a racial 
,::u.~!~=a~l=n.· ~ 'Thus, und.r t,..". ilyglct plurality's 
:'r.al'dar~. t.."'" pur.ly racl.l,l cl.ssi!ication. pr.s.ne in t..'\. A~ 
(:=u,1d be jus~i!:'.d only it 1:,."', OIt had historically cHsc:-ai.natad 
"';I:~:lS1: I:ldiAns. Hov,v.r •• v.n assuminq S1Jch discri:inacion had 
C)':,::~:rr.d, and ~"\us that the purely racial classitications 
!~:JI":~~'r.d a comp.llinq stat. inter.st, the cla •• iticacions are 
rl()1: ~ar':':I\{lytailor.d to ram.dyinq past discrimination, and ar. 
t.!\\U unc~nsti t".ltionAl. 6 

~h. Supre~e Cou~ has indicated that. in d.~.rmininq \{h.e~.= 
a '·.:lady is narrovly tailor.d. a nWllber of !actors are relevant: 
u,c:nq to-:I:. <:.he nec.ssity tor u.. reli.t a.nd th •• fficacy ot 
a!te::lae:.v. remedi.s: ell. r.lAtionship ot LOy num.rical requir.­
::1r.:S to avail&l:lle minority m.m.b,rs in the r.l_vant urk.~: the 

. avai!.atlility ot meaninqtul v&l.v.r provisions (paniC'..1lar!y "hIre 
::IIU1,t),lrs ot ~. preferr.d qrcup bave not b •• n actual vict~:u ot 
~,~s;:::'~::1i~&tion): the e~.nt to vhich th. rUldy tr~als the . 
iJ'\cu'uu ot innocent third pa~1es: and th. plann.d duration o! 
t!a ram.dy_ ~, tull llovl , almn, "I U.S. at 411-82: ~ 
il~Jah •• t Met.l Workers Int'l Ass'n v. ~, 471 V.S. 421, ,77-79 

6 We not. thae, aft.reb. Ole op1n1on wa. pr.par.~, 1:h. 
SU~'I~Ul' COUr'1: decid.d RietuRQnd v~ g-p.po co., No. '7-998. (Jan. 
2 J. 1988) _ That d.cision emphuu.d t.h&1: only t.ho ••. racl.~l , 
clluitication. t.ha~ ar. c1 •• iqned to ram.c1y prior discral.natlon. 
and are narrowly tailored to thae end. vill .... ithstand s~rie~ 
conlei1:~1:ion&l .cru1:iny- The crpson d.cl.1on thus provldes 
!·..1=~!\.r s~ppox-: tor ~"le OLC opinion. 
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,; :986) (;::·..::-a:::,/ O:::':-.:':l:-.) : 
c~==:~q) . . 

a~ 484-06 (?o~.ll. J .. CQ~-

. No considcrat:.on See:5 ~:l have been g~ven to ~het~er ~o~. 
=aclal alternatlv •• _auld have 4c~i.v.d ~~. evidene:y deS~:-e~ 
~.sult. »oreover. t~e pu:ely racial C1Assl!icat1ons create a 
broad ·ov.rincluSlve· rac~al p:etarenca ~~at can APP~r in 
a.csolu':ely ev.ry CAse. to bene!lt ever,,! oUlu· .... l •• quali:ied 
4ppl~can~ who !~~. Wl:~:'~ ~~e racial c!a •• i!icat~ons. And ':0 
disadva.n':aqa avery ot~.r-"'lse q\lalifled applicant .... Ilo doas no~ 
Sll'(~:.sty ':.':.e raclal c::.-:ar:..a. 7 The Cla.ssl:1ca~lons. :oraov.­
I~p.rat. to b.ne!~,: :nany d:.st:.:-.c,: q-roupa ..... lthOlJt reterenc. ~~ 
I"tletiler any indlvld~al '''It..1'1.1.:1 a. sp.cl1'1e statutory ra.eiAl 
c:a.teqory (A1.1.I1: •• !or examplel .var suttered trom .ny ot t.':, 
(.ssl.UDedl . tll.storical d:'SC:;':ll:-..tion. 'SlJeh a broad br~sh app:-oac:-. 
l.S by detlnltlon not na.r:-: .... ly tAl10r.d. pat"':iculArll' in til. 
Lbs.ne. ot ..... iv.r pr~V1Sl0n.. Se. Wyqan;, ~, 475 O.S. at 29~ 
rLU (c:-itic!z!nq a:::=-:At!Ve AC'1:ion plAn tor .ies -undit:.ren­
tiated natur.·): f'J!.;,;,::ve. ~. U8 U.S •• e 416-87 (hcial 
c~4l1enqe ~o -Qv.r:.~c:~s:.ve· :ac1al pr.terence r.j.cted on qrou~~ 
t~ule 'li::lit~inq~· wa:.ve:- 4~e exam~tion prOVisions cured ov.r-
Lnc:l'.lsiveness). :-::e r:=e!.re~c:e by its te~s is p.r:an.nt. and 

7 Ind.~d, the s~ •• p1nq and mandaeory nature ot the pur.ly 
rllcial preterence !:.;r.:!':er' d~st:inquishes it trom the I.1S. 0' rac. 
UI a '.,ll.1s' !ac-:~r. sal".c'::"or:ed in ~,J.\l.Rl:I. See,~, 4J8 
U.S. at 311 (op:.n:.on ot ?o .... ll. ~.). 

8 Sec~ion 5J4~(C:1 also provid •• that t.~. preterence 1s to 
l:le ' i::plamlnted in -:~e 54=. !ast:.ion- a. ~'le v.t.rans' preterence 
uU.blished by 5 U, s. C. nos (3). We are in!or:ned by the 
!)·apar-=:ent of !:dl.lcaeion t.hat in t.be vast majority ot case" 
alP:plieat1on o{ to'\e vee.rans' preterenee r.sults in qualifi.d 
"'IH.orans b.inq Cho,.n ov.r equally qualitied non-veeerans. In 
c:uln:ain cas.s, ho ..... v.r, t.. .... O.pa~.nt ot Education evid.ntly· 
t'tUUlrv •• the &.Diliey not to select a qualified veeeran, due eo 
suptllrveninq m.anaqe.ent conc:er:ls. It is pemaps arqu&.ble e!1at t.."1. 
IrldlLn pr.f.r~c. in the A~ could be i:pl ... need inauc:h a way 
1.1; to p~erve som. I.cillini,erativ. flexibility. How.ver, qiv.n 
tot,. t.ot.&lity ot til. tactors .mployed by the Supr ... Court in 
det,.n:lininC; whether a r.medy is narrowly tailored, ..... do not 
believe that thh li.mi':.d nexibility, Standinq alone, is 
S1:lfticiant to rand.er e. .... purel.~· racial. Cl.a.si{1c&t~ons 
cc,ns ti tut10n&1. 

~.rmor •. t~. Court sanction.d the .... aiv.r provisions in 
~ll~~ beeaus. e~ey provided 'a r.a~on~l. a •• ur~c. ·that 
apl~Uc4~ion ot rac~al or .~~ic: c~i~.rl& .... 111 be liJu.eed to 
Acco~pli.hinq the re:tdial obJectlv., ot Conqrt.s •.•• ' 448 
tJ.!i. &1: 487. ':'h. Ctl~A:-:=en': ot Education's ad:1iniserativ. 

(cQnt!.:\\~ed ... ) 
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~~:: ==~~:~~a :~ op.~aca :~~'!:~::.ly ~~:o ~~a r~:~=e, ~=~q A!~e. 
:.:'.e a!!'ac':.s o!' ::-'a {asSu;!.ed) !".:.sco::-:.::al c1:sc::-:.::::anae:.::n hAVe ~.e-­
:UlId1ad, T~a p~atarllnce also appears to c::-am:nel the riq~':.s O!" 

~:·.~Iocat'\e t../'I1r::i pa%"1::.e5, Eac~ of C."e.a c!'Iarsecer1SC:'CS ot ~," Ac • 
. ~d:.caee. tnat tna Act'S rac:.al c!assl!ica~:.o~s :::-4nsq=lss -
:::~r,S:~.':\Jc:.onal raqul:llIlanes AS enunc:'llead cv :!\e SI.lI=:-I=1 
C"'''- 9 • ..... -- _ .. 

AC=~=~:'~~!y, ~e believe e~at t~e raclal c!asli!'~C4t~Or.S 
c::n:a':':'led 1:1 ene AC: and 11'1 ~"a inc0r?0racad requlatlons ara 
u:;c:>r.st:,:'..:::.o:-:al under SUP:'IIIU C::~:--:. precedant., even lSSU."':.:.~q 1 

~lStCry ot dlSC=:.~lnatlOn Aqa1~st Indians by ~"a OI!, T~. O:~ 
~ay nonet.neless i~plement Section 5351(4) (AI and 25 C.r.R. 
5.1(al, conse::~tl~q eno.e po~ions or Section 535l And t~e 
:.~co~oraced requlatior.s c~ac do not ccntai~ purely raCial 
I:!alsl!icat~cns. And ~~I.ls are not constit~t:.onally SUspac:,:O 
:F'I.l:"':her. the Sec:-etary ot E~\Jcacion is tree to adopt additionAL 
::-eq-J!at~ons de r i:1inq ·:ndiar." !or p\1r?0se. ot ,t.ha prafar'ence. 

8(",cor:::':':l.ledl 
:~~exi~ill:y \1r.der t~e Ac:. however. appears desiqned to rec~g~~te 
~ll:lrll qan.ral :::a:-:aq.man~ c~ncer.ts, rae.her tllan in any 'Jay servlnq 
t~ ~ns~r. c~a; rAcially-ba •• d classitieations are only employed 
t::~ ruedy ac't.\.lal ins't.&nce. ot c:Hserimin&~ion. 't'ha~ nexibility, 
t~!:u~et:lr •. cannot be viewed. as .ervinq to render t.he prlt.rences 
C:C)I,~:air.ed in t~e Aet :ore "nar:"owly ~ailorec1· for eonstl.t~tion.l 
r:\l:~:cses , 

9 tv.n 4ss\1:inq ~~4~ in a qiven c~se ~. Ac~ could be 
4F:pliac1 in acc:>:-:ance "i~" the Constit~tion, t.hat alona is not 
S\'I!~! icient t~ :,ebu~ a e::ms~i~u:ional enallenqa. ~ •• s t.he 
C::I.I:"': indicated in f'Jlli!.ov" a statute that is cl'1allenqec1 a. 
bll.:lq over!:lro&d on its tace "caMot pa •• lII\1sterl unle .. the CO\1r": 
l3 able to conclude that the overbroac1 statu~ vill be li~ited i~ 
~:s applica't.~on to aecomplishinq proper remedial objectiv.s. 4,8 
(.".5, at 486-87. 

10 T~e A~ al.o qrants & one-tim. praterence to.inc1ivid\1&ls 
who "are not In~i&n.,· ·&r. servinq vithin ~e otfice ot Inc1ian 
t::1ucation on tJ'l. date of enac-:.::ent ot this A~,· and ·d .. ire to 
t'l)c;e another position in the o.paraen~ of Edueation whieh is not 
w.i..t!\in the Office or Indian Edueation and tor vhieh ~er. is a 
v&ca:I'\C:Y~. Se~ion 5341(C) (21. A.lthouqh this provi.ion appears 
tC) bll intended., in pa~, to co=pen.a~. tor tn •• tfec;'t.a 0' t!le 
In:1iiln pre'er.nc., tl11. one-ti:e pr.t.r.nc~ i. also . 
CC'I'\"::itu~ionally suspect, but .. y b •• UIt:UnaDlt ;t ext~nd.c1 to 
in,:11Jde all non-tribal Indians .. vell and it it 11 limaad to 
Cl~'''I:l.nq openinqa tor tJ'l. constitu~ionally .leqi~im4t. ~r1bal 
P!~,.t4lrenc.s, w. have no evidanc •• hovever. to indicate that: 
Ccm

'
;l:-e.s int:ended t.'\e non-Indian pre terence to also inc!\1de non­

tr~:blll Indians. 
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~:lrS1J&n~ ~:) S.C':~~n 5J51(4) (E), .0 lonq a. t..":Io.e req\llu,ions are 
nel c c,~ner-"1.se con~=4ry eo la\l anc1 c10 no~ ot:enc1 t.he Conse~ t:ue;.ol" .. 

w. hope ~~ae ~~. Nov.mb.r·~~ ~riefinq anc1 th •. for.9Qi~9 
.st~Ll:.II."~ ot the o.p .. ~~ent:' •. POS1.t:'on on t.!:le cons~ltut:ionAli~'1 
ot t~. ,reterences coneainec1 1n the Ac: are suttic1.ne.to sa~~s~'I 
your' ovt!rsiqht lntere.t. It you have any !",U"'t.ll.r q'U •• ~ions . 
cc:nc.:-:l':':lq 1:."1is =at:~.r, pl.ase do no't b •• itae. to cont&C~ :e. 

Sincerely, 

f:b'~Yd 
Assis~ant Attorney Gena:-a! 

'. . 
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Tech~ical Report -- Final Determinacion -- Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe 

APPENDIX 82 

United States Department of the Interior 
• -

OFFICE Or ruE SECRETARY 
W".SIIINGTON. D.C. 20240 .­- -• 

ocr 1 8 1995 . ' 

Honc.rable Daniel K. Inouye 
Vi.(:e-Chairman, Committee on Indian Affairs 
United States Senate 
Washington, D.C. 20S1J-64S0 

Dear Senator Inouye: 

Tihan:~ you for your letter of August 10, 1995, concerning the 
n;!quirements for tribai ancest.ry under 25 C.f-R. Part 83. You 
question whether a position t.aken by Ms. Holly RecKord. Chief, 
Bran(:h Of Acknowledgment! and Research" Bureau pf Indian Affairs, I 

during our test.imony of July 13, 1995, is consistent with the 
June 8, 1995, proposed finding against federal aCknowledgment of 
the Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe ~Golden Hill). We believe that 
they are consistent. 

During the test.imony you dsked ..... hether a tribe can qualify for 
Fec:E~ral aCknOWledgment It ltS contemporary members trace their 
ancestry to one tribal member. Ms. Reckord replied in the 
negative, referenCing criterla 8).7(b) and (C), that the petitioner 
must live in a community and exercise political authority, which 
cannot occu~ with only one individual. 

This exchange is consistent with the proposed finding on the Golden 
Hill, even though that finding was based on criterion 83.7(e), not 
cd·t,eria (b) and (cl. That expedited finding was based on the lack 
of evidence that the Golden Hill descend from an historical Indian 
tribe. 

Des,c:tmt from an historical trib'e fs an express: requirement of 
criterion 83.7(e), which provides iR part: 

The petitioner's membership consi~ts of individuals who 
descend from a historical Indian tribe or from historical 
I~dian tribes which combined and functioned as a single 
autonomous political entity. (emphaSis added). 

Bas.;!d on the record before the Department of the Inter lor 
(Depart.ment), the Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs concluded in 
the proposed finding that the Golden Hill did not meet this 
reqll i:relllent. The current members are the descendants of a single 
fami.l:r'. that of William Sherman and his wHe Nancy Hopkins. Their 
parentage is unknown. The petitioners did not provide documents, 
nor ",55 the Branch of Acknowledgment and Research (BAR) able to 
find any documents, concerninq the ancestry of their parents. 
RathE:r, . available evidence indicates they were not proven to 
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dHsc:end (rom the historical paugussett Indian Tribe or any other 
Indian tribe. 

Our advice to the petitioner. that ancestry from a single Indian 
individual would not meet the requirements of criterion 83.7(e), 
was; included to advise the petitioner of the need under the 
cegulations to demonstrate tribal ancestry. This advice was 
provided part ly because the petitioner focused only on· tracing 
ancestry from this one family. This gUidance was given at this 
point in the process so petitioners could have ample opportunity to 
r.esp.:>nd during the comment perio1 prior to the final determination. 
The requirement of tribal ancestry which. is written in criterion 
S).7(e), however, was nof applied to the Golden Hill petitioner 
bl~:::a\Jse they did not pass the threshold test of having Indian 
i3n·:::e!itry. 

Ancestry from a sin9le Indian individual' does not meet the 
requirement of criterlon B).7(e) because the section specifically 
requires descent from - "a historical Indian tribe." The plain 
1.i3I1<}uage of the regulation requires tribal descent, not merely 
Indian descent. Also, various defi~itions in the regulations, such 
dS "member of an Indian tribe," include the basic premise that a 
"tri.be" includes more than one individual. Where the asserted 
Inc'i.an ancestry of die membership is from only one individual 
Inc ian, this does not qualify as ancestry from "a single autonolllous 
political entity" as required by 25 C.F.R. S B3.7(e). 

It is not the intent of the relevant laws and past court decisions 
that the descendants of a single person can constitute a tribe. An 
Indi~n who is not in tribal relations cannot be treated differently 
from any other individual. The Supreme Court has clarified this 
distinction stdting that a classification based on maintaining a 
bilateral political relationship is a political classification, not 
a nlcial one \o'hich would other\o'ise violate the Constitution. 
MOl::;.on v. Hancari, 417 U.S. 535, 553 (1974). Accord, United States 
h.._II,ntelope, 430 U.S. 641, 646 (1977>- ("Federal regulation of 
'Indian tribes, therefore, is governance of once-sovereign political 
cOlIlJ~llrtities; it is not to be viewed as legislation of a 'racial' 
group consisting of 'Indians' •• ~"). 

This Supreme Court distinction between ~akin9 a political 
classification and a racial classlfication is reflected in 
25 C.F.R. Part 83. A political relationship requires more than one 
person. This p61itical, as opposed to racial, distinction is basic 
to t:he government-to-government relationship bet .... een the United 
States and tribes as well as our relationship to Indians. 

As If':>U may remember, this 'constitutional issue was at the heart of 
the concerns expressed by the Department of Justice (00.1) in a 
let1:·er to you of January 30, 1989, concerning the Indian preference 
provi:sions in the amendments to the Elementary and Secondac-y 
Educ:"ltlon Act of 1965, PUb. L. No. 100-297, 102 Stat. 131 (1988). 
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DOJ concluded that certain classifications contained in the Act and 
incorporated into the regUlations were based on racial 
chanlcteristics without regard to membership in a tribe. DOJ 
notect that these classifications raised serious problems und~r the 
equil.l protection component of the Fifth Amendment and were 
therefore unconstitutional. 

Similarly, this Department does not have the authority to extend 
ac)(.ne,wledgment to groups which are the_ descendants of a single 
Indian individual. Rather, the Department has the authority to 
ext,end ackno .... ledgment only to pol it!cal successors. The 
interpretation of the federal acknowledgment regulations criterion 
83.'7 (e) as requiring descent from a tribe, a political entity, 
avoids the Fifth Amendment issues raised in the DOJ letter to you. 

The l~OCUS on tribal ancestry, as opposed to individual ancestry, is 
con~; ist:ent as well \Jl th the source of Federal power over Indian 
matt~rs. As stated in MCClanahan v. Arizona State Tax Commission, 
411 0,.5. 164~ 172 n.7: "The source of federal·authority over Indian 
matt:Ul,S has been the sUbject of some confusion, but it is now 
genel:ilily recognized that the power derives from Federal 
responsibility for regUlating conuilerce with Indian tribes and for 
treaty making" (citations omitted). The Indian Commerce Clause of 
the Constitution is the only grant of power over Indian matters. 
U.S. Cc)nst. art. 1. S 8. This clause references tribes,· not 
indivi.dual Indians, and authorizes Congress to "regulate Commerce 
with foreign Nations, and among the several States, and with the 
Indian Tribes." The focus on "tribes" in the Indian Commerce 
Clause is consistent \Jith the Supreme court analysis in Horton v. 
Mancsu;:.i. only by. focusing on political entities, can the Fifth 
Amen,jment and the Indian COllllllerce Clause be read consistently with 
each other. The Department's interpretation of criterion 83.7(e) 
as requiring ancestry from a tribe, not ancestry from only one 
individual, is consistent with both of these constitutional 
prov is ic)ns. 

In f.:!lb: Cohen's Handbook of Federal Indian Law, (U.s. Dept. of 
Int., 1942), five considerations are summarized as those relied 
upon :LIl reaching the conclusion .that a g,roup constitutes a "tribe" 
or "billlCl." These considerations are: 

(1) That the group has had treaty relations with the United 
States. 

P) That the group has been denominated a tribe by act of 
Congress or Executive Order. 

(J) That the group has been treated as having collective 
rights in tribal lands or funds, even though not 
expressly designated a tribe. , 

) 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement 
GHP-V001-D006 Page 147 of 158 



(4) That the group has been treated as a tribe or band by 
other Indian tribes. 

(5) That the group has exercised politi.cal authority over its 
members, through a tribal ~ouncil or other governmental 
(orms. 

Eat:h consideration is based on being a "group. II None would qualify 
an individual Indian as a Utribe." 

During the 1970's, the pervasive land title disruptions in the 
eas~ern United States caused by the tribal land claims documented 
the importance of accurate tribal status determinations. ~ 
ru!;~l Council of the Passamaguoddy Tribe v. Morton, 388 F. :Supp. 
649, (;56-58, ~ 528 F. 2d 370 (1st Cir. 1975). Also, the 
petition to intervene filed by. five Indian groups in United States 
Y.........!i:tshington, 476 F. Supp. 1101 (W.O. Wash. 1979), ~, 641 F.2d 
13613 {9th Cir. 1981), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1143 (1982), 
highliqhted the treaty implications of tribal status. In both 
types of cases, land claims and treaty rights, tribal status was a 
prer~quisite to a subsequent determination on the merits of the 
trilMl claim. These cases w~re contemporaneous with the 
proillll1c;ration of the regulations and were a significant part of the 
legal backdrop to the regulations. . 

TheSE! court decisions made the distinction between Indians in 
tribe,l. relations or "bona fide tribes" and groups of Indian 
desc.ndants. Th.se cases focused also on the collective nature of 
rights held by tribes, rights which could not be asserted by single 
individuals. Cf. James v. Watt, 716 Fo2d 71 (1st Cir. 1983) (Indian 
individuals could not assert Indian Nonintercourse Act rights on 
their own behalf); Epps v. Andrus, 611 F.2d 915 (1st Cir. 1979) 
(Indian descendants of one Chappaquiddick family could not raise 
trib.ll claim). 

Judge Boldt, in the "five intervenors" decision, reaffirms that a 
Utrib~~ includes "members of Indian ancestry . . • who live in a 
comm\IJ'1it:y," with "governmental control" over their lives, with 
"hist~rical continuity. "I A sole individual or family does not 
meet t:he requirements affirmed in United states v. Washington, nor 
does descent from one individual or family. Further, in the 
Hashpm~ land claim case, the First Circuit affirmed that "[i]f all 
or ne~t"ly all members of a tribe chose to abandon the tribe, then, 
it f()Uc>ws, the tribe would disappear." Mashpee Tribe v. New 
SeabuI~~Corp., 592 F.2d 575, 587 (1st Cir. 1979). 

;Judge Boldt noted also that groups of half-bloods could 
orqanil.t,e under the Indian Reorganization Act (IRA). ,Ig. at 1103-
1104. 
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Thus, the Constitution and relevant case law support the 
proposition that the regulations are not based on descent from"an 
individual, but rather are based on tribal descent. Otherwise, the 
regulations would violate the Fifth Amendment. To interpret 
25 C.F.R. S 8).7(e) as requiring tribal descent, as the Department 
does,. sLlbsuming the requirement that this"descent be from more than 
one .individual, add~esses the ~onstitutional concerns and is fully 
CO,RtJ.:;tEmt with the language in the regulations, the statutory 
tfamE!l~,:>rk, and case law. 

We also would like to make it clear that 25 C.F.R. S 8J.lO(~) does 
not provide a means for expediting the petition process based on 
satisfying only criteria a).7(e), (f), and (g). Rather, § a).lO(e) 
provides that if a petitioner fails to satisfy anyone ofithese 
criteria, the Assistant Secretary ~ Indian Affairs may decline to 
acknolo.o].edge that the petitioner is an Indian tribe without fully 
evaluating all seven of the mandatory criteria. 

The Department applies the regulations consistently across a 
variety of cases which differ enormously from each other. We have 
addressed with other petitioners the charge of inconsistent 
application of the regulations. These petitioners have mistakenly 
treated different situations as comparable in order to suggest that 
we are being inconsistent and arbitrary. 

In the case of the Golden Hill, the petitioners had ample 
opportJnity to supplement their petition; there will be opportunity 
to co~nent now during the comment period; and the petitioners may 
seek reconsideration of any negative decision in a hearing before 
the Interior Board of Indian Appeals. These procedures ensure that 
there is no denial of "due process." 

Thank ~/()Ui for the opportunity to respond to your inquiry. 

Sincerely, 

lSI Ada.t.~ 

Ada E. Deer 
Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs 
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Technical Report -- Final Determination Golden Hill Paugus~ett Tribe 

APPENDIX C 

This appendix consists of f6ur parts. 

Each mUlti-page letter is listed separately, as beginning on 
pages: . 

Appendix C1, Stetson to Deer, April 9, 1996 (two pages) 104a 

Appendix C2, Anderson to Stetson, May 21, 1996 
(12 pages) 

Appendix C3, Stetson to Anderson, July 3, 1996 
(f ~~Vt= pages) 

Appendix C4, Anderson to Stetson, August 16, 1996 
(s~_x pages) 

104 
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APPENDIX C1 

GOVEn, STETSON & WlJ.I.IANS, P.C. 
ATTORNEYS AT LAW 

2501 nlO GnANPe DOULI,V.f..rII>. N. W. 

AI.DUQUenQUE, NEW MEXICO 07J04-3223 

IlEVIN GOVEn· 
ChlllERlNE DAI(ER STETSON 
SUSAN H. WILLlA~IS' 
GWENEtLEN P. JANOV·· 
JAHES D. COONEY 
IlELL\' 1\. SKAUGKY"· 

.AOHI11~D'~ tilt ."n VC 
•• AIb ... r1'aD ,,. NY. rA#\'I.."o NH "' ~ 

••• "'DN,frau 'tot' HN 

VIA foAX TR/lJ\lSMISSION 

The Honorable I\Ja Deer 

TELEPIIONE (505) 0-12-001)1 

FAX (5U3) U42-0021J 

April 9, 1996 

Assistant Sccrcl:illY of Indian Affairs 
Bureau of Indiall Affairs . 
U.S. Department of the Interior 
1849 C Sireet, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20240 

."." Sill NOlON orflc:r:: 
Im5 CONNECTICUT AVENUE. N. 1'1. 

SUITE :;00 

WASIIINGTOH. D.C. 20030 
1 EtEI'1I0NE (202) 407-U525 

fI\X(202)4D2-00~4 

He: Priior fedenll Actiolls "Acknowledgillg" Goltlcu lIiII Paugussctts as II Recognized 
Illd jail t rihc. 

Dcar Assistant S:ccrctary Deer: 

Last week we sent you some important materials rele"ant to the Petition for 
Aeknowlcdgclll<:!llt of the Golden IIill Tribe of the Pallgllssctt Nation. Thcse materials eOlltain 
evidence showillg (hat (he federal governmellt has previously ackllowledged and idcntified the 
Golden Hill PCl'llgllssetls as an existing Indian tribe. 

Spcciqca Iy, the federal governmcnt "acknowledged" Golden IIil1 as an Indian tribe by 
issuing (wo gran:s ill 1978 to (hc Goldcn Hill Tribe pursuant 10 a 1976 request hy Connecticut 
Governor Ella Grasso. Governor Grasso certified to Ihc Federal Office of Revel1uc Sharillg that 
the Golden Ilill Tlribe, as wcll as several other Connecticut tribes, had rccognized governing 
bodics exercising substantial governmental functions, thereby qualifying for Federal H.evellue 
Sharing Funds. This prior fcdernl action "acknowlcdging" thc Golden I-lill Tribe (IS a recognized 
Indiall tribe is succinctly described hy Peter Taylor on page three of his Sllllll1laty Report wc sent 
10 you lasl week. '. 

In addillon, we sent you :1Il :lllalysis by historiall Guy fringer, who described a 1952 report 
by the House Illlcrior and Insul;lr Affairs Committee (1 louse Heporl No. 2503, 82J Congress, 2d 
Session) ill which the federal government identified the Golden JIill P3Ugussctts as a know/l 
Jlldi(l1l tribe nlld describcd the P:!ugussCIlS' !oc:.tioll. See p;tgc t\ .... o of Guy Fringer'S gcport. This 
report dcmo/lstrales Ihal the fcdcr:.! goverJImclIl was (l\V;l/C of Ihe P:llIgusscltS as a tribal cntily. 
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The Honorable A Ja Deer 
April 9, 1.996 
Pagc 2 

The l3IA's Proposed Finding regnrding Golden I Iill's Pc(itioll for Acknowledgcment, and 
the BAH's analysis of' the evidence to date, contradicts the federal govcrnlllent's previous finuings 
on the Golden I Iill! Paugussdts :-IS nil idclllifiablc historic ]mliall tribe. We ask thnt you givc 
proper weight to .this evidence of prcviolls federal idcntification of the Golden Hill l'augllssetl 
Tribe as a histork llluian tribe and sovereign governmcnt. 

Con.lially, 

GOVER, STETSON & WILLIAMS, P.c. 

I3y~S 
Catherinc Daker Stetson 

CI3S:ja 

". 
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APPENDIX C 2 

L ni ted States Depal1n1ent of the Interior 

OFFICE OF THE SOLICITOR 

MAY 2 I 1996 

In reply, please address to: 
Room 6456, Main Interior 

Catherine Baker Stetson, Esq. 
Gover, Stetson & Williams, P.C. 
2501 Rio Grande Boulevard, N.W. 
Albuquerque, NM 87104-3223 

Dear Ms. Stetson: 

I am responding to the legal issues you raised in the Golden Hill 
Petitioner's lu-guments and Evidence ill ReSDonse to BIA Proposed 
Finding (Petitioner's Eesponse), submitted on December 5, 1995, 
and ill your letter of April 9, 1996, which was directed to me. 
Your Apri: 9 letter referenced other materials which you sent to 
Ine on March 27, 1996. Most of these materials appear to be 
Corl:nents on the Proposed Finding, and the comment period for this 
matter closed on February 5, 1995. Under the federal 
acknowledg~ent regulations, 25 C.F.R. § 83.10(1) (1), unsolicited 
com~ents received after the clese of tIle response period will not 
be considered in the preparation of a final determination. 
Haterials received after the COI:lment period closed will be made 
available :0 the Interior Board of Indian Appeals (IBIA), if the 
petitioner requests an independent review by that body of the 
government's actions. This letter addresses only the. legal 
i~sues you raised. 

The Proposed Finding contains the evaluation of the petition by 
the Branch of Acknowledgment and Research (BAR) based on 
principles of genealogical, historical, and anthropological 
research. This reply letter deals only with the legal aspects of 
ho\'/ the acknowledgment regula t iOJl3 of 25 C. F. R. Part 83 were 
applied in the present matter. 

This let te::- addresses the five assel-tions made in the 
Petitioner's Response, listed below verbatim, as well as a sixth 
legal m~tter you raised in the April 9 letter. Your assertions 
ar,= as follows: 

1. Preliminary dismissal under § 83.10 was not proper 
because the BIA noticed tile Tribe's Petition for active 
consideration. 

2. Preliminary dismissal was not proper because the 
BrA failed to "clearly establish" that the Tribe cannot 
meet the required criteria. 
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3. Golden Hill met the low burden of proof and 
liberal evidentiary standards imposed by Part 83 during 
the preliminary review stage. 

4. A petitioner need not establish all seven 
mandatory criteria in a preliminary review. 

5. The BIA has cited no proper authority for its new 
tribal requirements under 83.7, which are a radical 
depart~re from the common law and the regulations, and 
in violation of due process. 

6. ThE~ federal government previously "acknowledged" 
Golden Hill as an Indian tribe (paraphrased from 
April . ~, letter). 

CHRONOLOGY OF THE PETITIONING PROCESS 

As a prelimi.~ary matter, it must be noted that the acknowledgment 
regulations at 25 C.F.R. Part 83 offer every petitioner, 
including the Golden Hill, the opportunity to be heard 
thoroughly, to present a complete and effective case, and to know 
the basis of the decision on acknowledgment. A review of the 
chronology in the current matter demonstrates that the Golden 
Hill petitioner had many opportunities to supplement their 
petition, and did so, and that they determined when the petition 
was completecl to their satisfaction, notwithstanding indications 
from the BlA that deficiencies remained. 

The Golden Hill petitioner first sent a letter of intent to 
petition for acknowledgment in 1982. On April 12, 1993, the 
group submitted a documented petition for acknowledgment. The 
BlA made a formal technical assistance review of this documented 
petition, and on August 26, 1993, the BIA sent the first obvious 
deficiency (CD) letter to the petitioner. This letter, which was 
required by the acknowledgment regulations, permitted the 
petitioner to revise and augment their petition before it was 
evaluated on its merits. The purpose of the OD letter is to 
prevent a negative finding based on technicalities or failure to 
develop fully the available evidence. The first Golden Hill OD 
letter clearly discussed the petition's deficiencies in meeting 
criteria 83.7 (a), (b) I and (c). Concerning criterion 83.7 (e) , 
this letter ~ut the petitioner on notice that descent from a 
historical tribe was at issue: 

Criterion (e) requires that the membership of a 
petitioning group consist of individuals who can show 
descen~ II from a tribe which existed historically" .or 
from historical tribes which combined as a single 
entity. You need to provide evidence to establish the 
lineal descent of William Sherman and George Sherman 
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from the historical Paugussett tribe. Ruby Mansfield 
Sharpe's descent from a specific tribe rather than from 
the grouping of IIGolden Hill Indians" needs 
clarification as well. 

Letter from Carol A. Bacon, Director of Tribal Services, to 
Aurelius H. Piper, Jr. of 8/26/93. 

The petitioner responded to this first OD letter on April 1,. 
1994. On October 19, 1994, the Bureau of Indian Affairs (B~A) 
sent the petitioner a second technical assistance review, under 
the revised regulations, 25 C.F.R. Part 83, published 
February 25, 1994. The October 1994 letter listed many obvious 
problems thE~ case had in meeting criteria (a), (b), and (c·). It 
discussed criterion 83.7(e) again and asked explicitly for 
documentary =vidence of William Sherman's parentage: 

Criteri.on (el requires that the membership of a 
petitioning group consist of individuals who can show 
descent "from a historical Indian tribe. "The 
new data you submitted have answered many of the BAR's 
questicns about your genealogy. However, if you have 
documentary evidence identifying the parents of William 
Sherman, the ancestor who provided the de~cendance for 
the entire "group, we encourage you to submit it now. 

Letter from ~rim Thomas, Acting Director of Tribal Services, 
Aurelius H. Piper, Jr. of 10/19/94. 

to 

The revised regulations, under which the Golden Hill petition was 
processed, contain provisions which permit expedited decisions 
based on a single criterion: 

Prior tc clctive consideration, the Assistant Secretary 
shall investigate any petitioner whose documented 
petition and response to the technical assistance 
review letter indicate that there is little or no 
evidence that establishes that the group can meet the 
mandatory criteria in paragraphs (e), (f) or (g) of 
§ 83.7. 

25 C.F.R. § 83.10. 1 

The Golden Hill expedited decision is not the first 
issued under ~his pro~ision. The BIA had issued one expedited 
negative decision based on § 83.10(e) before the Golden Hill 
proposed dete:::-mination. The MOWA petitioner received an 
expedited negative proposed finding on January 5, 1,995, six 
months before publication of the Golded Hill expedited decision. 
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Expedited decisions may be done only after the petition is 
considered complete by both the petitioner and the government and 
before active consideration begins, and "will only occur after 
the petitioner has had the opportunity to respond to the 
technical assistance review." 59 Fed. Reg. 9290 (1994). 

By requesting documentary evidence of William Sherman's parents 
in the October 1994 technical review letter, the BrA researchers 
focused on Indian ancestry as a threshold requirement for meeting 
criterion 83.7(e). Without documented demonstration of Indian 
ancestry, the question of tribal ancestry is never reached. This 
is exactly the kind of case that the expedited process contained 
in the new regulations at § 83.10 was designed to resolve. 

The BIA also indicated in the October 1994 technical review 
letter that a conclusion that the evaluators have enough 
information to make a decision does not mean that the decision 
will be positive. 

The acknowledgment regulations provide a technical 
assistance review to ensure that a petitioner will be 
able to present its best possible case and that a 
petition will be considered on its merits. This review 
does not mean that the BAR has reached or will reach a 
positive or negative conclusion on the Golden Hill 
Paugussett petition, or on the portions of the petition 
not discussed in this letter. 

Letter from Jim Thomas, Acting Director of Tribal Services, to 
Aurelius H. Piper, Jr. of 10/19/94. 

". 

The petitioner chose to continue with the petition as it had been 
submitted, and on November la, 1994., they instructed the BrA to 
place the petition on active consideration. On November 21, 
1994, the BlA assigned the petitioner place number six on the 
"Ready, Wai t:~r:19: for Active Consideration" List (emphasis added) 
and informed the petitioner that genealogical work would begin. 

It is in this time period, after the petition is completed and 
before the active consideration phase begins, that the BIA 
genealogist begins entering genealogical data into a data base. 
In performinsr this task, the genealogist is often the first BrA 
researcher to discover that significant problems may exist for a 
case, particularly in criterion 87.3(e). 

The Proposed Finding under the expedited process was iss~ed on 
June 8, 1995. .~fter the initial review in which the Department 
found little or no evidence to establish that the Golden Hill 
petitioner could satisfy mandatory criterion 83.7(e) -- descent 
from a historic,al American Indian tribe or tribes which combined 
and function as a single political entity -- the Department 
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determined that the evidence clearly established the petitioner's 
failure to Meet this criterion. Since the release of the 
Proposed Finding, the petitioner had many opportunities to 
question the BIA staff members. There have been many discussions 
among the B11\ researchers and branch chief, and the petitioner's 
members, researchers, and attorneys. The BIA's detailed 
technical reports were provided to the petitioner and were made 
available to the public. The petitioner had full access to all 
of the BlA's historical documentation and interview materials and 
any materials that have been submitted by third parties. This 
type of open communication and continual interchange is how the 
BIA normally works with petitioners. Through continual technical 
assistance a~d availability of the government's researchers, the 
BIA provides due process to petitioners. The comment period 
closed December 5, 1995. The Department will issue the Final 
Determinaticn shortly. 

DISCUSSION OF THE LEGAL POINTS 

1. Because the BIA never noticed the petitioner for active 
consideratio:r.., an expedited negative Proposed Finding under 
§ 83.10 was :~roper if such a finding was otherwise warranted. 

The BIA never noticed the petitioner for active consideration, 
despite the petitioner's claim that the "preliminary dismissal 
under § 83.10 was not proper because the BIA noticed the Tribe's 
Petition for 3ctive consideration." On November 21, 1994, Branch 
Chief Holly R~ckord wrote to Mr. Aurelius Piper as follows: 
"This letter' is to notify you that the Golden Hill Paugussett 
Tribe has been assigned number six on the 'Ready, Waiting for 
!>.cti ve Consideration' list." (emphasis added) The word 
"Waiting" is emphasized because it demonstrates that the Golden 
Hill petitioner was not yet on active consideration on November 
21. Their petition was only considered ready to be evaluated, 
based on the group's indication that they considered the petition 
complete, and the government's acquiescence in their decision. 
This separate category of petition status is necessary if a BlA 
team is not immediately available to evaluate a petition. This 
is the process the BlA has followed from the outset of the 
acknowledge~ent process, and this list is provided for at 
25 C.F.R. § 83.10(d). Hence, the Golden Hill petition was not 
immediately pla.ced on active consideration on November 21 but was 
put in sixth place on the "Ready~ list. 

As noted in the chronology detailed above, the standard procedure 
is for the genealogical work to commence when the petition is 
complete, but before it is placed on active consideration. In 
the second paragraph of the November 21 letter, the BrA clearly 
described this standard procedure to the petitioner: "In 
connection with yo~r newly acquired status, BlA genealogical 
researchers wi:.l begin putting the Golden Hill membership into 
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database form, .as well as actively evaluating the family history 
charts, and other genealogical information." This procedure 
comports wich 2S C.F.R. ~ 83.10. 

In addition. other language in the November 21 letter indicated 
that the Go2den Hill petitioner was not immediately placed on 
active considE~ration. The language used by the BIA to indicate 
active consideration status differs greatly from the language 
used in the November 21 letter to the Golden Hill petitioner. 
Compare the \'lOrding in the November 21 letter to the Golden Hill 
petitioner and the February 16, 1994, letter to the Chinook 
petitioner signed by the Director of the Office of Tribal 
Services, notifying the Chinook that they were being placed on 
active consideration: "This is to notify you that the Branch of 
Acknowledgmj=nt. and Research (BAR) had begun active considerat.ion 
of the petition requesting Federal acknowledgment of the Chinook 
Indian Trib~~, Inc. (Chinook) as of January 28, 1994. 11 The letter 
cites § 83.9(f) of the acknowledgment regulations concerning the 
regulatory deadline for a proposed finding and other specific 
language that indicates the Chinook will be placed on active 
consideratio~ on January 28, 1994. In addition, indicative of 
the greater 3ignificance of the Chinook letter, it was signed by 
the Office Director, two levels above the branch chief who signed 
the Golden Hill letter. 

2. An expe.<iited negative proposeq. finding was proper because 
the Department clearly established that the petitioner could not 
meet one of the mandatory criteria. 

An expedited proposed finding was proper because the petitioner 
clearly did not meet criterion 83.7(e). Hence, the BIA 
researchers did not need to consider the other six criteria, 
despite petitioner's claims that "preliminary dismissal under 
§ 83.10 was ~Dt proper because the BIA failed clearly to 
establish that: the Tribe cannot meet the required criteria." 
Full considerat.ion of all criteria is not necessary when the BIA 
determines that the evidence clearly demonstrates that a group 
did not meet one of the mandatory criteria. The regulation 
describing this process is as follows: 

Prior to active consideration, the Assistant Secretary 
shall investigate any petitioner whose documented 
petiti~n and response to the technical assistance 
review letter indicates that there is little or no 
evidence that establishes that the group can meet the 
mandatory criteria in paragraphs (e), (f) or _(g) of 
§ 83.7. 

(1) If chis review finds that the evidence clearly 
establishes that the group does not meet the mandatory 
criteria in paragraphs (e), (f) or (g) of § 83.7, a 
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